

2022

Current applications and future promise of genetic/genomic data for conservation in an Aotearoa New Zealand context

Natalie J. Forsdick, Clare I.M. Adams, Alana Alexander (Ngāpuhi: Te Hikutu), Anna C. Clark, Levi Collier-Robinson (Ngāi Tahu, Ngāti Porou, Te Whānau-ā-Apanui, Ngāti Apa ki te Rā Tō), Ilina Cubrinovska, Max Croll Dowgray, Eddy J. Dowle, Laura Duntsch, Stephanie J. Galla, Lucy Howell, Molly Magid, Aisling Rayne, Alexander J.F. Verry, Jana R. Wold and Tammy E. Steeves



Department of Conservation Te Papa Atawhai



Cover: Kia taiao ora, kia tangata ora. Illustration: Isobel Joy Te Aho-White

Science for Conservation is a scientific monograph series presenting research funded by the Department of Conservation (DOC). Manuscripts are internally and externally peer reviewed; resulting publications are considered part of the formal international scientific literature.

This report is available from the DOC website in PDF form, refer <u>www.doc.govt.nz</u> under *Publications*.

© Copyright August 2022, New Zealand Department of Conservation

ISSN 1177-9241 (web PDF) ISBN 978-1-99-116196-3 (web PDF)

This report was prepared for publication by Te Rōpū Ratonga Auaha, Te Papa Atawhai/Creative Services, Department of Conservation; editing by Lynette Clelland and layout by Holly Slade. Publication was approved by Sharon Alderson, Director – Planning & Support, Department of Conservation, Wellington, New Zealand.

Published by Department of Conservation Te Papa Atawhai, PO Box 10420, Wellington 6143, New Zealand.

In the interest of forest conservation, we support paperless electronic publishing.



This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence. In essence, you are free to copy, distribute and adapt the work, as long as you attribute the work to the Crown and abide by the other licence terms. To view a copy of this licence, visit <u>www.creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>. Please note that no departmental or governmental emblem, logo, or Coat of Arms may be used in any way that infringes any provision of the Flags, Emblems, and Names Protection Act 1981. Use the wording 'Department of Conservation' in your attribution, not the Department of Conservation logo. If you publish, distribute, or otherwise disseminate this work (or any part of it) without adapting it, the following attribution statement should be used:

If you publish, distribute, or otherwise disseminate this work (or any part of it) without adapting it, the following attribution statement should be used: 'Source: Licensed by the Department of Conservation for reuse under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence'.

If you adapt this work in any way, or include it in a collection, and publish, distribute, or otherwise disseminate that adaptation or collection, the following attribution statement should be used: 'This work is based on/includes content that is licensed by the Department of Conservation for reuse under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence'.

CONTENTS

Abstract		1	
Kia	Kia taiao ora, kia tangata ora		
1.	Con	ducting conservation genetic/genomic research in Aotearoa New Zealand	3
	1.1	Introduction	3
	1.2	Considerations for taonga species	4
	1.3	Selecting an appropriate conservation genetics/genomics tool	5
	14	Technical considerations for conservation genetic/genomic research	8
		1.4.1 Best-practice sample collection and storage for genetic/genomic research	8
		1.4.2 Metadata collection and management	9
		1.4.3 Data sovereignty	10
2.	Gen	etic/genomic data types and conservation applications	12
	2.1	Pedigree data	
		2.1.1 Best practice for pedigree establishment and maintenance	13
		2.1.2 Challenges of pedigrees and genetic solutions	13
	2.2	Genetic data	14
		2.2.1 Nuclear genetic data	14
		2.2.2 Mitochondrial data	14
		2.2.3 DNA profiling	15
		2.2.4 Limitations of genetic data	15
	2.3	Reduced-representation genomic data	15
		2.3.1 RAD-seq data	16
		2.3.2 Microarrays	16
		2.3.3 Limitations of reduced-representation approaches	16
	2.4	Whole-genome sequencing	17
		2.4.1 Reference genomes	17
		2.4.2 Population-level resequencing	19
	2.5	2.5 Ancient DNA	
		2.5.1 Challenges and limitations associated with aDNA	20
	2.6	Environmental DNA	
		2.6.1 Conservation applications of environmental DNA	21
		2.6.2 Limitations of environmental DNA	21
	2.7	Transcriptomics	22
		2.7.1 Conservation applications of transcriptomics	22
		2.7.2 Challenges and limitations for conservation transcriptomics	23
	2.8	Microbiomes	24
		2.8.1 Methodological considerations associated with microbiome analysis	25
3.	Futu	re conservation genetic/genomic research tools and directions	26
	3.1 Pangenomes and genome graphs		
	3.2	Chromosomics and structural variants	
	20	Characterising adaptive variation	
	5.5	characterioning adaptive variation	27

6.	References		37
5.	Acknowledgements		36
4.	Glossary		34
	3.8	Improved facilitation of genetics/genomics research to enhance conservation outcomes	33
	3.7	Multi-species genomic pipelines	32
	3.6	Biobanking	31
	3.5	Genome editing	29
	3.4	Hologenomics	29

Current applications and future promise of genetic/genomic data for conservation in an Aotearoa New Zealand context

Natalie J. Forsdick^{1,2}, Clare I.M. Adams³, Alana Alexander³ (Ngāpuhi: Te Hikutu), Anna C. Clark³, Levi Collier-Robinson¹ (Ngāi Tahu, Ngāti Porou, Te Whānauā-Apanui, Ngāti Apa ki te Rā Tō), Ilina Cubrinovska¹, Max Croll Dowgray¹, Eddy J. Dowle³, Laura Duntsch⁴, Stephanie J. Galla^{1,5}, Lucy Howell^{1,6}, Molly Magid¹, Aisling Rayne¹, Alexander J.F. Verry⁷, Jana R. Wold¹ and Tammy E. Steeves¹

- ¹ School of Biological Sciences, University of Canterbury, Private Bag 4800, Christchurch 8140.
- ² Manaaki Whenua Landcare Research, Private Bag 92170 Auckland Mail Centre, Auckland 1142.
- ³ Department of Anatomy, University of Otago, 270 Great King Street, Dunedin, 9016.
- ⁴ School of Biological Sciences, University of Auckland, 3 Symonds Street, Auckland 1010.
- ⁵ Department of Biological Sciences, Boise State University, Idaho, USA, 83706.
- 6 Gateway Antarctica, School of Earth and Environment, University of Canterbury, Private bag 4800, Christchurch 8140.
- ⁷ Department of Zoology, University of Otago, 340 Great King Street, Dunedin 9016.

Corresponding author: Natalie Forsdick, <u>natalieforsdick@gmail.com</u> or <u>forsdickn@landcareresearch.co.nz</u>

Abstract

The field of conservation biology has a long history of incorporating diverse disciplines into its 'toolbox' for improved outcomes. One such discipline is conservation genomics, which has experienced fast-paced growth and development over the last decade and offers exciting opportunities to help achieve the vision outlined in Aotearoa New Zealand's national strategy for biodiversity - Te Mana o te Taiao. However, integrating these emerging methodologies into meaningful conservation practice has proven challenging, mostly due to uncertainty around the utility of these data and effective allocation of limited funding. This report addresses these challenges by outlining potential strategies for utilising genetic/genomics in conservation from the perspective of predominantly early-career conservation researchers working as Te Tiriti o Waitangi partners. It is intended to initiate discussion among conservation practitioners and researchers, mana whenua and local communities. To support practitioners in identifying appropriate and cost-effective genetic/genomic tools, their associated costs and benefits for informing conservation management are presented. Because conservation genetic/genomic data generated for - and associated with - taonga (treasured) species are also taonga, the report emphasises the need for collaborative research partnerships that centre the needs, aspirations and expertise of mana whenua, and highlights key aspects of data management and sovereignty. A transdisciplinary approach to conservation that includes genetics/genomics is recommended.

Keywords: conservation genetics, conservation genomics, molecular markers, Indigenous data sovereignty, threatened species management, New Zealand, genetic diversity, genome sequencing and assembly.

© Copyright August 2022, Department of Conservation. This paper may be cited as: Forsdick, N.J.; Adams, C.I.M.; Alexander, A.; Clark, A.C.; Collier-Anderson, L.; Cubrinovska, I.; Croll Dowgray, M.; Dowle, E.J.; Duntsch, L.; Galla, S.J.; Howell, L.; Magid, M.; Rayne, A.; Verry, A.J.F.; Wold, J.R.; Steeves, T.E.: Current applications and future promise of genetic/genomic data for conservation in an Aotearoa New Zealand context. *Science for Conservation 337.* Department of Conservation, Wellington. 57 p.



Kia taiao ora, kia tangata ora

by Isobel Joy Te Aho-White

Cover illustration details

Kia taiao ora, kia tangata ora by Isobel Joy Te Aho-White combines the principles of science through a Western lens with Mātauranga Māori understandings of whakapapa. The structures of DNA and a phylogenetic tree are treated with traditional Māori design to bring them into a contemporary, multicultural context. Here the DNA is envisaged as pātiki kōwhaiwhai, a pattern seen on the rafters of wharenui, to represent manaakitanga (hospitality), our connection to the environment, and how nourishment of the environment in turn nourishes the people. Behind is an abstracted phylogenetic tree with a weaving pattern treatment based on raukūmara and poutama designs, to represent connections/whakapapa and learning respectively.

About the artist

Isobel Joy Te Aho White (Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairoa, Kāi Tahu, Pākehā ki te Cornwall me te Denmark) is an illustrator based in Wellington, with a Bachelor of Design from Massey University, majoring in Illustration. Much of Isobel's work incorporates Māori design and plant life that is native to Aotearoa New Zealand, and is inspired by her ancestral lineages of healers on both Māori and Pākehā sides.

Conducting conservation genetic/ genomic research in Aotearoa New Zealand

1.1 Introduction

The national strategy for biodiversity, Te Mana o te Taiao (DOC 2020), challenges Aotearoa New Zealand to restore and enhance biodiversity for future generations. Many taonga (treasured) animals and plants are threatened by habitat loss, disease, invasive species, incidental bycatch, direct hunting, and climate change. To achieve the vision of protection, restoration and sustainable use of biodiversity outlined in Te Mana o te Taiao, we must bring together diverse ways of knowing and seeing the world – each of which bring their own unique toolboxes, including the use of genetic/genomic data (Rayne et al. 2020).

Genetic and genomic data provide a lens for exploring the interconnections, histories and future of populations through DNA. Such knowledge is critical to better understand the present state of our biodiversity and to co-develop robust, evidence-based management strategies for threatened species. For example, many populations face challenges associated with inbreeding, loss of genetic diversity and, ultimately, reduced capacity to respond to future change (i.e. **adaptive potential**¹; de Villemereuil et al. 2019). Strategies such as conservation breeding programmes and conservation translocations (i.e. moving plants or animals to promote gene flow and enhance diversity for existing populations or establishing new populations; Seddon 2010) can play an important role in minimising inbreeding, increasing genome-wide diversity and enhancing adaptive potential (Mable 2019).

Recent technological advances and increased capacity and capability in the global genomics community further enable researchers and practitioners to ask new questions and revisit old concepts. For instance, the shift away from using a handful of neutral genetic markers toward whole-genome resequencing allows investigation of **adaptive (/maladaptive) variation** and has reignited interest in the role of **structural variants** (large-scale rearrangements within the genome; e.g. Lamichhaney et al. 2016; Weissensteiner et al. 2020). Similarly, developing research highlights the potential role of gene drives (a genome editing technology that increases the likelihood of an allele with a known beneficial or detrimental effect being inherited) in managing pest species or reintroducing critical genetic variation into threatened species (Dearden et al. 2018; Phelps et al. 2020).

However, the rapid expansion of conservation genetics/genomics puts researchers and practitioners under pressure to keep up to date with an increasingly complex toolbox (Taylor et al. 2017a). Here, **genetic data** refers to the use of a relatively small subset of variable loci assumed to be representative of the diversity present within the **genome** (the entire complement of DNA of an organism or species). **Genomic data** refers to data generated with high-throughput DNA sequencing methods to characterise genome-wide variation across many thousands of loci. Both data types have benefits and challenges associated with development and analysis that make them suited to specific applications. Beyond new tools (e.g. reduced-representation sequencing, whole-genome resequencing, genome editing technologies), the resulting datasets and their potential applications can be numerous and confusing. Further, existing knowledge, capabilities and aspirations vary widely across taxa. For example, while kākāpō (*Strigops habroptilus*) recovery is informed by a dedicated species recovery team and an extensive long-term dataset including a high-quality

¹ See *Glossary* for definitions of technical terms presented in bold font at first mention.

pedigree and world-leading genomic data (<u>www.nzgeo.com/stories/decoding-kakapo/</u>, <u>www.doc.govt.nz/our-work/kakapo-recovery/what-we-do/research-for-the-future/kakapo125-</u> <u>gene-sequencing/</u>; Dussex et al. 2021; Galla et al. 2022; Guhlin et al. unpubl. data), recovery efforts for many other species – particularly invertebrates and fish – are still in the preliminary stages of establishing distribution records and measuring genetic diversity (Nelson et al. 2019).

To navigate genetic/genomic technologies and co-develop conservation management approaches that (i) enhance biodiversity and (ii) empower all individuals and groups involved, scientists and conservation practitioners must prioritise clear communication and genuine partnership (Jarvis et al. 2020). Namely, the framing, co-development and application of genetic/genomic research should be determined by the species' needs, as well as the needs, aspirations and expertise of the individuals and groups involved, especially mana whenua (tribal group(s) with customary rights over a defined area of land or territory, including the air and water; Collier-Robinson et al. 2019). In Aotearoa New Zealand, Te Tiriti o Waitangi (1840) provides such a framework for partnership between Māori and non-Māori. Further, the WAI 262 claim and the subsequent Waitangi Tribunal report (Jones 2012) provide a clear mandate for mana whenua to maintain kaitiakitanga (stewardship) over data or resources arising from taonga species (Waitangi Tribunal 2011).

We are aware that conservation practitioners may have limited opportunities to delve into the capabilities and promise of genetic/genomic tools for conservation, particularly when they may not encounter such tools in day-to-day operations. In this review, we – a cross-institutional team of predominantly early-career researchers using genetic/genomic tools for conservation applications – provide an overview of existing genetic/genomic methodologies and the current and aspirational applications of such data for conservation. Many of these technologies may have been previously considered with regard to Aotearoa New Zealand's bioheritage (Inwood et al. 2020), but here we focus on those aspects of greatest relevance to Te Mana o te Taiao in a conservation management context. We present a table of current attributes for existing genetic/genomic tools to assist conservation practitioners in identifying appropriate tools that can be further discussed with conservation genetic/genomic researchers. We also highlight the importance of data sovereignty and data management considerations, identify future tools and applications for these data, and consider ways in which we can enhance conservation outcomes by better facilitating such research in Aotearoa New Zealand.

1.2 Considerations for taonga species

As conservation genetic/genomic researchers in Aotearoa New Zealand, our research primarily involves species which are taonga to iwi, hapū and whānau. Through whakapapa (genealogy), data associated with these species are taonga in their own right, including data obtained through genetic/genomic methods (Collier-Robinson et al. 2019). Thus, one of the most critical aspects in the application of genetic/genomic data to Aotearoa New Zealand conservation is ensuring that research is undertaken in a manner that upholds Te Tiriti o Waitangi, recognises the rangatiratanga (authority) of mana whenua, the mauri of the species and ecosystems in question, and prioritises Māori research leadership (Harmsworth & Awatere 2013). Trusted research partnerships that centre the needs, aspirations and expertise of mana whenua will enhance the capacity of Māori and non-Māori research partners to restore and enhance biocultural diversity (Rayne et al. 2020; Wehi et al. 2020a). Through iterative engagement, clear data management plans can be co-created that realise Indigenous data sovereignty and ensure benefit-sharing (see 1.4.2 Metadata collection and management). Although this contribution focuses on taonga species, we consider the research and data management practices described here to be broadly applicable across all Aotearoa New Zealand conservation genetic/genomic research.

While there is a growing scholarship that describes the need to engage with mana whenua when seeking to apply genetic/genomic tools to modern samples (Collier-Robinson et al. 2019; Hudson et al. 2020; Rayne et al. 2020) as well as identifying the whakapapa of human remains (e.g. Knapp et al. 2012b), there is relatively limited scholarship in regards to engagement relating to the use of historical samples originating from non-human organisms, whether held in museums or private collections (but see Wehi et al. 2021). In addition, the legal, ethical and social ramifications associated with environmental DNA (eDNA) research in an Aotearoa New Zealand context are rarely discussed in the peer-reviewed literature, despite the potential for unforeseen impacts on Indigenous communities where such data may identify (or fail to identify) links between Indigenous communities and the land (see Handsley-Davis et al. 2021 for details). Further, emerging microbiome studies in conservation consider not just the genome of a focal taxon but also the genomes of its associated microbial communities (see 2.8 Microbiomes), which also contribute to the mauri of species and ecosystems. Researchers should be applying the same process of iterative engagement for genetic/genomic research pertaining to modern samples to the use of historical specimens, fossils, and environmental and microbiome samples, whether the focal taxa are extinct or extant, as such data is taonga (Collier-Robinson et al. 2019; Wehi et al. 2021). It is important to ensure that mana whenua have kaitiakitanga and rangatiratanga over such taonga data outputs, and that benefit-sharing is established, and we expand on related scholarship in 1.4.3 Data sovereignty.

1.3 Selecting an appropriate conservation genetics/genomics tool

As we describe in Chapter 2, the wide array of genetic/genomic methodologies can make choosing the appropriate data type(s) for specific conservation applications a daunting task. Conservation researchers and practitioners must clearly define research questions and conservation goals to facilitate this decision-making. The selected genetics/genomics approach may also be influenced by additional factors including ethical considerations regarding sampling strategies, timeliness of the method to inform management decisions and the potential for future applications of the data to answer other research questions.

In terms of day-to-day management queries such as genetic sexing, existing partnerships with researchers may provide the platform for carrying out this work. For example, University of Canterbury researchers in the Conservation, Systematics and Research Team provide genetic sexing to recovery programmes free of charge when associated with active postgraduate research projects. There are also other opportunities for similar infrequent or intermittent projects on genetic sexing, species identification and wildlife forensics to be carried out by commercial service providers (e.g. EcoGene®), with larger genomic projects involving genomic sequencing for conservation delivered by commercial sequencing providers (e.g. The Elshire Group Ltd., Auckland Genomics, Otago Genomics Facility). In our experience as conservation genetic/genomic researchers, funding for conservation genetic/genomic projects is often obtained from external funding bodies (e.g. research grants on local, national or international scales) in combination with Department of Conservation (DOC) support. In these circumstances, excluding any in-kind contributions, DOC's primary contribution to research projects is not financial, but rather the logistical support and institutional knowledge supplied throughout the development and implementation of a given research project (e.g. assistance with obtaining samples and critical metadata). As such, the financial cost of such research may not be the primary determinant in DOC's decisions to establish a research project. However, a potential future challenge of the current funding system is that external research funding (particularly large national grants) is increasingly driven by the development of novel approaches and may become less accessible for routine conservation genetic applications using standard tools. Obtaining conservation genetic/genomic data should be considered a valuable investment as it represents a long-term resource for ongoing management. Table 1. Attributes associated with the establishment and implementation of various genetic/genomic tools for conservation applications, as summarised in Chapter 2.

research results); financial (including those associated with staff hours, laboratory consumables); and resources required to generate, analyse, and store the data (encompassing technical skill, laboratory facilities For each tool presented, we provide an example research question that could be answered. We then provide current (May 2022) estimates of the various costs associated with using the presented tool to answer the research question. Costs include sampling invasiveness (which may have ethical and permitting impacts); time (from outset of research through to implementing conservation management actions based on (lab type and equipment), analysis software).

As this is a rapidly evolving field, costs are similarly changing, and so we recommend periodic review of this table (e.g. by an advisory group such as that recommended in 3.8 Improved facilitation of genetics/ genomics research to enhance conservation outcomes). Time, costs and resource requirements for data generation, analysis and storage are, in part, dependent on genome size and complexity of the focal organism (with the smallest and lowest complexity genomes (e.g. microbes, some insects, birds) having the lowest requirements compared with those for larger and more complex genomes (e.g. mammals, amphibians, and some plants, insects and fish).

SNPs = single-nucleotide polymorphisms, kB = kilobytes, MB = megabytes, GB = gigabytes, TB = terabytes.

	mple research	Pedigree Which individuals	Genetic markers (e.g. microsatellite panel) Has neutral	Reduced- representation genomic sequencing What impact has	Genome resequencing What is the	TOOL Reference genome What is the	eDNA Is a particular	aDNA How genetically	Transcriptomes How will a	Microbiomes What are the
-	stion	would make good pairings in a captive breeding programme?	genetic diversity been maintained following population establishment at a new site?	inbreeding had on genome-wide diversity of a species?	founder representation within a captive breeding population?	genetic basis of disease susceptibility?*	cryptic species present at particular locations?	diverse was this species prior to human arrival?	species respond to a climate change?	microbial organisms associated with a species of interest?
	Invasiveness of sampling	Observational sampling	Blood or tissue sampling	Blood or tissue sampling	Blood or tissue sampling	Blood or tissue sampling	Environmental sampling	Use of pre- existing samples (e.g. from museum collections) or fossil excavation	Blood or tissue sampling, lethal sampling (whole organism, organ collection, gut content)	Blood or tissue sampling, skin swabs, fecal samples, lethal sampling (whole organism, organ collection, gut content)
	Time from initiation to implementation of management	>3 years	<1 year	1-2 years	1-2 years	1-2 years	1-3 years	1-3 years	1-5 years	1–3 years
	Financial (\$NZ)	<10,000	<5000	<10,000	< 30,000	<50,000**	<20,000	<20,000	<20,000	<20,000
	Laboratory resources for data generation	Low	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	High	High	Moderate	High
	Computational resources for data analysis and storage	Low (on the order of MB)	Low (kB-MB)	Moderate (on the order of GB)	High (GB-TB)	High (GB-TB)	Moderate (on the order of GB)	Moderate (on the order of GB)	High (GB-TB)	Moderate (on the order of GB)

Continued on next page

Hologenomics combines genome and microbiome sequencing, so as such is more expensive, and is in an exploratory phase for conservation applications	Can readily be applied to answer additional research questions	Genetics lab, including reagents and equipment; sequencing provider; high- performance computing system; analysis software; reference data bases; large data storage capacity
Typically used in combination with a reference genome	Potential to identify SNPs from transcriptomic data	RNA clean lab, including reagents and equipment; sequencing provider; high- performance computing system; analysis software; large data storage capacity
aDNA methods are often used in combination with genetic markers or SNPs generated from modern samples for comparison	Provides a temporal aspect to genetic studies	aDNA clean lab, including reagents and equipment; sequencing provider; high- performance computing system; analysis software; large data storage capacity
Cannot be used to confirm species absence	Can readily include additional sampling locations	eDNA clean lab, including reagents and equipment; sequencing provider; high- performance computing system; analysis software; reference data storage data storage capacity
Typically used alongside population-level sequencing data to provide population-level estimates of conservation- relevant metrics	Can readily be applied to answer additional research questions	Genetics lab, including reagents and equipment; sequencing provider; high- performance computing system; analysis software; large data storage capacity
Typically used alongside a reference genome to improve accuracy of estimates	Can readily integrate additional samples downstream, and be applied to answer additional research questions	Genetics lab, including reagents and equipment; sequencing provider; high- performance computing system; analysis software, large data storage data storage capacity
Typically used alongside a reference genome to improve accuracy of estimates	Can readily integrate additional samples downstream	Genetics lab, including reagents and equipment; sequencing provider; high- performance computing system; analysis software; large data storage data storage capacity
Estimates derived from neutral genetic markers may not reflect functional diversity	Can readily integrate additional samples downstream	Genetics lab, including reagents and equipment; analysis software
Pedigree validation may be required using genetic or genomic markers	Can readily integrate additional samples downstream	Method to identify individuals (e.g. individual banding), spreadsheets and/or pedigree management software
Additional considerations	Additional benefits	Specific resources required

We acknowledge that this question cannot be answered with a reference genome alone. However, in a conservation context, reference genomes will always be generated as a resource, and never as the sole tool informing management.

** Costs are highly dependent on the genome size and complexity of the focal species and the desired reference genome quality – lower quality (i.e. 'good enough') genomes may require low-end expenditure, while high quality (i.e. 'platinum') genomes requiring multiple sequencing types may substantially increase costs.

Table 1 continued

7

With rapid technological advancements and broad overlap between many tools, there is no simple decision-making tool to help conservation practitioners select the methodologies that best fit the question at hand. In Table 1 we attempt to bridge this gap by providing estimates of costs, benefits and considerations when implementing the various tools described in Chapter 2. This table can be used as a starting point when considering implementation of genetic or genomic research to support conservation management. As sequencing costs continue to decline and new analytical methodologies are developed, many of the technical challenges associated with these tools will be reduced over time. Further, additional unforeseen benefits may arise. Other considerations for practitioners may include the extent to which routine conservation management may need to be altered to incorporate sample or (meta)data collection, or the potential downstream impacts of results on current management practice. Currently, genetic tools may appear more cost-effective than genomic tools across all measures described here and may still be sufficient to answer the question of interest. However, these efficiencies must be weighed against the known limitations of genetic data, particularly as we move towards assessment of adaptive (or maladaptive) variation (see 3.3 Characterising adaptive variation).

One key technical challenge associated with the shift towards genomic methodologies is the increasing scale of the computational requirements (and consequently, additional financial costs) associated with analysis and storage of large genomic datasets. These requirements vary depending on the scale of the data, with population-level genomic analyses requiring access to high-capacity computational systems that can process and analyse data up to the scale of terabytes. While many institutions may provide local computing infrastructure, national and international services are also available (e.g. the New Zealand eScience Infrastructure <u>www.nesi.org.nz</u>, cloud computing services such as Amazon Web Services <u>aws.amazon.com</u> or, more locally, Catalyst Cloud <u>catalystcloud.nz</u>). Such services may incur additional expenses to projects and require specific data security considerations (see *1.4.3 Data sovereignty*).

1.4 Technical considerations for conservation genetic/genomic research

Clearly defining research questions and selecting appropriate sampling protocols and data management are key components of any research project. Data management plans are essential and should encompass the short- and long-term management (including curation, storage and access) of samples, raw data and associated metadata, and processed data and outputs. Such plans are particularly critical for large and/or long-term projects where many different people will be involved over the lifetime of the project.

1.4.1 Best-practice sample collection and storage for genetic/genomic research

To ensure preservation for genetic/genomic purposes, where possible high-quality samples (e.g. blood, tissue) should be collected once per individual in accordance with local tikanga and stored in a manner appropriate for the intended downstream application (Fig. 1). For example, while storing samples in ethanol for downstream genetics/genomics is common and may be the most practicable method for population genomic research of widespread species, it impedes the use of the samples for **transcriptome** analysis. Collecting samples in ways that ensure usage for a range of potential downstream applications reduces the need for resampling, minimising stress on sampled individuals. These samples will act as a resource for future genetic or genomic applications, particularly those requiring high-molecular-weight DNA (e.g. **long-read sequencing** requires very high-quality DNA; Amarasinghe et al. 2020). Sampling, storage and DNA extraction protocols differ for eDNA and **ancient DNA (aDNA)** research, and relevant protocols should be followed (Hofreiter et al. 2001; Jarman et al. 2018).

In the absence of a centralised national repository, we encourage researchers to follow best practice for collection and curation of samples. Samples should be recorded in laboratory databases to minimise the potential for unnecessary resampling and to ensure sample usage can be tracked. Sample databases should capture individual identification, laboratory identification, type and quantity of raw material, and use of the material for analysis, along with all relevant metadata associated with the samples to provide the necessary context for downstream analyses (including data sovereignty details; see *1.4.2 Metadata collection and management*). We encourage researchers and practitioners to collect other metadata (e.g. phenotypic data, ecological data) simultaneously with sampling where possible, providing broader downstream data applications.



Figure 1. Sampling and storage requirements for various genetic/genomic tools currently in use. These should be considered the minimum requirements and are best considered in a broader context that includes an assessment of current and future use, as well as feasibility and cost. Note: aDNA = ancient DNA, eDNA = environmental DNA, RRS = reduced-representation sequencing, 3C = 3C sequencing technologies.

1.4.2 Metadata collection and management

Metadata refers to 'data about the data'. For example, metadata associated with blood samples taken from individual birds may include information such as collection date, GPS location, species, individual identifiers (e.g. band/tag numbers), photographs of individuals and/or sampling locations, age/class, sex, pedigree (parents, siblings, offspring). Metadata associated with raw (unprocessed) genomic sequence data could include (but is not limited to) the genomic library preparation details, sequencing provider and platform, date of sequencing, individual or project barcode sequences, individual or location identifiers (where appropriate), and sequence quality scores. Metadata facilitates research reproducibility and data re-use (Duntsch et al. 2021; Toczydlowski et al. 2021). For processed data this may include details of analysis tools and software version numbers, reference genomes used for sequence alignment, or details of databases from which additional data was collected, or output data deposited.

Metadata may also encompass records of consultation with mana whenua, ethics approvals and sampling permit numbers, lists of collaborators and contributors, sources of funding and publication outputs (e.g. student theses, journal articles, DOC internal reports). We recommend that relevant metadata are captured and stored alongside raw and processed data to ensure correct interpretation of the data (e.g. at minimum in README files alongside any reference genomes, spreadsheets capturing pedigree, phenotype or monitoring data, or captured in purpose-built databases such as that of the Genomic Observatories Metadatabase (GEOME); Riginos et al. 2020). An example of metadatabasing in Aotearoa New Zealand is that of the Ira Moana Project (<u>sites.massey.ac.nz/iramoana/</u>), aiming to aggregate metadata associated with primarily marine genetic/genomic studies based on international metadatabasing standards (Riginos et al. 2020).

1.4.3 Data sovereignty

There is extensive scholarship regarding data sovereignty pertaining to human genetic/genomic data and growing scholarship pertaining to culturally significant species (e.g. Claw et al. 2018; Collier-Robinson et al. 2019; Caron et al. 2020; Hudson et al. 2020; Koia & Shepherd 2020; Potenski 2020; Walter et al. 2020; Handsley-Davis et al. 2021; McCartney et al. 2022; Rayne et al. 2022). In addition, multiple initiatives have been established to operationalise these concepts, such as the CARE principles for Indigenous data governance to complement the FAIR principles for data management (Wilkinson et al. 2016; Carroll et al. 2020, 2021); Te Nohonga Kaitiaki (www.genomics-aotearoa.org.nz/projects/te-nohonga-kaitiaki; Hudson et al. 2021), Tikanga Tawhito: Tikanga Hou Kaitiaki Guidelines (https://www.taiuru. maori.nz/quidelines-for-dna-research-storage-and-seed-banks-with-taonga-materials/; Taiuru 2022); Biocultural Labels and Notices (localcontexts.org/labels/biocultural-labels/; Anderson & Hudson 2020; Liggins et al. 2021). For brevity, we do not reproduce existing scholarship here, but we urge researchers and practitioners to explore the resources referenced above and to centre mana whenua needs, aspirations and expertise in all aspects of research and practice. Below, we draw attention to four important, although not exhaustive, points for researchers and practitioners to consider:

- To date, there have been disparities in the levels of protection given to different genetic/genomic data types, where genomic data are generally given greater protections than genetic data. However, engaging with scholarship such as Handsley-Davis et al. (2021) will better enable researchers and practitioners to communicate the risks and benefits associated with these data to mana whenua.
- ii. Discussion of project-specific considerations regarding data security and accessibility during analysis and long-term storage should be initiated at the outset of the project (Box 1). Many researchers will have access to centralised repositories maintained by their institutes (e.g. crown research institutes (CRIs) and universities), where data can be securely held on behalf of mana whenua, as existing international genetic/genomic databases may not yet be capable of meeting data sovereignty requirements. Existing data repositories can adapt to meet these needs through the inclusion of Biocultural Labels and Notices to indicate data provenance, associated ethics, permits, and expectations around appropriate use and to connect data back to Indigenous communities (Anderson & Hudson 2020; Liggins et al. 2021). Indigenous needs may conflict with the current global emphasis on open-access data availability to facilitate reproducibility of research, but these positions are not diametrically opposite (as discussed at length in international scholarship including Carroll et al. 2020, 2021; McCartney et al. 2022).
- iii. Where mana whenua hold sovereignty over data, these data are not inaccessible for re-use. Instead, the onus is on researchers to engage with mana whenua to request access, providing transparency in the intended use, applications and potential downstream impacts of these data.
- iv. Similarly, international research journals must adapt to be responsive to Indigenous views and values. There has been concern among researchers around the ability to publish research when data sovereignty agreements may require restricted data access; however, international journals are beginning to respond to these needs (Potenski 2020; Liggins et al. 2021). Indeed, genomic research relating to Aotearoa New Zealand taonga has been successfully published with data hosted on behalf of mana whenua on password-protected local repositories (e.g. Galla et al. 2019, 2020; Rayne et al. 2022) and on the Aotearoa Genomic Data Repository (https://data.agdr.org.nz/; e.g. Oliphant et al. 2020; Miller et al. 2022). Until clear frameworks for data sovereignty are better

established, researchers and practitioners must continue to navigate open-access culture – particularly for methods such as eDNA which rely upon accessible databases – in ways that uphold the responsibilities mandated in Te Tiriti o Waitangi (Box 1).

v. As researchers, practitioners and mana whenua continue to grow trusted relationships – in part, through meaningful engagement around data access and storage – we foresee opportunities to co-create more impactful research, including through local knowledge and benefit-sharing (e.g. Polfus et al. 2016; Bowles et al. 2020; Gros-Balthazard et al. 2020; Henson et al. 2021; Rayne et al. 2022). Shared benefits may include opportunities to protect or enhance taonga, to grow tribal capacity – whether in Western science or through the growth of tribal knowledge, practices or processes – and/or to realise other diverse aspirations. We are encouraged by recent efforts to increase researcher accountability around benefit-sharing, e.g. through the introduction of mandatory benefit-sharing statements in some international journals.

Box 1. Key questions to consider during iterative engagement with mana whenua when developing conservation genetic/genomic research projects.

Key questions to consider when engaging with mana whenua to develop conservation genetic/genomic research projects

Engagement

Which iwi/hapū/whānau should researchers engage with? What opportunities will there be for benefit sharing? What information and koha (contributions) are required to support cultural expertise of mana whenua for any research to be considered?

Scientists should not presume that all iwi/hapū/whānau will have the same knowledge, priorities and concerns, and careful engagement with all relevant parties will be key to reducing inequities relating to data management.

Data generation

What will the sampling strategy involve (e.g. sample type, number of individuals, locations)? Where will samples be processed? What method of data generation will be used (e.g. microsatellites, whole genome resequencing)? Where will data be generated (e.g. local/overseas sequencing)? Where will the data be analysed (e.g. by local/international researchers on local/overseas computing platforms)?

Data security

Where will the data be stored – including samples, raw and processed data and analysis outputs – before and after publication? How will genetic/genomic data be accessed by external researchers, before and after publication (e.g. on local servers, national/ international repositories)? How will associated metadata be managed? Is there a need for metadata anonymisation (e.g. to limit sample identification and protect sample locations and individual privacy) and how will this be implemented? If individuals, whānau, hapū or iwi contribute mātauranga, how will this be explicitly recognised and protected?

To ensure preservation and protection of data associated with taonga species, a clear data management plan needs to be developed and implemented before initiation of research. It must be responsive to the needs, aspirations and expertise of mana whenua.

2. Genetic/genomic data types and conservation applications

In this chapter we describe the genetic/genomic tools (presented in loose chronological order of development) currently used to inform conservation management and highlight opportunities and challenges for each of these tools. Each section is intended to be a standalone description that can be referred to on an as-needed basis by conservation researchers and practitioners to support decision-making (along with Table 1). As this is a dynamic field, we recommend periodic review of these tools, their applications and limitations, along with those included in 3.5 Future conservation genetic/genomic research tools and directions.

2.1 Pedigree data

Pedigrees - family trees showing genealogical relationships between individuals - are a long-standing tool used in biological sciences (Wright 1922). While pedigrees are not a molecular tool as such, we classify them as a genetic tool as they are used to monitor and understand relationships and variation between individuals. Over the past 40 years, pedigrees have become a staple of conservation management, allowing practitioners to manage the genetics of small populations by strategically pairing or translocating individuals to minimise inbreeding and maximise adaptive potential (Ballou & Lacy 1995; Ivy & Lacy 2012; Galla et al. 2022). Using genealogical relationships, pedigrees can be used to produce estimates of kinship (i.e. relatedness) and individual inbreeding. Conservation breeding programmes currently prioritise pairing individuals with low mean kinship (i.e. relatedness between an individual and all others in a population). This paradigm can minimise genetic drift by maintaining the representation of the individuals that started the population (i.e. founders) to minimise loss of genetic diversity, inbreeding and adaptation to captivity (Frankham 2008; Lacy 2009). There are decades of empirical research and simulation studies that support this management approach to maximise neutral variation (e.g. Ballou & Lacy 1995; Rudnick & Lacy 2008); however, no standardised approaches to date have incorporated adaptive variation, which has only recently been able to be quantified (see 3.1 Characterising adaptive variation). Further, selection for/against individuals with adaptive/maladaptive traits (e.g. low hatching success or low immunocompetence) may inadvertently reduce the ability of populations to have sufficient evolutionary potential to adapt to future selection pressures.

Pedigrees represent an accessible tool for conservation management, as collecting and analysing pedigree data can be readily incorporated into routine management practices for most captive populations. Researchers in the zoo and aquaria communities have developed tools for studbook management (SPARKS, PopLink and ZIMS; Ballou et al. 2010; Faust et al. 2019, www.species360.org) and pedigree analysis (PMx; Lacy et al. 2012), which has increased the uptake of this approach. While these management approaches have often been applied to captive or *ex situ* populations, their use is increasing for wild or semi-wild populations (Pemberton 2008). A reliable pedigree is an asset for creating pairing or translocation recommendations but can also be used to evaluate heritability of specific traits (Randolph et al. 1981), understand the fitness and contributions of individuals to a population over time (Hunter et al. 2019) and model population growth and viability (Lacy 2000).

2.1.1 Best practice for pedigree establishment and maintenance

There are four key practices when establishing an effective pedigree management system:

- using a robust system to identify individuals to ensure correct assignment of relationships (Allen et al. 2019)
- collecting genetic data from founding individuals to evaluate relatedness (Bergner et al. 2014; Hogg et al. 2019)
- using monitoring technologies (e.g. cameras, RFID tags; Bonter & Bridge 2011) to ensure accurate breeding records, particularly when working with wild populations
- collecting tissue or blood samples from all individuals for downstream genetic analyses in the case of any uncertainties or known errors (Ryder & Feistner 1995; Frasier et al. 2009). This can also facilitate downstream pedigree evaluation to assist with error detection and correction.

2.1.2 Challenges of pedigrees and genetic solutions

While pedigrees are an intuitive tool with diverse applications in conservation, they also have limitations (Fig. 2). First, pedigrees are unlikely to be developed for species other than those that are most threatened and/or geographically restricted, where individual identification and monitoring over multiple generations is both necessary and feasible. For most pedigrees, founding individuals are assumed to be unrelated, as their relationships are typically unknown. However, for threatened species that have experienced severe population bottlenecks, it is unlikely that the founders are completely unrelated (Bergner et al. 2014; Hogg et al. 2019). This 'founder effect' is exacerbated when pedigrees are shallow (< 5 generations recorded; Balloux et al. 2004; Pemberton 2004; Rudnick & Lacy 2008). In addition to the assumption regarding founder relatedness, pedigrees often struggle with missing data. This is particularly challenging for wild populations, where there may be difficulties in correctly identifying putative parents and offspring.

Estimates generated from pedigrees are only as accurate as the pedigree itself, so accurate individual identification and knowledge of the breeding system of the focal species are essential for creating a robust pedigree. Incorrect identification of relationships between individuals resulting from extra-pair paternity (Ewen et al. 1999; Castro et al. 2004; Forsdick et al. 2021a) or nest parasitism (Overbeek et al. 2017) may impact conclusions drawn from pedigrees in the absence of molecular genetic data (Reid et al. 2014). Such missing or erroneous data can be verified and corrected using genetic or genomic markers (Overbeek et al. 2020).

Where long-term intensive population monitoring is not feasible, post-hoc pedigrees can be generated from genetic or genomic data (Flanagan & Jones 2019). Further, relatedness estimates derived from pedigrees are probability-based and may not capture the exact extent of shared genomic variation (Bérénos et al. 2014; but see also Nietlisbach et al. 2017). Pedigree data used in conjunction with genomic data may provide the most precise estimates of relatedness to support conservation breeding programmes (e.g. genomic data can be used to estimate relatedness among founders; Hogg et al. 2018; Galla et al. 2020; Wright et al. 2021).



Figure 2. Visualisation of various challenges identified within the kakī (black stilt, *Himantopus novaezelandiae*) pedigree, including (A) missing data, (B) interspecific hybridisation with poaka (Australian pied stilts, *H. h. leucocephalus*), (C) extrapair paternity, (D) individual identification or data transcription errors, and (E) nest parasitism by poaka. *Credit: SJG.*

2.2 Genetic data

2.2.1 Nuclear genetic data

Genetic data typically comprise a small number of short regions of the genome, assumed to be representative of the neutral variation of the whole genome. Common nuclear genetic markers include allozymes, AFLPs or RFLPs (amplified/restriction fragment length polymorphisms) and microsatellites. Such markers are usually derived from repetitive regions of DNA that can be highly variable between individuals, making them ideal for investigating diversity and differentiation within and between species (Forsdick et al. 2017), parentage (Castro et al. 2004; Taylor et al. 2008; Overbeek et al. 2017), relatedness (Carroll et al. 2012) and interspecific hybridisation (Steeves et al. 2010; Cubrinovska et al. 2016), and in assessing the outcomes of conservation management actions (e.g. translocation outcomes; Heber et al. 2013). Genetic data also support wildlife forensics, tracking the illegal trade of wildlife and identifying the use of protected species in commercial products (Baker et al. 1996; Gentile et al. 2013; Ferreira et al. 2015) and disease screening (e.g. beak and feather disease; Sarker et al. 2014).

Genetic data can also be used to assess gene regions that may be under selection, such as those associated with immune function and mate choice (Miller & Lambert 2004; Kamiya et al. 2014; Grueber et al. 2015; Lillie et al. 2015; Sutton et al. 2015). Putatively adaptive loci (sites in the genome associated with genes) can be targeted and characterised through comparative genomics and species-specific primers (Alcaide & Edwards 2011; Grueber et al. 2015). These data can help both with the management of detrimental alleles (Hedrick 2001) and with the maintenance of adaptive variation at specific loci within a population (Amos & Balmford 2001; Kohn et al. 2006).

2.2.2 Mitochondrial data

Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) differs from nuclear data in that it represents a short (15,000-20,000 base pairs (bp)), circular sequence of DNA specific to the mitochondria (known as the mitogenome) that is maternally inherited in vertebrates and found as 10s-1000s of copies in each cell (O'Hara et al. 2019). These properties make mtDNA useful independently or in combination with nuclear genetic markers for broad-scale comparisons of populationlevel diversity and differentiation (Chapple et al. 2012; Alexander et al. 2016; Mischler et al. 2018), taxonomic delimitation and phylogenetic inferences (Boon et al. 2000; Banker et al. 2017; Rosenbaum et al. 2017), and for investigating potential drivers of extinction, including in ancient DNA analysis (Allentoft et al. 2014; see *2.5 Ancient DNA*). Taxonomic delimitation is of particular importance for prioritisation of conservation efforts, and complete or partial mtDNA data may be sufficient for such assessments when combined with nuclear genetic/genomic, morphological and behavioural data (but see Rubinoff & Holland 2005; Dincă et al. 2019; Pedraza-Marrón et al. 2019).

2.2.3 DNA profiling

DNA profiles consisting of genotypes constructed from multiple nuclear markers, sex-linked markers (those occurring on sex chromosomes that can be used to infer individual sex), and/or mtDNA markers (to confirm patterns of maternal relatedness) can also be used for genetic monitoring of species, including population demographic and genetic diversity estimates using repeated temporal samples (Carroll et al. 2018). Based on these samples, 'recaptures' of DNA profiles of individuals can be used with mark-recapture models to estimate population abundances (Taberlet et al. 1999). These approaches can also be combined with parentage analysis in a gametic-mark-recapture framework, where genotypes of individuals can be 'recaptured' in offspring to estimate both abundance and population connectivity (Garrigue et al. 2004; Carroll et al. 2012). These approaches are particularly useful for estimating the abundance of rare or cryptic species (i.e. from feathers, fur or faeces; Bañuelos et al. 2019) and for species where photo-identification has limited applicability due to a low instance of natural markings and/or where tagging/banding is not possible (e.g. some cetacean species such as Hector's and Māui dolphins; Baker et al. 2013; Hamner et al. 2014a, b, 2017). Individual-based DNA profiles can additionally be used to identify rare immigration/emigration events (Hamner et al. 2014a) and for monitoring genetic erosion (Leroy et al. 2018).

2.2.4 Limitations of genetic data

Neutral genetic markers may be a poor proxy for adaptive variation (Marsden et al. 2013; Grueber et al. 2015), especially for highly variable genes like those of the major histocompatibility complex associated with immune function (Sommer 2005). The relatively small numbers of markers used (e.g. as for microsatellites) may lack the resolution required for accurate estimation of relatedness and inbreeding in genetically-depauperate species (Taylor 2015). With rapid technological advances in genome sequencing in the past decade, genome-wide analyses are now possible that in many cases can provide improved resolution and accuracy compared with genetic approaches (Supple & Shapiro 2018; Galla et al. 2020).

Specific limitations associated with mtDNA arise from its nature as a single non-recombining, maternally inherited genetic locus, meaning that it cannot be used to detect male-mediated gene flow and may be impacted by incomplete lineage sorting resulting from rapid diversification events (Paijmans et al. 2013). Furthermore, even the use of complete mitogenomes lacks the power and resolution of multiple unlinked nuclear loci (e.g. microsatellites, **single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs)**; Teske et al. 2018). Thus, mtDNA is best applied in tandem with nuclear genetic or genomic data to inform species-specific conservation management.

2.3 Reduced-representation genomic data

Reduced-representation sequencing (RRS) involves sequencing a subset of the genome to identify a set of genomic variants (e.g. SNPs) across all sequenced individuals. The two primary approaches are **restriction site associated DNA sequencing (RAD-seq)** and **microarrays**, although there are other approaches such as Genotyping-in-Thousands by sequencing (GT-seq; Campbell et al. 2015b; Schmidt et al. 2020). These approaches have similar conservation applications as genetic markers but by identifying thousands or millions of variable sites provide much greater power and resolution in analyses, increasing confidence in the accuracy of estimates (Lemopoulos et al. 2019).

2.3.1 RAD-seq data

RAD-seq encompasses a range of approaches (including Genotyping By Sequencing (GBS), reduced-representation libraries (RRL) and double-digest RAD-seq (ddRAD-seq)) that use restriction enzymes to target subsets of genome-wide loci (Andrews et al. 2016). RAD-seq in conjunction with a reference genome can provide robust estimates of genetic diversity and population structure while requiring relatively inexpensive sequencing and low computational resources. As a result, RAD-seq represents a cost-effective entry-point for conservation genomics where resources (both genomic and economic) may be limited (Andrews et al. 2016). This approach has particular advantages for species with large (>3 Gb) or complex genomes, or where existing knowledge and/or resources are limited.

RAD-seq approaches have been used to estimate genetic diversity (Zhang et al. 2019), population demographics (Kleinman-Ruiz et al. 2017; Marandel et al. 2020), parentage assignment and relatedness estimation (Thrasher et al. 2018), interspecific hybridisation (Colston-Nepali et al. 2019; Forsdick et al. 2021b; Attard et al. 2022) and population structure and gene flow (Dierickx et al. 2015; Lavretsky et al. 2019; Rexer-Huber et al. 2019; Rick et al. 2019). Bioinformatic advances are enabling new and creative ways to leverage RRS to address a range of conservation questions (Dorant et al. 2020).

2.3.2 Microarrays

Microarrays are used to simultaneously genotype thousands of SNPs within and among populations at relatively low cost per individual. **SNP-chips** are one such microarray and are known for their low genotyping error rates and low rates of missing data. Development of a SNP-chip first requires identifying genome-wide variation. Most commonly, a reference genome is generated, against which resequencing data from 10–20 individuals is aligned for SNP detection (see *2.4 Whole-genome sequencing*). A subset of SNPs is then selected for inclusion on the SNP-chip. SNP-chips usually only represent a small fraction of the genome (e.g. a SNP-chip comprising 50,000 SNPs from a bird with a 1.1 Gb genome represents < 0.01% of the genome). Microarrays typically require hundreds of samples for inclusion in each sequencing batch to be cost effective and so may not be the most feasible method for genotyping individuals from threatened species. Microarrays have been employed to investigate genotype-phenotype associations, trait heritability, population demographics and signatures of inbreeding in livestock and wild populations (Angeloni et al. 2012; Toro et al. 2014; Duntsch et al. 2020; Latch 2020).

2.3.3 Limitations of reduced-representation approaches

It is important to consider that RAD-seq and microarrays remain reduced-representation approaches, whereby only a small fraction of the diversity of a species' genome can be explored. As such, RRS approaches will be superseded by genomic resequencing (see 2.4.2 *Population-level resequencing*) for species with relatively small genomes (< 3 Gb) as sequencing costs continue to decline. RRS provides limited utility for characterising adaptive variation and limited ability to detect other important types of diversity such as structural variants. While RAD-seq approaches are relatively cost-effective, initial high development costs and large minimum sample sizes (hundreds or even thousands of individuals) required for microarrays limit their use for conservation in the absence of large-scale consortia involvement (where 10s-100s of researchers work towards a common goal, and substantial funding can be sourced) or long-term commitments to continued research, with more feasible applications for human health and commercially significant species (e.g. sheep, Kijas et al. 2014; cattle, Harris & Johnson 2010). Additional challenges arise from ascertainment bias with microarrays (McTavish & Hillis 2015), or batch effects with RAD-seq approaches, whereby data generated from one sequencing batch may produce data of vastly different quality than that from another (Leigh et al. 2018).

2.4 Whole-genome sequencing

2.4.1 Reference genomes

Despite rapid developments in DNA sequencing technologies, it is not yet possible to sequence the entire complement of DNA of an organism in one piece. Thus, genomes must be assembled from many shorter sequences (analogous to puzzle pieces). Sequencing developments to date have increased the scale of sequencing to not only span more of the genome (sequence **coverage**), but also to do so many times (sequence **depth**; Fig. 3). Increased sequence depth increases the number of sequences produced that overlap with one another, allowing more accurate assembly of sequences into genomes. These high-quality assembled genomes can be used as reference genomes to guide alignments of population-level reduced-representation or resequencing data (see *2.4.2 Population-level resequencing*) for intraspecific comparisons of diversity and differentiation, or for direct interspecific comparisons.



Figure 3. Visualisation of genome sequencing and assembly concepts using the analogy of a genome as a puzzle made of many puzzle pieces. For example, the size of the kēkēwai/freshwater crayfish (*Paranephrops zealandicus*) genome is 2.71 billion (2.71 Gb) base pairs, or puzzle pieces. To be confident about the arrangement of puzzle pieces, each is sequenced many times to create overlapping sequences (sequencing depth; here ranging from 3–5×, but typically approx. 40× for short-read sequencing for the purpose of genome assembly) from which sequencing and/or assembly errors can be identified and corrected. Coverage is the proportion of the genome that is sequenced. *Credit: AR.*

Initial conservation genomics research in Aotearoa New Zealand has been heavily biased towards birds. Reference genomes have been used to inform conservation management actions including breeding recommendations for kakī (black stilt, *Himantopus novaezelandiae*) and kākāriki karaka (orange-fronted parakeets, *Cyanoramphus malherbi*; Galla et al. 2020), assessment of adaptive potential in hihi (*Notiomystis cincta*; de Villemereuil et al. 2019) and research currently in progress aims to characterise the underlying basis of inbreeding depression and improve breeding outcomes for kākāpō (Guhlin et al. unpubl. data). Reference genomes are available for similar applications in other endemic species including kea (*Nestor notabilis*), North Island kōkako (*Callaeas wilsoni*), mohua (yellowhead, *Mohoua ochrocephala*), titipounamu (rifleman, *Acanthisitta chloris*; Zhang et al. 2014; Feng et al. 2020), kākā (*N. meridionalis*; Martini et al. 2021), kiwi (*Apteryx* spp.; Le Duc et al. 2015; Feng et al. 2020), takahē (*Porphyrio hochstetteri*; Cheng et al. 2022), and tuatara (*Sphenodon punctatus*; Gemmell et al. 2020), and are coming online for kōwaro (Canterbury mudfish, *Neochanna burrowsius*), kēkēwai (freshwater crayfish, *Paranephrops zealandicus*) and wētāpunga (giant wētā, *Deinacrida heteracantha*), among others.

A reference genome acts as the foundation for population-level genomic analysis, and so the quality of a reference genome dictates its utility for downstream analyses. However, with the wide range of sequencing platforms, read lengths and computational pipelines for genome assembly, it is important to be aware that not all reference genomes are created equally. Substantial effort is required to produce high-quality reference genomes that can be used to address a wide breadth of conservation challenges. A fundamental requirement for sequencing and assembling high-quality genomes is a high-quality sample, obtained through best-practice sample collection and storage (see *1.4.1 Best-practice sample collection and storage for genetic/genomic research*). Other requirements include a high level of technical knowledge and access to high-performance computational resources, particularly when working with large genomes (>3 Gb).

Although sequencing costs are decreasing, these combined costs remain high and, as a result, there will usually only be one high-quality reference genome produced per species. The increasing number of reference genomes available has been supported by the efforts of large consortia that aim to assemble genomes across a wide range of taxa and/or geographic locations (e.g. the Vertebrate Genomes Project, Genome 10K Community of Scientists 2009; Koepfli et al. 2015; Bat 1K, Teeling et al. 2018; the Earth BioGenome Project, Lewin et al. 2018; the Cetacean Genomes Project, Morin et al. 2020).

The majority of genomic data in Aotearoa New Zealand to date have been generated with **short-read sequencing** approaches, producing millions of DNA sequences ('reads') typically < 500 bp in length. High sequence depth (>40-fold) is required to produce accurate genome assemblies from short-read data alone, but high-complexity repetitive genomic regions may remain challenging to accurately assemble even with high depth short-read sequencing.

With improving technologies and decreasing costs, long-read sequencing technologies are becoming more accessible. Long-read sequencing can produce reads tens of thousands of base pairs long and is considered essential for assembly of large or complex genomes, such as for those species with polyploid or highly repetitive genomes (Scott et al. 2020). Compared to short-read sequencing alone, long reads act as a foundation to dramatically improve the ability to assemble high-quality genomes and ensure a greater proportion of the genome can be assembled more accurately (Fig. 4; Morin et al. 2020). To further improve assembly accuracy, existing short-read data may be leveraged to 'polish' a long-read genome assembly. Although highly beneficial for a range of applications, relatively high costs and limited availability of such long-read sequencing platforms in Aotearoa New Zealand, along with technical challenges associated with the extraction of high-molecular-weight DNA, may limit their use in the near future.



Short-read sequencing



Long-read sequencing



Figure 4. Visualisation of the difference between short- and long-read sequencing, using the 2.71 Gb kēkēwai (freshwater crayfish; *Paranephrops zealandicus*) genome as an example. When using short-read sequencing, large numbers of reads (analogous to small puzzle pieces) are required to cover the kēkēwai genome. Such short-read genomes typically have many gaps (regions of unknown sequence), particularly due to sequencing challenges associated with repetitive DNA regions. In comparison, long-read sequencing (represented by large puzzle pieces) requires fewer reads to cover the same genome, and these reads are better able to span repetitive regions, resulting in fewer gaps. Long-reads also facilitate improved scaffolding of genomes, where short-reads can be used to correct misassemblies and fill gaps (represented by the small puzzle pieces overlaid in the image for long-read sequencing. *Credit: AR.*

Once considered unattainable for species of conservation concern, gold- or platinum-quality genome assemblies (i.e. ultra-high-quality genome assemblies, such as that for the kākāpō reference genome from the individual known as Jane) that represent complete or nearcomplete chromosomes are becoming more common. Such high-quality genome assemblies require not only short-read sequencing technologies but also long-read sequencing and more recent sequencing developments such as the ability to capture the spatial structure of DNA within the nucleus (known as **3C sequencing**, encompassing Hi-C and relatives, Belton et al. 2012; Ulahannan et al. 2019, preprint), and optical mapping (an image-based approach to sequencing to produce site-genomic distance data; Lam et al. 2012; Teo et al. 2015). These emerging technologies provide additional context on the landscape of genes and regulatory elements within chromosomes, and enhance genome assembly quality and completeness (Lieberman-Aiden et al. 2009; Ghurye et al. 2019; Yuan et al. 2020). Stand-alone reference genomes can also be accompanied by a reference transcriptome, identifying the complement of genes encoded in the genome that characterise the phenotype of an organism, and that enable assessment of responses to environmental change or disease (see 2.7 Transcriptomics).

2.4.2 Population-level resequencing

Generating data to the level of resolution required for a reference genome at population-level scale remains prohibitively expensive. Resequencing data in combination with a reference genome can provide an affordable means to investigate diversity at the population level. In contrast with a reference genome where sequence data may be sourced from multiple platforms, resequencing data consists of short-read sequencing data of individuals at low-moderate coverage (< 30-fold). These short reads act like puzzle pieces that can then be aligned against the complete picture that is the reference genome. Sequences can then be compared against the reference and between individuals to identify genomic variants (e.g. SNPs) throughout the genome, allowing conservation-relevant metrics to be estimated with much greater accuracy than is possible using fewer genetic markers (Galla et al. 2020), including comparisons of genomic diversity and relatedness (Galla et al. 2020), population differentiation and structuring (Lado et al. 2020) and introgression resulting from interspecific hybridisation (Leroy et al. 2020), all of which can inform conservation management including translocations and conservation breeding programmes.

Additional applications of resequencing genomes include the ability to investigate **adaptive variation** (Brandies et al. 2019; see *3.3 Characterising adaptive variation*). This has broad and significant implications for understanding the genomic basis of traits important for management, such as those associated with adaptation (to the environment and/or captivity) and reproductive fitness (Angeloni et al. 2012; Hoelzel et al. 2019). To this end, leveraging genomic resequencing data beyond assessments of patterns of genetic diversity requires the use of data other than SNPs (see *3.5 Future conservation genetic/genomic research tools and directions*).

2.5 Ancient DNA

Ancient DNA (i.e. DNA isolated from old biological material, aDNA; Leonard 2008) provides a window into the past via the retrieval of DNA from sources including museum specimens, subfossils, sediment cores and coprolites. Ancient DNA can provide a useful tool for conservation managers as knowledge of past genetic diversity, geographic range expansions/ contractions and the factors that lead to population declines or extinctions is important for informing management decisions (Leonard 2008; Grealy et al. 2017). Much of Aotearoa New Zealand's endemic biota has been driven to extinction or reduced to relictual distributions following human arrival, and so aDNA provides a means to examine the genetic composition of such species prior to anthropogenic impacts. Examples of the use of aDNA to inform the conservation and management of endemic Aotearoa New Zealand species includes quantifying temporal declines in genetic diversity (Grueber & Jamieson 2008; Tracy & Jamieson 2011; Dussex et al. 2015; Bergner et al. 2016), determining the origin of contemporary genetic structure (Tracy & Jamieson 2011), clarifying past distribution of species and populations/genetic lineages (Shepherd & Lambert 2008; Wilmshurst et al. 2014; Verry et al. 2019; Scarsbrook et al. 2021), and characterising unsustainable harvesting rates that have driven species towards extinction (Rawlence et al. 2016).

2.5.1 Challenges and limitations associated with aDNA

The degraded nature of aDNA requires the use of dedicated clean laboratory spaces and specialised laboratory and bioinformatic techniques (Knapp et al. 2012b). Care must be taken when generating and analysing aDNA as DNA degradation and/or modern DNA contamination can bias results and lead to erroneous conclusions. Furthermore, aDNA studies are often limited by small sample sizes, with available samples in museum collections/subfossil deposits unlikely to be representative of past populations. While much aDNA work to date has relied on mitogenome data due to the small mitogenome size and high copy-number making it relatively easy to characterise, decreasing sequencing costs mean it is becoming more feasible to generate nuclear genomic data from degraded samples. Primarily applicable to very well-preserved sources of aDNA (e.g. museum skins), sequencing of complete ancient nuclear genomes enables the direct comparison of past and present genetic diversity within populations of threatened species. This could be directly applied to some of Aotearoa New Zealand's most threatened species (e.g. takahē and kākāpō), with well-preserved specimens collected from the 1800s onward present in museum collections (Grueber & Jamieson 2008; Dussex et al. 2018).

2.6 Environmental DNA

Environmental DNA (eDNA) has recently gained conservation interest due to its ability to detect rare, cryptic and invasive taxa on broad scales via non-invasive environmental sampling from water, soil and air (Taberlet et al. 2012, 2018). Methodologies can be species-specific (targeted eDNA) or have broad multi-species applications (eDNA metabarcoding), with sensitivity often equal to or greater than traditional species detection and monitoring methods using netting, electrofishing or underwater videos (Lodge et al. 2012; Lacoursière-Roussel et al. 2016; Olds et al. 2016; Evans et al. 2017; Stat et al. 2019; Goutte et al. 2020). Non-invasive sampling minimises disturbance and physical harm, which could be critical in studies of threatened species such as hoiho (yellow-eyed penguin, *Megadyptes antipodes*; Ellenberg et al. 2007, 2013; Young et al. 2020).

While eDNA methodologies can be as or more cost effective than traditional sampling and monitoring (Shaw et al. 2016; Evans et al. 2017; Lugg et al. 2018), patterns of eDNA dispersal in the environment must be understood in order to characterise the presence of taxa (Jane et al. 2015; Barnes & Turner 2016). Studies of eDNA dispersal through marine water have shown that macrofaunal signals do not travel far (<1km) and may remain stratified within water layers, particularly within marine environments and other large, slow-moving bodies of water (Eichmiller et al. 2014; Jeunen et al. 2020). Thus, eDNA can be applied to detect species presence or composition in specific sites within water bodies. In comparison, lotic bodies of water such as rivers may carry eDNA far downstream (>10 km), influencing species detection far from the source (Deiner & Altermatt 2014; Carraro et al. 2018). Increasingly, air eDNA methods are being explored (Clare et al. 2021; Clare et al. 2022; Lynggaard et al. 2022) along with other novel approaches (Gregorič et al. 2022).

2.6.1 Conservation applications of environmental DNA

Conservation applications of eDNA include biosecurity (Pochon et al. 2017), site occupancy modelling (Muha et al. 2017) and detection of cryptic pest species in managed areas (Ramón-Laca et al. 2014). Detecting species presence or composition using eDNA methods may supersede current species monitoring methods and facilitate assessment of environmental stressors on ecosystems, such as those resulting from primary production (Laroche et al. 2018; Macher et al. 2018).

Environmental DNA can also be used to assess wildlife and ecosystem health (Hall et al. 2016; Strand et al. 2019; Schadewell & Adams 2021) and understand species interactions (Farrell et al. 2000; Bleijswijk et al. 2014; Nichols et al. 2015). Within Aotearoa New Zealand, analysis of faecal eDNA has been used to infer the diets of kekeno (New Zealand fur seal, *Arctocephalus forsteri*; Emami-Khoyi et al. 2016), kororā (little blue penguin, *Eudyptula minor*; Murray et al. 2011), hoiho (Young et al. 2020) and Bryde's whales (*Balaenoptera edeni brydei*; Carroll et al. 2019). Environmental DNA-based diet analysis is especially useful for analysing soft-bodied prey, which are otherwise difficult to identify. For example, establishing the earthworm diet of the endangered endemic carnivorous land snail (*Powelliphanta augusta*) can inform habitat restoration and site suitability for translocations (Waterhouse et al. 2014).

Environmental DNA also has potential as a tool for monitoring species abundance and measuring population genetic diversity and differentiation. There is increasing interest in the correlation between eDNA abundance and species biomass with applications for tracing migratory patterns or spawning activity (Doi et al. 2015; Laramie et al. 2015; Bylemans et al. 2017; Thalinger et al. 2019; Yates et al. 2019), although analytical challenges remain regarding the impacts of factors such as size, age and cell/naked DNA shedding rates (Iversen et al. 2015; Klymus et al. 2015; Vasselon et al. 2018). There is also growing evidence that eDNA can be used to estimate conservation-relevant metrics including genetic diversity and population structure in species that are challenging to sample (Parsons et al. 2018; Adams et al. 2019; Stepien et al. 2019; Tsuji et al. 2020; Adams et al. 2022, preprint).

2.6.2 Limitations of environmental DNA

Environmental DNA is best used in tandem with traditional biodiversity surveying methods, as open-access sequence databases may be depauperate of target taxa due to regional biases or data-access limitations (Porter & Hajibabaei 2018; Sato et al. 2018). Additional limitations arise from the high sensitivity of eDNA studies that can increase the risk of false positive or false negative presence identification results due to faecal deposits by mobile predators, extreme weather events, data-deficient databases, insufficient sampling and field or laboratory contamination (Merkes et al. 2014; Goldberg et al. 2016; Dickie et al. 2018; Staley et al. 2018; Furlan et al. 2020; Ragot & Villemur 2022). As with aDNA methodologies, dedicated clean laboratories are required to minimise the potential for contamination (Goldberg et al. 2016).

With the growing use of eDNA tools in Aotearoa New Zealand and abroad, the applications for these tools are diversifying. While the metabarcoding of water and soil samples is increasingly utilised, alternative substrates, such as air (Johnson et al. 2019; Clare et al. 2021, 2022; Lynggaard et al. 2022; Roger et al. 2022), remain less explored. Further, there is variability in species identification databases (Corfe-Tan et al. 2019; Othman et al. 2020; Banerjee et al. 2021; Ito et al. 2022, preprint). eDNA techniques rely on access to accurate, complete databases of reference sequences from known taxa, making such databases a critical component for eDNA analyses. Widespread sampling is needed to generate baseline eDNA data and populate reference databases, and can be delivered through community-driven science initiatives (e.g. the Environmental Protection Agency's Wai Tūwhera o te Taiao – Open Waters Aotearoa programme https://www.epa.govt.nz/community-involvement/open-waters-aotearoa/). Increasingly, companies such as WilderLab Ltd. are contributing to community science efforts

to census local biodiversity through the provision of sampling kits, sequencing and analysis. Currently in Aotearoa New Zealand however, reference sequences for many species are absent from such databases. Nevertheless, eDNA techniques hold great promise for species and ecosystem monitoring in Aotearoa New Zealand, and such research will flourish through partnerships with mana whenua.

2.7 Transcriptomics

Although every cell within an organism contains the same set of genes, not every gene is active in every cell. The transcriptome represents the complete set of RNA transcripts reflecting the expression of genes produced from the genome of a cell, tissue or organism at a specific development stage or physiological condition (Wang et al. 2009). The function and composition of these transcripts is essential for our understanding of an organism's phenotype. Two key aims of transcriptomics relevant to conservation are to (i) quantify changing gene expression during development or stress and (ii) annotate a genome by cataloguing all transcripts. Various technologies have been developed for transcriptomic research, with RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) propelling transcriptomics beyond clinical biology applications (Wang et al. 2009; Todd et al. 2016). Unlike whole-genome sequencing where reads are aligned to an assembled reference to improve confidence and resolution, RNA-seq does not require any prior knowledge of the transcriptome, making it particularly useful for the study of novel traits in non-model organisms (organisms that have not been used for extensive research, unlike those used in clinical applications such as mice, rats, etc.; Alvarez et al. 2015; Todd et al. 2016).

Transcriptomics facilitates genome annotation, identifying features such as gene coding regions that enhance the utility of reference genomes (Yandell & Ence 2012). Accurate genome annotation enables an understanding of gene expression changes, and identification of genes associated with disease and other traits that may be relevant for conservation (Videvall et al. 2015; Connon et al. 2018). Many of these annotations can be predicted using existing databases or inferred from closely related species (Ekblom & Wolf 2014; Aken et al. 2016; Dominguez Del Angel et al. 2018), but transcriptome sequencing may be required for accurate annotation of novel gene models in non-model species (Trapnell et al. 2010).

As gene expression within a cell can be affected by stage of development, environment or stress (Wang et al. 2009), transcriptome sequencing for genome annotation often requires sequencing of various tissues, sexes and life stages to accurately represent the diversity of gene expression in a species. Gene expression changes in response to stress or across development can be profiled in an individual cell, specific tissue or the whole organism (Todd et al. 2016; Kulkarni et al. 2019). These gene expression changes are frequently referred to as the up- or down-regulation of a gene (Costa-Silva et al. 2017). Historically, gene expression changes were often assessed in individual genes; however, with the rise of RNA-seq whole transcriptome profiling has now become possible for almost any organism (Alvarez et al. 2015; Todd et al. 2016). Population-level transcriptomic data can also be used to identify genomic SNPs, thereby enabling acquisition and comparison of two data types from a single sequencing method (Lopez-Maestre et al. 2016).

2.7.1 Conservation applications of transcriptomics

Transcriptome profiling is the most efficient way to acquire a comprehensive snapshot of an organism's physiological state and has the potential to have an immense impact on understanding wildlife health (Fig. 5), particularly for understanding the processes of and response to disease in non-model species (Field et al. 2015; Videvall et al. 2015; Campbell et al. 2018). Transcriptome profiling differs from genome annotation in that it is typically restricted to a single tissue type. Combining transcriptomics with other epidemiological data can explain why populations differ in their functional response to a disease. Although assessments of wild populations can be challenging, a recent study on lethal viral infections in amphibians successfully used infected and non-infected wild populations to understand how a history of disease alters a population's gene expression profile (Campbell et al. 2018). Greater understanding of disease history and population diversity can facilitate management of adaptive variation relating to immunity and development in wild populations.



Figure 5. Two examples of the use of transcriptomics to inform conservation management. Example A compares hypothetical immune gene expression changes between healthy and diseased samples across populations. Gene expression changes are displayed as the log-fold change between samples, where each box represents the log fold-change in expression of various genes between diseased and non-diseased samples from three populations (X, Y and Z). Genes that are up-regulated (green) have higher rates of expression in diseased samples. Due to connectivity between genes, up-regulation in one gene can result in down-regulation of others (brown), and vice versa. In this example a stronger immune response is seen in population Z. Example B compares hypothetical stress responses in an insect population reared in current and future climate conditions. Different genes display different levels of regulation across stages of development. In this example, log-fold changes are greater in populations reared in future conditions than in current conditions. Combined with ecological and physiological data, these types of studies can provide information on the adaptive potential of a species. *Credit: EJD*.

With climate change increasingly affecting environments, there is a growing need to understand organisms' resilience to change (Somero 2010; Moritz & Agudo 2013). When incorporated with ecological and physiological data, comparative transcriptomic assessments across environments can infer a population's physiological capacity to respond to changing environmental conditions (Seebacher et al. 2015; Kelly 2019; Anderson & Song 2020). Such studies typically involve moving wild individuals into controlled laboratory environments where they can be exposed to predicted future conditions (Narum & Campbell 2015; DeBiasse & Kelly 2016; Riddell et al. 2019). For example, research into the adaptive potential of an Afrotropical butterfly (*Bicyclus anynana*) has shown that despite expressing two distinct phenotypes in dry and wet seasons, this species has limited adaptability in the face of environmental change (Oostra et al. 2018). Research in this area can support conservation practitioners in making proactive management decisions regarding climate change.

2.7.2 Challenges and limitations for conservation transcriptomics

Transcriptomics has made significant contributions to our understanding of physiology, evolutionary biology and ecology; being particularly useful in gaining understanding of responses to disease or stress. However, it is still under-utilised in conservation biology (Alvarez et al. 2015; Todd et al. 2016; Connon et al. 2018), mainly because of the technique's requirement for destructive sampling of individual tissues under tightly controlled conditions. To detect meaningful gene expression differences requires the ability to distinguish true differential expression from background noise (Todd et al. 2016). For example, to understand response to disease it would be beneficial to compare multiple samples of both infected and uninfected individuals from the same population (i.e. genetic background), sex and developmental stage in identical environmental conditions. Such experimental protocols are often difficult to enact in wild populations of threatened species and as a result, conservation transcriptomic studies may remain limited (Connon et al. 2018). However, for species adversely impacted by disease or rapid environmental change, researchers and practitioners may need to consider whether the knowledge potentially obtainable from transcriptomic approaches outweighs the costs of lethal sampling. Research into the adaptability of species to environmental change can facilitate proactive conservation in the face of climate change and could be prioritised to focused on high-risk species identified via climate change vulnerability assessments (Wheatley et al. 2017), while considering species interactions (Hance et al. 2007; Memmott et al. 2007).

2.8 Microbiomes

So far, this discussion of conservation genetics and genomics has been largely restricted to species-specific approaches. However, the microbiome – the microorganisms that reside on or within the tissues of a host species, including bacteria, fungi, and viruses – has the potential to offer insights into key conservation questions (West et al. 2019). Although initial research into host-associated microbiomes was largely based on human health and model organisms (Gilbert et al. 2018; Davidson et al. 2020), here we review some ways in which microbiome studies may inform conservation.

Just as conservation-relevant processes such as population bottlenecks leave an impact on the genome, the microbiome can also be affected. For example, Asian tiger mosquitoes (*Aedes albopictus*) introduced to Italy show lower microbiomic diversity than mosquitos from within the native range (Rosso et al. 2018). Additional processes that can impact microbiome diversity include captivity (e.g. Tasmanian devils (*Sarcophilus harrissii*); Cheng et al. 2015; and other species as summarised by West et al. 2019), poor physiological condition of individuals (e.g. fasting humpback whales, *Megaptera novaeangliae*; Vendl et al. 2020) and the presence of pathogens (Van Cise et al. 2020). Reductions in microbiome diversity are important as they are associated with negative health outcomes (Vangay et al. 2018). Many host organisms rely on symbionts for defence against pathogens (Vorburger & Perlman 2018; McLaren & Callahan 2020), and the microbiome can directly impact behaviour and memory in some species (Davidson et al. 2020). In addition, perturbation of the microbiome could have other consequences, as it appears to have an important role in local adaptation (Suzuki et al. 2019) and adapting to a changing world (Cunning & Baker 2020; Voolstra & Ziegler 2020), which may be important to consider when planning translocations.

Aspects of the microbiome could also be useful for individual and/or population monitoring. In humans, the skin microbiome can predict the age of an individual to within approximately 4 years (Huang et al. 2020b). When applied to species of conservation concern, similar analyses may allow for previously unknown individuals to be aged, which may be valuable when correcting pedigrees. Rapidly evolving microbes can help uncover patterns not evident in host genomes, especially when the host has low genetic diversity due to recent population bottlenecks (Wirth et al. 2005). For example, genetic investigation of feline immunodeficiency virus revealed previously uncharacterised population structure and demography in cougars (Puma concolor; Biek et al. 2006). Similarly, extension of current genomic analyses for demographic inference to microbiomes could increase temporal resolution to conservationrelevant time scales. Finally, monitoring the microbiome of individuals released from captivity could be used as a measure of translocation success as the microbiome shifts towards that seen in wild conspecifics (e.g. Tasmanian devils, Chong et al. 2019). Despite microbiome analyses for conservation being a relatively new field of interest, these methods have already been applied to threatened Aotearoa New Zealand species, including the critically endangered kākāpō (Waite et al. 2014; Perry et al. 2017). Such exploratory microbiome studies represent the first steps towards actively incorporating 'microbial rescue' into conservation strategies (West et al. 2019; Mueller et al. 2020).

2.8.1 Methodological considerations associated with microbiome analysis

Careful sampling design is essential when undertaking microbiome studies to inform conservation (Knight et al. 2018). Considerations should include which tissue types the microbiome will be sampled across (e.g. gut, faeces, skin, oral), and whether sampling will be sufficient to control for individual age and sex, seasonal differences and other confounding effects. Metadata should be collected on all of the above and any other factors that could influence microbiome composition, as microbiome data is only as useful as the metadata that accompanies it (Goodrich et al. 2014; Knight et al. 2018).

Following the design of the microbiome sampling experiment, sample collection can commence. Because microorganisms are present in most environments, sampling blanks must also be collected at various stages to control for the presence of background environmental or laboratory contamination (Knight et al. 2018; Karstens et al. 2019). Correct sample storage is also key to ensuring the extraction of ultra-high-quality DNA (as per the requirements for reference genome sequencing). Some microorganisms are resistant to standard DNA extraction techniques and may require specialised protocols. It is good practice to also extract DNA from a 'mock community' with a known species composition to evaluate biases in the quantities of DNA extracted from different microorganism species.

Finally, the profiling approaches to be taken after extracting microbiome DNA must be determined. The most common current approach is to target small nuclear regions of genomes using PCR amplification so that microbial species (e.g. bacteria, fungi) can be identified (Knight et al. 2018). The advantage of a PCR-based approach is that multiple samples can be included in a single sequencing run, reducing costs. However, this may be dependent on PCR primer choice, as not all species will be amplified equally, and so the results may not reflect the extracted DNA. In addition, PCR-based approaches can amplify background contamination (Karstens et al. 2019). An alternative is a more expensive metagenomic resequencing approach (similar to that mentioned in *2.4.2 Population-level resequencing*) to sequence the genomes of the microorganisms present in the sample. This approach can also be used to identify the entire microbial community and characterise adaptive variation present in the sequenced DNA.

Additional challenges of microbiome analysis include preventing DNA of the host organism from overwhelming microbial DNA during sequencing (Knight et al. 2018). As downstream analyses generally include comparing microbial community richness and composition between groups of interest (e.g. captive versus wild animals), microbiome research is limited by the availability of microbial sequences in reference databases.

3. Future conservation genetic/genomic research tools and directions

In Chapter 2 of this report we summarised the current state of play for genetics and genomics in Aotearoa New Zealand. We highlighted the dynamic nature of the presently available tools for conservation applications. In addition to a growing number of conservation genetics and genomics research projects utilising these tools, existing approaches are being combined to create new tools; for example, the combination of aDNA and eDNA to investigate ancient environmental DNA (aeDNA) is applicable to restoration ecology as eDNA binds to substrates and therefore can provide information on past species' presence (Wilmshurst et al. 2014; Buxton et al. 2017; Hofman & Rick 2018). In addition, emerging techniques promise to expand the conservation genetic/genomic toolbox. In the following text we identify aspirational applications for existing genetic/genomic tools and for those in development and suggest potential strategies to further support this developing landscape. The majority of tools discussed here are still in development for use in well-characterised systems (i.e. model organisms, with relevance to human health or primary industry), and their utility in a conservation context is yet to be proven. It would be disingenuous to overpromise on the conservation applications of these emerging tools, and so we have taken a cautious approach throughout to describe both the opportunities and challenges of these tools for conservation in an Aotearoa-specific context. Nevertheless, these developments all contribute to building the foundations for a bright future in the genetics/genomics research space with strong relevance for conservation.

3.1 Pangenomes and genome graphs

In the future, we anticipate that genomics will be applied more broadly to capture populationor species-level diversity with **pangenomes**. Pangenomes incorporate multiple individual reference genomes to capture the entire complement of diversity within a species, enabling researchers to differentiate between 'core' (genes and gene regions fixed in all individuals) and 'accessory' (genes and gene regions that are variable) genomic regions (Tettelin et al. 2005). Pangenomes can be represented by genome graphs, allowing visualisation of multiple genomes simultaneously by representing core genomic regions as a single structure and accessory regions as alternative 'paths' for read alignment (summarised by Ameur 2019). The application of pangenomes and genome graphs promises to be a significant advancement in the field of conservation genomics, as highly complex and rare traits may be characterised in individuals of interest (Gao et al. 2019; Bayer et al. 2020), including those that hinder species recovery.

3.2 Chromosomics and structural variants

Chromosomics integrate **cytogenetics** and whole-genome sequencing to study chromosomal diversity (Potter & Deakin 2018; Deakin et al. 2019). This discipline goes beyond characterising (SNPs) to include analysis of structural variants (SVs). SVs represent a source of genomic variation likely to have large phenotype effects (e.g. Dorant et al. 2020; Huang et al. 2020a; Derežanin et al. 2022): SVs are large rearrangements (>50 bp) within the genome that impact the form and structure of chromosomes, and include regions of the genome that are inverted, translocated from one location to another, inserted, or even lost entirely. Recent genomic research from human clinical studies and primary industry indicates that SVs are a significant source of genomic variation, as they have been found to intersect with gene coding regions more often than SNPs and impact a greater proportion of the genome overall

(Chiang et al. 2017; Catanach et al. 2019). As such, the high likelihood that complex traits (e.g. reproductive traits in birds; Huynh et al. 2011; Küpper et al. 2016; Kim et al. 2017; Knief et al. 2017) are determined by SVs make them of interest for conservation. The large and complex nature of SVs cannot be adequately captured by short-read sequencing (see 2.4 *Whole-genome sequencing*), and so approaches that combine cytogenetics and long-read sequencing are currently being developed to reliably characterise SVs in threatened species. Moving forward, we anticipate that combining pangenomic and transcriptomic approaches will facilitate research into adaptive variation (see 3.3 *Characterising adaptive variation*; Alonge et al. 2020; Bayer et al. 2020; Golicz et al. 2020; Liu et al. 2020), with potential applications including modelling the ability of species to adapt to future climate change or novel diseases. Collaboration with primary industry researchers has proven fruitful for conservation genomic research, due to the overlap in research interests pertaining to small populations (Galla et al. 2016). As much of the work regarding pangenomes and SVs to date has focused on crop species, continued collaborations with primary industry researchers will further enhance conservation research in these areas.

3.3 Characterising adaptive variation

Traditional population genetics approaches investigate **neutral variation** to answer demographic questions (e.g. population size, inbreeding, connectivity). However, the need to conserve and monitor adaptive or maladaptive genetic diversity is increasingly emphasised (Hoelzel et al. 2019; Mable 2019; Teixeira & Huber 2021). Adaptive variation refers to the genetic basis of phenotypic variation, i.e. traits that influence survival and **reproductive fitness** of individuals. Maladaptive variation refers specifically to genetic variation that reduces survival and/or reproductive fitness of individuals. While efforts have been made to characterise adaptive variation in model organisms, the broad application of these methods for species of conservation concern remains limited by challenges including small sample sizes inherent to threatened populations, limited availability of genomic resources (i.e. reference genomes and annotations) for non-model species, and the complexities of polygenic traits, i.e. those determined by combinations of multiple loci (Fig. 6 but also see Batley et al. 2019; Brandies et al. 2020).

For example, SVs (see 3.2 Chromosomics and structural variants) are increasingly recognised as a pervasive source of adaptive and maladaptive variation in threatened species (e.g. Wold et al. 2021). Despite their significance, SVs remain poorly understood and characterised for most species of conservation concern (but see Cayuela et al. 2021). Even as the field of chromosomics develops, however, the resources needed to reliably characterise adaptive or maladaptive SVs – including cytogenetic and long-read sequence data, well-characterised measures of fitness and selection pressures and a high-quality, annotated reference genome – are likely to remain challenging to produce for many threatened species.

In the face of such challenges, we prefer to avoid overpromising on the role of adaptive variation in conservation management in the near future. However, we are optimistic that creative approaches to leveraging available resources (e.g. Cayuela et al. 2020; Dorant et al. 2020; Huang et al. 2020a) will enable researchers and practitioners to make informed decisions for enhancing genome-wide diversity, which necessarily includes present, and/or future, adaptive variation. In some cases, these may include management actions that target putatively adaptive or maladaptive variation.



Figure 6. Reproduced from Parker et al. (2022, preprint): a framework for assessing key criteria for characterising adaptive variation in threatened species, including whether (i) populations are sufficiently large and genetically diverse to differentiate between selection and genetic drift; (ii) differential selection pressures are well characterised; (iii) fitness measures – or suitable proxies – are well characterised; (iv) a high-quality reference genome is available; (v) population genomic data adequately captures genome-wide diversity; (vi) comprehensive sampling is representative of relevant locally adapted populations. The further each coloured section extends toward the dark green circle reflects how well that criterion is met. *Overall image design after Suding et al.* (2015).

For example, in a primary production context - where specific traits are targeted in breeding programmes – pedigrees are used to inform trait mapping approaches to identify quantitative trait loci (QTLs), or genomic regions associated with specific phenotypic traits. Analytical advancements now facilitate statistical tests to characterise such loci (e.g. genome-wide association studies (GWAS); Mable 2019). Such pedigree-informed approaches, combined with comprehensive long-term datasets capturing fitness-related traits, can be used to inform conservation management (Galla et al. 2022), including the identification of populations that have inadvertently become selected to captivity (Grueber et al. 2017). In the future, these approaches could be extended to include selective breeding, but extensive scholarship around social license, ethical and cultural perspectives is needed before moving into practical considerations. Further, a mechanistic understanding of how genetic diversity influences phenotype generally requires 'omics' data to understand how DNA methylation, gene expression and protein composition influence phenotype (Mable 2019). However, for the purposes of understanding the response of species of conservation concern to specific challenges (e.g. climate, disease), a statistical association between genetic and phenotypic evidence may be sufficient to guide management decisions (e.g. reintroduction of diseaseresistant individuals to areas where disease has previously extirpated the species; Epstein et al. 2016; Hubert et al. 2018).

3.4 Hologenomics

An extension of microbiomics relevant to conservation biology is hologenomics (Carthey et al. 2020). As evolution acts on both the host organism and its microbiome (the combined assemblage of which is termed the 'holobiont'), this causes changes in the 'hologenome', or genomic content of the entire holobiont (Morris 2018). Thus, hologenomics goes beyond analysing genome and microbiome data separately (Rosenberg & Zilber-Rosenberg 2018). Greater variation within the hologenome allows species to more rapidly adapt to local environments than can be achieved through genomic changes alone (Rosenberg & Zilber-Rosenberg 2018). Hologenomics could allow conservation-relevant issues such as disease susceptibility/resistance (Postler & Ghosh 2017) and population sizes/connectivity (Wirth et al. 2005) to be assessed more broadly, and with greater resolution than investigating either the host genome or microbiome alone. While the substantial analytical challenges of this approach have thus far limited research to model species (Snijders et al. 2017), techniques derived from eDNA sampling could be used to understand interactions between the host and the environment, along with the 'microbial appropriateness' of environments at potential translocation sites (Koskella & Bergelson 2020). Similarly, metatranscriptomics approaches can be used to characterise gene regulation of the microbiome community and its potential application to host health and local adaptation (Knight et al. 2018).

3.5 Genome editing

Genome editing is the modification of an organism's DNA by adding, removing or otherwise altering genetic material to produce targeted effects (Jinek et al. 2012; Mali et al. 2013). The development of the CRISPR-Cas9 genome engineering system is particularly relevant to conservation, as it provides a rapid, accurate and efficient method for producing such targeted changes (Doudna & Charpentier 2014). The primary biologically-feasible conservation application of genome editing in Aotearoa New Zealand is for pest control (Campbell et al. 2015a; Dearden et al. 2018). While this application represents a departure from that of other tools reviewed here that are implemented in a species conservation manner, we include genome editing, as its use in pest control is both topical and, if implemented successfully, would shift the focus of conservation actions in Aotearoa New Zealand.

Invasive species management currently employs direct culling, trapping and poisoning. Ecological variation, off-target impacts and ethical concerns create challenges for existing invasive species management strategies and have prompted research into alternative pest control solutions (Russell 2014; Latham et al. 2015; Kirk et al. 2020; MacDonald et al. 2020). Gene drives present one such method of non-lethal pest control, utilising the CRISPR-Cas9 genome editing system to target pest fertility (Esvelt et al. 2014). Gene drives alter inheritance mechanisms so that all offspring inherit the gene drive, 'driving' the technology through the target pest population (Fig. 7). Gene drives can be used to disrupt the fertility of one sex, while the other sex continues to propagate the gene drive to subsequent generations by reproducing with wild, non-gene drive individuals (Prowse et al. 2017).



Figure 7. Comparison of (A) a typical inheritance pattern of an edited gene (blue rat) with (B) the enhanced inheritance pattern of an edited gene created by the gene drive, whereby all offspring inherit the edited gene. Harnessing the enhanced inheritance pattern, gene drives can be used to spread genes that bias offspring sex or reduce fertility to achieve targeted long-term pest control objectives. *Credit: AC, created with BioRender.com*.

Gene drive technology is of significant international interest for potential eradication applications (Hammond et al. 2016; Hammond & Galizi 2017). Beyond eradication, gene drives have been proposed as a tool for engineering thermal tolerance to mitigate the widespread ecological impacts of climate change (Anthony et al. 2017). Other proposed conservation applications of genome editing include engineering the genomes of endangered species to build novel resistance to emerging pathological and environmental threats, or to restore lost genomic variation (Phelps et al. 2020). Its use for de-extinction (the resurrection of extinct species using exact replicas, or through incorporation of lost phenotypic traits to create functional proxies of such species; Seddon et al. 2014; IUCN/SSC 2016) of keystone historical species has also been proposed. However, substantial technical advancements are still required, along with careful consideration of potential benefits (e.g. biodiversity gain) against the risks (e.g. redirection of funding away from existing threatened species conservation programmes; Bennett et al. 2017; see 3.6 Biobanking for further discussion). Any project aiming to restore genomic diversity through genome editing techniques will require accurate characterisation of the extent of diversity lost (with challenges relating to the age and potential degradation of samples), its potential adaptive or maladaptive impacts and precise genomic location, and substantial experimental work prior to any in situ conservation application (Phelps et al. 2020).

Technical challenges associated with genome editing for conservation applications include the complexity of gene function and local adaptation processes, particularly in wild populations (Kardos & Shafer 2018). High-quality annotated reference genomes are essential for accurate and rigorous characterisation of target genes and to develop a comprehensive understanding of phenotypic expressions of genotypes in various genetic backgrounds (Johnson et al. 2016). Further, laboratory and field trials must be carefully designed to be representative of real-world impacts and ecosystem settings, as there may be differences in implementation and effects between captive laboratory populations and wild populations due to local behavioural adaptation, gene-environment interactions (e.g. epigenetic variation; Kardos & Shafer 2018) or other indirect ecological effects (Tompkins & Veltman 2006; Russell et al. 2009; Mazza et al. 2020). These data can then inform predictive models assessing the efficacy of a genome editing application in target populations under variable conditions (including environmental change and conservation management; Champer et al. 2021).

In addition, social science research is required to assess social perspectives on genome editing, particularly those underpinning Indigenous values (Hudson et al. 2019; Palmer et al. 2020; Palmer et al. 2021). Such considerations are crucial, as the fundamental impacts of genome editing concern inheritance, therefore strongly implicating whakapapa, and genome editing may have implications for the mauri of the species. For example, kiore (Pacific rat, *Rattus exulans*) is an introduced species that is considered taonga (McClelland 2002). Furthermore, invasive species or conservation management has direct relevance to mana whenua as kaitiaki (guardians) of taonga species that may benefit from these measures. Iterative engagement regarding the potential

uses of genome editing technologies, both for pest control and to enhance biodiversity, will be required to encompass the broad range of values and perspectives (Hudson et al. 2019).

Alongside the technical and social challenges, legislative challenges have been exacerbated by rapid technological advances (Royal Society Te Apārangi 2019). The current legal definition of genome editing in Aotearoa New Zealand limits the potential for research and funding. Consequently, data evaluated in an international context may be misinterpreted in the absence of local knowledge and may not adequately capture mana whenua values in data use and applications. Despite real-world application of genome editing technologies in Aotearoa New Zealand being unlikely in the near future, the technology is advancing rapidly and rigorous transdisciplinary evaluation to integrate local social and cultural values is required if this tool is to support ambitious projects such as Predator Free 2050 in Aotearoa New Zealand.

3.6 Biobanking

Biobanking (also known as cryopreservation) is a method used to preserve DNA, gametes, embryos, somatic cells, blood or tissue samples for assisted reproduction (Leon-Quinto et al. 2009; for plants this typically involves seed banking; O'Donnell & Sharrock 2017; Walters & Pence 2020; but also see Wyse et al. 2018). Biobanks are routinely used in assisted reproduction for agricultural breeding programmes, and can act as repositories of samples for future genetic/genomic research. They have been touted for their potential conservation application as, combined with genome editing or cloning techniques, samples stored in biobanks could be used to enhance genetic diversity of remnant populations to increase population sizes or to resurrect extinct species (Strand et al. 2020). Biobanked samples were recently used to produce a clone of a deceased black-footed ferret (*Mustela nigripes*) with the goal of reintroducing lost genetic diversity into this endangered species (<u>https://reviverestore.org/projects/black-footedferret/</u>; see Sandler et al. 2021 for discussion relating to the associated ethical considerations).

Various biobanks exist overseas (e.g. the San Diego Frozen Zoo[®] <u>https://science.</u> <u>sandiegozoo.org/resources/frozen-zoo</u>; the Frozen Ark <u>https://www.frozenark.org/</u>; CryoArks <u>https://www.cryoarks.org/</u>), and a local project, Tāpui Aotearoa (<u>https://www.nextfoundation.</u> <u>org.nz/investment/tapui-aotearoa/</u>) aims to initiate discussion around potential establishment of a biobank for endemic fauna in Aotearoa New Zealand. We foresee that with applications similar to those of genome editing and a focus on threatened taonga species, such discussions must emphasise data sovereignty and accurate collection and storage of metadata alongside biobanked materials to adequately capture local contexts, knowledge and protect mana whenua interests (see sections *1.4.2 Metadata collection* and management and *1.4.3 Data sovereignty*).

Advancements in cryopreservation techniques and expansion of biobanking facilities may promote de-extinction or other cloning-based techniques aimed at increasing population size. There has been extensive discourse around potential risks, benefits, and conservation relevance of de-extinction (Bennett et al. 2017; Iacona et al. 2017; Sandler 2017; Valdez et al. 2019; Genovesi & Simberloff 2020), including scholarship specific to the Aotearoa New Zealand context (Taylor et al. 2017b) and from a conservation genetics perspective (Steeves et al. 2017). Even if the goals associated with Predator Free 2050 are achieved and sufficiently large areas of high-quality habitat were to become available to support the resurrection of a species, many of the ethical, legal, financial and technical challenges associated with genome editing remain applicable to both de-extinction and cloning more broadly. While we consider any such applications to be in the distant future in Aotearoa New Zealand, associated research developments overseas may contribute to conservation of extant species.

3.7 Multi-species genomic pipelines

The global disconnect between conservation research and practice is widely recognised (also known as the research-implementation gap; Jarvis et al. 2020; Kadykalo et al. 2021). We envision an increasingly collaborative interface, where researchers and practitioners co-develop targeted research to inform conservation management actions (e.g. Tasmanian devil conservation, Hogg et al. 2017; conservation efforts for a range of threatened birds in Aotearoa New Zealand, Galla et al. 2022). Establishment of broad-scale genomic data generation and analysis pipelines may represent one pathway to enhance such collaborations. These initiatives are established to build repositories of genomic data/resources for multiple threatened species management programmes, provide analysis tools for use by researchers and practitioners and result in the accelerated implementation of genomics-informed conservation management actions across multiple species/ecosystems simultaneously. For example, the Australian Threatened Species Initiative (TSI) was initiated to support conservation decision making by establishing a national repository of genomic data accessible via an online web tool for analysis (Hogg et al. 2022), while the California Conservation Genomics Project (CCGP) was designed as a state-wide multi-species landscape genomics project to facilitate conservation prioritisation across California (Shaffer et al. 2022). In Aotearoa New Zealand, independent analysis pipelines are becoming available (e.g. those of Genomics for Aotearoa New Zealand (GFANZ), https://genomics.nz/page/bioinformatics-platform and AgResearch, https://www.agresearch.co.nz/doing-business/products-and-services/bioinformatics/).

However, there are various limitations associated with the development and implementation of such pipelines in Aotearoa New Zealand. Despite the high proportion of threatened species in Aotearoa New Zealand (Bradshaw et al. 2010) there are relatively few threatened species management programmes, and so the application of a large-scale multi-species pipeline for conservation is somewhat limited. Development and optimisation of a pipeline similar to the TSI or CCGP would require substantial resourcing (e.g. US\$12 million funding across projects involving 235 species for the CCGP, AUS\$1.4 million funding for projects involving 61 species for the TSI; Hogg et. al 2022; Shaffer et al. 2022). Multi-species pipelines require standardised data inputs to facilitate robust, comparable analysis (e.g. sequencing types and depth for assembling reference genomes and for population-level resequencing, and reference genome assembly methods and quality; see 2.4.1 Reference genomes, 2.3 Reduced-representation sequencing, 2.4.2 Population-level resequencing, and the technical standards described in Shaffer et al. 2022), which may limit the re-use of existing genomic resources. Data sovereignty concerns will need to be addressed to determine the accessibility of any such data, particularly as the computational scale and data storage requirements for multi-species analyses may grow to exceed those available via existing platforms in Aotearoa New Zealand (e.g. NeSI, Catalyst Cloud). There is also the potential for data to become divorced from the local context, so early stages of pipeline development must emphasise the need for collecting and using metadata to support interrogation of input data and accurate interpretation of results. To maximise pipeline efficiency, analyses are likely to be limited to characterisation of genome-wide diversity and population structure as opposed to assessment of high-complexity adaptive variation or SVs with associated impacts on population fitness (e.g. Hogg et. al 2022; Shaffer et al. 2022; also see 3.2 Chromosomics and structural variants). Even within primary industry, where species biology is well-understood and genomic resources are well-characterised, few broad-scale pipelines exist (but see research across Eucalyptus spp., Silva-Junior et al. 2015).

While the TSI aims to produce an online tool to empower conservation practitioners to analyse genomic data as needed, we recognise that practitioners are already time-poor (Taylor et al. 2017). While we do not presume to speak for all practitioners, many of whom may be interested in broadening their skills and having greater hands-on input in the genomics space, this may not be widely practicable/feasible. If such a pipeline were to be developed for conservation in Aotearoa New Zealand, ensuring co-development by researchers and practitioners to best

meet the needs and capabilities of both parties could fall under the purview of a conservation genetics/genomics advisory group (see 3.8 Improved facilitation of genetics/genomics research to enhance conservation outcomes).

3.8 Improved facilitation of genetics/genomics research to enhance conservation outcomes

For the genetics/genomics toolbox to effectively inform conservation management decisions, particularly in light of rapid technological developments, we advocate for a well-resourced DOC genetics/genomics advisory group. This group should comprise both internal and external practitioners and researchers, across a range of career stages, and include members of, or exist in partnership with, Kahui Kaupapa Atawhai. Such a group should centre the principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi to facilitate the establishment of genetic/genomic research by advising on the most appropriate research strategies to meet conservation needs, while balancing current and future uses of samples and data against feasibility and costs. This group could also be tasked with developing data management guidelines encompassing sample collection and curation, management of data and metadata to support downstream research, and facilitating collaborations with institutes with the necessary skill, experience and resources to implement specific research. Further, the establishment of such a group may facilitate connections among practitioners, researchers, local mana whenua and speciesspecific research and conservation recovery groups to enhance conservation outcomes across Aotearoa New Zealand. However, we stress that researchers and practitioners must be proactive in establishing and maintaining trusted relationships, which may then lead to larger and/or long-term collaborative research projects. As predominantly early career researchers, we argue that senior researchers are best placed to maintain a clear and consistent line of communication between practitioners, mana whenua and their own research groups. In addition to better facilitating the permitting process, doing so will create the opportunities for early career researchers to gain an understanding of research best-practice within the limited time frames available to them (e.g. three years of funding for a PhD).

Related to this, a major concern identified by early career researchers and worth highlighting here relates to DOC's research permitting processes which are subject to lengthy delays and inconsistencies among taxa, type of data generated and messaging around data management. With samples and data persisting beyond the timeframes of permits, and the increasing intergenerationality of research projects, further concerns arise from the absence of periodic reviews once permits are granted. Addressing potential solutions to these issues is beyond the scope of this report, but could fall under the mandate of a DOC genetics/genomics advisory group.

Given these challenges and opportunities, we foresee conservation genetic/genomic research becoming increasingly transdisciplinary in nature. Indeed, to achieve the vision outlined in Te Mana o te Taiao, both species-specific and ecosystem-based approaches will need to include genetic/genomic, microbial, ecological, physiological and environmental data, alongside mātauranga Māori where mana whenua wish to contribute this. Thus, to produce more 'winners' – including species, ecosystems, and people – benefitting from conservation actions (Nelson et al. 2019), we encourage researchers and practitioners to focus on developing collaborative and iterative communicative practices that incorporate a wide array of disciplines and perspectives.

4. Glossary

3C sequencing	Chromosome conformation capture techniques such as Hi-C, Omni-C and Pore-C used to characterise the spatial structure of DNA to identify genomic interactions.
adaptive potential	The ability of a population to adapt to immediate environmental change, typically estimated by the extent of genomic diversity present and quantified by relative reproductive fitness. Contributes to overall evolutionary potential, which refers to a species' capacity to respond to environmental change through time.
adaptive (maladaptive) variation	Genomic variation that results in phenotypic variation and has some effect on individual fitness.
ancient DNA (aDNA)	DNA extracted from historical museum skins, subfossils or fossils.
base pairs (bp)	Individual nucleotides that code the DNA.
chromosomics	A discipline that integrates cytogenetics and whole-genome sequencing to study chromosome-level diversity.
coverage	Can have two distinct meanings: 1) when used in a reference genome context, it can relate to the proportion of the genome represented by the reference; and 2) when used in a population- level sequencing context, it refers to the amount of sequencing depth supporting a variant call.
cytogenetics	The study of the form and structure of DNA within the nucleus of a cell.
depth	The number of times the genome is sequenced.
environmental DNA (eDNA)	DNA extracted from environmental samples such as water, soil or air.
Gb	Gigabase pairs; one billion base pairs of DNA.
genetic data	Data representative of a subset of the genome, typically comprising tens of loci.
genetic drift	The fluctuation in allele frequencies between generations due to stochastic processes.
genome	The full complement of DNA characterising an individual.
genomic data	Data representative of the genome, comprising hundreds to millions of loci. These data are generated with high-throughput sequencing techniques.
genome graph	Graph structure used to represent genomic variation detected among multiple individuals simultaneously.
hologenomics	The study of the genomic interactions between a host organism and its microbiome.
iterative engagement	A process of continuous or sequential discussions between parties throughout the research process from initial planning through to final public dissemination of results. For examples of such approaches, see Cisternas et al. 2019; Rayne et al. 2022.

long-read sequencing	DNA sequencing using platforms such as Oxford Nanopore Technologies or PacBio SMRT that can produce sequence reads in excess of 10,000 bp in length.
microarray	A genomic method used to genotype large numbers of loci at population-scale, simultaneously.
microbiome	The microorganisms that reside on and/or within the tissues of a host species, including bacteria, fungi and viruses.
mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA)	The DNA specific to the mitochondrial organelle, with a short circular structure and high copy number within an individual cell.
neutral variation	Genomic variation that does not impact fitness. Also known as neutral diversity.
pangenome(s)	Multiple high-quality genome assemblies that capture all of the genomic diversity within a species. Pangenomes may eventually supersede single individual genomes for reference purposes.
restriction-site associated DNA sequencing (RAD-seq)	A method using restriction enzymes to target subsets of loci throughout the genomes of all sequenced individuals.
reduced-representation sequencing (RRS)	Sequencing methods such as restriction-site associated methods (RAD-seq, ddRAD-seq, GBS), where a reduced subset of the genome is sequenced and assumed to be representative of the diversity throughout the complete genome.
reference genome(s)	A representation of the genome of a species that can be used alone for interspecific comparisons or as a reference against which population-level resequencing or RRS data can be aligned for intraspecific comparisons.
reproductive fitness	Capacity of individuals in a population to propagate their genes to subsequent generations. Quantified through estimates of relative fertility and mortality.
short-read sequencing	DNA sequencing conducted using platforms such as Illumina MiSeq, HiSeq and NovaSeq that produce short (< 500 bp) sequence reads.
single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs)	The most common form of variation in the genome. SNPs have low mutation rates and are often biallelic, with known characteristics making analysis relatively straightforward.
SNP-chip	A type of genomic microarray used to generate single- nucleotide polymorphism data for large numbers of individuals within a species.
structural variants (SVs)	A diverse class of genomic variation impacting the form and structure of chromosomes. Common types of structural variants include copy number variants, deletions, duplications, insertions, inversions and translocations > 50 bp.
transcriptome	The array of RNA transcripts that are expressed by an organism, determining individual phenotype.

5. Acknowledgements

We wish to thank Sharon Alderson and Richard Maloney at the Department of Conservation for the invitation to contribute this review. We thank Rod Hitchmough and Bruce McKinlay and an anonymous external reviewer for their helpful feedback.

NJF is grateful to the early-career researchers involved here for contributing their expertise, to TES, Thomas Buckley, Manaaki Whenua Landcare Research, Genomics Aotearoa, the University of Canterbury's (UC) Conservation, Systematics and Evolution Research Team (ConSERT), the University of Otago's (UO) Knapp/Matisoo-Smith lab group, and the Kakī Recovery Programme for their support, and to Julia Allwood and Talia Brav-Cubitt for helpful discussions relating to topics included here.

CIMA wishes to thank the Knapp Lab and Waters Lab, the UO Departments of Zoology, Anatomy, and Marine Science, and iwi partnerships for their support.

AA wishes to thank the Gemmell Lab, the UO Department of Anatomy, Genomics Aotearoa, Predator Free 2050, Phil Wilcox, Ben Te Aika, Ian Shapcott, and iwi/hapū collaborative partnerships for their support.

ACC would like to thank Neil Gemmell and the Gemmell lab, project collaborators, the UO Department of Anatomy, members and supporters of SING (Summer internship for Indigenous peoples in Genomics), the Ministry for Pacific Peoples, and BLAKE New Zealand for their continued support and contribution.

IC is grateful to all research partners, all past and present members of the UC's ConSERT team, the Shore Plover Recovery Group, the Isaacs Conservation and Wildlife Trust, especially Anne Richardson and Leigh Percasky and Rose Collen for their amazing support and insight.

ED thanks the Gemmell lab, the UO Department of Anatomy and the Marsden Fund for their support.

LD thanks Anna Santure for her support and for helpful insights relating to topics included here.

SJG thanks her research partners (Kakī Recovery Programme, Kākāriki Karaka Recovery Programme), UC's ConSERT members, her PhD committee members (TES and Anna Santure), and chair of her PhD oral exam (Carolyn Hogg) for their mentorship regarding pedigrees and conservation breeding programmes. SJG is grateful to UC and Boise State University for their support.

LH would like to thank Sarah Flanagan and Michelle LaRue, as well as Christchurch City Council and Gateway Antarctica for their support.

MM wishes to thank the UC's ConSERT and Fulbright New Zealand for their support.

AR is grateful to her research partners, UC's ConSERT and FERG (Freshwater Ecology Research Group) members, New Zealand's Biological Heritage National Science Challenge and the University of Canterbury for their support.

TES extends her gratitude for the early career researchers across Aotearoa New Zealand who so graciously shared their enthusiasm and expertise in the development of this contribution. She is also eager to acknowledge past, present and future members of UC's ConSERT, and the team's many research partners, who work tirelessly to enhance the recovery of some of Aotearoa New Zealand's most threatened taonga species.

6. References

- Adams, C I.M.; Hepburn, C.; Jeunen, G.-J.; Cross, H.; Taylor, H.R.; Gemmell, N.J.; Bunce, M.; Knapp, M. 2022: Environmental DNA reflects common haplotypic variation. *BioRxiv*, 2022.02.26.481856. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.02.26.481856</u>
- Adams, C.I.M.; Knapp, M.; Gemmell, N.J.; Jeunen, G.-J.; Bunce, M.; Lamare, M.D.; Taylor, H.R. 2019: Beyond biodiversity: can environmental DNA (eDNA) cut it as a population genetics tool? *Genes 10(3)*, 192. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10030192
- Aken, B.L.; Ayling, S.; Barrell, D.; Clarke, L.; Curwen, V.; Fairley, S.; Fernandez Banet, J.; Billis, K.; García Girón, C.; Hourlier, T.; ... Searle, S.M.J. 2016: The Ensembl gene annotation system. *Database 2016*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/database/baw093</u>
- Alcaide, M.; Edwards, S.V. 2011: Molecular evolution of the toll-like receptor multigene family in birds. *Molecular Biology and Evolution 28(5):* 1703–1715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msq351</u>
- Alexander, A.; Steel, D.; Hoekzema, K.; Mesnick, S.L.; Engelhaupt, D.; Kerr, I.; Payne, R.; Baker, C.S. 2016: What influences the worldwide genetic structure of sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*)? *Molecular Ecology* 25(12): 2754–2772. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13638</u>
- Allen, A.M.; Ens, B.J.; van de Pol, M.; van der Jeugd, H.; Frauendorf, M.; van der Kolk, H.-J.; Oosterbeek, K.; Nienhuis, J.; Jongejans, E. 2019: Colour-ring wear and loss effects in citizen science mark-resighting studies. *Avian Research 10*, 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40657-019-0151-z</u>
- Allentoft, M.E.; Heller, R.; Oskam, C.L.; Lorenzen, E.D.; Hale, M L.; Gilbert, M.T.P.; Jacomb, C.; Holdaway, R.N.; Bunce, M. 2014: Extinct New Zealand megafauna were not in decline before human colonization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111(13)*: 4922–4927. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1314972111</u>
- Alonge, M.; Wang, X.; Benoit, M.; Soyk, S.; Pereira, L.; Zhang, L.; Suresh, H.; Ramakrishnan, S.; Maumus, F.; Ciren, D.; Levy, Y.; ... Lippman, Z.B. 2020: Major impacts of widespread structural variation on gene expression and crop improvement in tomato. *Cell 182*: 145–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.021</u>
- Alvarez, M.; Schrey, A.W.; Richards, C.L. 2015: Ten years of transcriptomics in wild populations: what have we learned about their ecology and evolution? *Molecular Ecology 24*(4): 710–725. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13055</u>
- Amarasinghe, S.L.; Su, S.; Dong, X.; Zappia, L.; Ritchie, M.E.; Gouil, Q. 2020: Opportunities and challenges in long-read sequencing data analysis. *Genome Biology 21*, 30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-020-1935-5</u>
- Ameur, A. 2019: Goodbye reference, hello genome graphs. *Nature Biotechnology 37(8)*: 866–868. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0199-7
- Amos, W.; Balmford, A. 2001: When does conservation genetics matter? *Heredity 87(3)*: 257–265. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2540.2001.00940.x
- Anderson, J. 2012: Options for the future protection of GRTKTCES: The Traditional Knowledge License and Labels Initiative. *Journal of the World Intellectual Property Organization* 4(1): 73–82.
- Anderson, J.; Hudson, M. 2020: The Biocultural Labels Initiative: supporting Indigenous rights in data derived from genetic resources. *Biodiversity Information Science and Standards 4*, e59230. https://doi.org/10.3897/biss.4.59230
- Anderson, J.T.; Song, B.H. 2020: Plant adaptation to climate change where are we? *Journal of Systematics and Evolution 58(5)*: 533–545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jse.12649</u>
- Andrews, K.R.; Good, J.M.; Miller, M.R.; Luikart, G.; Hohenlohe, P.A. 2016: Harnessing the power of RADseq for ecological and evolutionary genomics. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 17(2): 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2015.28
- Angeloni, F.; Wagemaker, N.; Vergeer, P.; Ouborg, J. 2012: Genomic toolboxes for conservation biologists. *Evolutionary Applications 5(2)*: 130–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-4571.2011.00217.x</u>
- Anthony, K.; Bay, L.K.; Costanza, R.; Firn, J.; Gunn, J.; Harrison, P.; Heyward, A.; Lundgren, P.; Mead, D.; Moore, T.; ... Walshe, T. 2017: New interventions are needed to save coral reefs. *Nature Ecology & Evolution 1(10)*: 1420–1422. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0313-5
- Attard, C.R.M.; Sandoval-Castillo, J.; Gilligan, D.M.; Unmack, P.J.; Faulks, L.K.; Beheregaray, L.B. 2022: Genomics outperforms genetics to manage mistakes in fisheries stocking of threatened species. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 31: 895–908. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-022-02369-x

- Baker, C.S.; Cipriano, F.; Palumbi, S.R. 1996: Molecular genetic identification of whale and dolphin products from commercial markets in Korea and Japan. *Molecular Ecology* 5(5): 671–685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.1996.tb00362.x</u>
- Baker, C.S.; Hamner, R.M.; Cooke, J.; Heimeier, D.; Vant, M.; Steel, D.; Constantine, R. 2013: Low abundance and probable decline of the critically endangered Maui's dolphin estimated by genotype capture-recapture. *Animal Conservation 16(2)*: 224–233. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1795.2012.00590.x
- Ballou, J.D.; Lacy, R.C. 1995: Identifying genetically important individuals for management of genetic variation in pedigreed populations. Pp. 76-111 in Ballou, J.D.; Gilpin, M.; Foose, T.J. (Eds): *Population management for survival and recovery*. Columbia University Press. 375 p.
- Ballou, J.D.; Lees, C.; Faust, L.J.; Long, S.; Lynch, C.; Bingaman Lackey, L.; Foose, T.J. 2010: Demographic and genetic management of captive populations. Pp. 219–246 in Kleiman, D.G.; Thompson, K.V.; Baer, C.K. (Eds): Wild mammals in captivity: principles and techniques for zoo management. University of Chicago Press. 592 p.
- Balloux, F.; Amos, W.; Coulson, T. 2004: Does heterozygosity estimate inbreeding in real populations? Molecular Ecology 13(10): 3021–3031. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2004.02318.x
- Banerjee, P.; Dey, G.; Antognazza, C.M.; Sharma, R.K.; Maity, J.P.; Chan, M.W.Y.; Huang, Y.-H.; Lin, P.-Y.; Chao, H.-C.; Lu, C.-M.; Chen, C.-Y. 2021: Reinforcement of environmental DNA based methods (*sensu stricto*) in biodiversity monitoring and conservation: a review. *Biology 10(12)*: 1223. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biology10121223</u>
- Banker, S.E.; Wade, E.J.; Simon, C. 2017: The confounding effects of hybridization on phylogenetic estimation in the New Zealand cicada genus Kikihia. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 116*: 172–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2017.08.009</u>
- Bañuelos, M.-J.; Blanco-Fontao, B.; Fameli, A.; Fernández-Gil, A.; Mirol, P.; Morán-Luis, M.; Rodríguez-Muñoz, R.; Quevedo, M. 2019: Population dynamics of an endangered forest bird using mark-recapture models based on DNA-tagging. *Conservation Genetics 20(6)*: 1251–1263. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-019-01208-x
- Barnes, M.A.; Turner, C.R. 2016: The ecology of environmental DNA and implications for conservation genetics. *Conservation Genetics 17(1)*: 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-015-0775-4
- Batley, K.C.; Sandoval-Castillo, J.; Kemper, C.M.; Attard, C.R.M.; Zanardo, N.; Tomo, I.; Beheregaray, L.B.; Möller, L.M. 2019: Genome-wide association study of an unusual dolphin mortality event reveals candidate genes for susceptibility and resistance to cetacean morbillivirus. *Evolutionary Applications 12(4)*: 718–732. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12747
- Bayer, P.E.; Golicz, A.A.; Scheben, A.; Batley, J.; Edwards, D. 2020: Plant pan-genomes are the new reference. *Nature Plants 6(8)*: 914–920. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41477-020-0733-0</u>
- Belton, J.-M.; McCord, R.P.; Gibcus, J.H.; Naumova, N.; Zhan, Y.; Dekker, J. 2012: Hi–C: a comprehensive technique to capture the conformation of genomes. *Methods* 58(3): 268–276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2012.05.001</u>
- Bennett, J.R.; Maloney, R.F.; Steeves, T.E.; Brazill-Boast, J.; Possingham, H.P.; Seddon, P. J. 2017: Spending limited resources on de-extinction could lead to net biodiversity loss. *Nature Ecology & Evolution 1(4)*: 1–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-016-0053</u>
- Bérénos, C.; Ellis, P.A.; Pilkington, J.G.; Pemberton, J.M. 2014: Estimating quantitative genetic parameters in wild populations: a comparison of pedigree and genomic approaches. *Molecular Ecology* 23(14): 3434–3451. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12827
- Bergner, L.M.; Dussex, N.; Jamieson, I.G.; Robertson, B.C. 2016: European colonization, not Polynesian arrival, impacted population size and genetic diversity in the critically endangered New Zealand kākāpō. *Journal of Heredity* 107(7): 593-602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esw065</u>
- Bergner, L.M.; Jamieson, I.G.; Robertson, B.C. 2014: Combining genetic data to identify relatedness among founders in a genetically depauperate parrot, the kakapo (*Strigops habroptilus*). *Conservation Genetics* 15(5): 1013–1020. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-014-0595-y
- Biek, R.; Drummond, A.J.; Poss, M. 2006: A virus reveals population structure and recent demographic history of its carnivore host. *Science 311(5760)*: 538–541. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1121360</u>
- Bleijswijk, J.D.L. van; Begeman, L.; Witte, H.J.; IJsseldijk, L.L.; Brasseur, S.M.J.M.; Gröne, A.; Leopold, M.F. 2014: Detection of grey seal *Halichoerus grypus* DNA in attack wounds on stranded harbour porpoises *Phocoena phocoena. Marine Ecology Progress Series* 513: 277–281. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11004</u>
- Bonter, D.N.; Bridge, E.S. 2011: Applications of radio frequency identification (RFID) in ornithological research: a review. *Journal of Field Ornithology 82(1)*: 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1557-9263.2010.00302.x</u>

- Boon, W.M.; Kearvell, J.C.; Daugherty, C.H.; Chambers, G.K. 2000: Molecular systematics of New Zealand Cyanoramphus parakeets: conservation of orange-fronted and Forbes' parakeets. *Bird Conservation International* 10(3): 211–239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0959270900000198</u>
- Bowles, E.; Marin, K.; Mogensen, S.; MacLeod, P.; Fraser, D.J. 2020: Size reductions and genomic changes within two generations in wild walleye populations: associated with harvest? *Evolutionary Applications* 13(6): 1128–1144. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12987
- Bradshaw, C.J.A.; Giam, X.; Sodhi, N.S. 2010: Evaluating the relative environmental impact of countries. *PLoS ONE 5(5)*: e10440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010440</u>
- Brandies, P.; Peel, E.; Hogg, C.J.; Belov, K. 2019: The value of reference genomes in the conservation of threatened species. *Genes 10(11)*, 846. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10110846</u>
- Brandies, P.A.; Wright, B.R.; Hogg, C.J.; Grueber, C.E.; Belov, K. 2020: Characterization of reproductive gene diversity in the endangered Tasmanian devil. *Molecular Ecology Resources (21)*: 721–732. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13295
- Buxton, A.S.; Groombridge, J.J.; Griffiths, R A. 2017: Is the detection of aquatic environmental DNA influenced by substrate type? PLoS ONE 12(8): e0183371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183371</u>
- Bylemans, J.; Furlan, E.M.; Hardy, C.M.; McGuffie, P.; Lintermans, M.; Gleeson, D.M. 2017: An environmental DNAbased method for monitoring spawning activity: a case study, using the endangered Macquarie perch (*Macquaria australasica*). *Methods in Ecology and Evolution 8(5)*: 646–655. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12709</u>
- Campbell, K.J.; Beek, J.; Eason, C.T.; Glen, A.S.; Godwin, J.; Gould, F.; Holmes, N.D.; Howald, G.R.; Madden, F.M.; Ponder, J.B.; ...Baxter, G.S. 2015: The next generation of rodent eradications: innovative technologies and tools to improve species specificity and increase their feasibility on islands. *Biological Conservation 185*: 47–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.10.016
- Campbell, L.J.; Hammond, S.A.; Price, S.J.; Sharma, M.D.; Garner, T.W.J.; Birol, I.; Helbing, C.C.; Wilfert, L.; Griffiths, A.G.F. 2018: A novel approach to wildlife transcriptomics provides evidence of disease-mediated differential expression and changes to the microbiome of amphibian populations. *Molecular Ecology 27(6)*: 1413–1427. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.14528
- Campbell, N.R.; Harmon, S.A.; Narum, S.R. 2015: Genotyping-in-Thousands by sequencing (GT-seq): a cost effective SNP genotyping method based on custom amplicon sequencing. *Molecular Ecology Resources 15(4)*: 855–867. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12357
- Caron, N.R.; Chongo, M.; Hudson, M.; Arbour, L.; Wasserman, W.W.; Robertson, S.; Correard, S.; Wilcox, P. 2020: Indigenous genomic databases: pragmatic considerations and cultural contexts. *Frontiers in Public Health 8*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.00111</u>
- Carraro, L.; Hartikainen, H.; Jokela, J.; Bertuzzo, E.; Rinaldo, A. 2018: Estimating species distribution and abundance in river networks using environmental DNA. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 115(46)*: 11724-11729. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1813843115
- Carroll, E.L.; Bruford, M.W.; DeWoody, J.A.; Leroy, G.; Strand, A.; Waits, L.; Wang, J. 2018: Genetic and genomic monitoring with minimally invasive sampling methods. *Evolutionary Applications* 11(7): 1094–1119. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12600
- Carroll, E.L.; Gallego, R.; Sewell, M.A.; Zeldis, J.; Ranjard, L.; Ross, H.A.; Tooman, L.K.; O'Rorke, R.; Newcomb, R.D.; Constantine, R. 2019: Multi-locus DNA metabarcoding of zooplankton communities and scat reveal trophic interactions of a generalist predator. *Scientific Reports* 9, 281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-36478-x</u>
- Carroll, S. R.; Garba, I.; Figueroa-Rodríguez, O.L.; Holbrook, J.; Lovett, R.; Materechera, S.; Parsons, M.; Raseroka, K.; Rodriguez-Lonebear, D.; Rowe, R.; ... Hudson, M. 2020: The CARE Principles for Indigenous data governance. *Data Science Journal 19(1)*: 43. https://doi.org/10.5334/dsj-2020-043
- Carroll, S.R.; Herczog, E.; Hudson, M.; Russell, K.; Stall, S. 2021: Operationalizing the CARE and FAIR Principles for Indigenous data futures. *Scientific Data* 8(1): 108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-021-00892-0</u>
- Carthey, A.J.R.; Blumstein, D.T.; Gallagher, R.V.; Tetu, S.G.; Gillings, M.R. 2020: Conserving the holobiont. Functional Ecology 34(4): 764–776. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13504
- Castro, I.; Mason, K.M.; Armstrong, D.P.; Lambert, D.M. 2004: Effect of extra-pair paternity on effective population size in a reintroduced population of the endangered hihi, and potential for behavioural management. *Conservation Genetics* 5(3): 381-393. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:COGE.0000031146.51681.b0

- Catanach, A.; Crowhurst, R.; Deng, C.; David, C.; Bernatchez, L.; Wellenreuther, M. 2019: The genomic pool of standing structural variation outnumbers single nucleotide polymorphism by threefold in the marine teleost *Chrysophrys auratus. Molecular Ecology 28*(6): 1210–1223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15051</u>
- Cayuela, H.; Rougemont, Q.; Laporte, M.; Mérot, C.; Normandeau, E.; Dorant, Y.; Tørresen, O.K.; Hoff, S.N.K.; Jentoft, S.; Sirois, P.; ... Bernatchez, L. 2020: Shared ancestral polymorphisms and chromosomal rearrangements as potential drivers of local adaptation in a marine fish. *Molecular Ecology 29(13)*: 2379–2398. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15499
- Champer, S.E.; Oakes, N.;, Sharma, R.; García-Díaz, P.; Champer, J.; Messer, P.W. 2021: Modeling CRISPR gene drives for suppression of invasive rodents using a supervised machine learning framework. *PLOS Computational Biology* 17(12): e1009660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1009660</u>
- Chapple, D.G.; Birkett, A.; Miller, K.A.; Daugherty, C.H.; Gleeson, D.M. 2012: Phylogeography of the endangered Otago skink, *Oligosoma otagense*: population structure, hybridisation and genetic diversity in captive populations. *PLoS ONE* 7(4): e34599. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034599
- Cheng, Y.; Fox, S.; Pemberton, D.; Hogg, C.; Papenfuss, A.T.; Belov, K. 2015: The Tasmanian devil microbiome implications for conservation and management. *Microbiome* 3, 76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-015-0143-0</u>
- Cheng, H.; Jarvis, E.D.; Fedrigo, O.; Koepfli, K.-P.; Urban, L.; Gemmell, N.J.; Li, H. 2022: Haplotype-resolved assembly of diploid genomes without parental data. *Nature Biotechnology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-022-01261-x</u>
- Chiang, C.; Scott, A.J.; Davis, J.R.; Tsang, E.K.; Li, X.; Kim, Y.; Hadzic, T.; Damani, F.N.; Ganel, L.; Montgomery, S.B.; ... Hall, I.M. 2017: The impact of structural variation on human gene expression. *Nature Genetics* 49(5): 692–699. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3834
- Chong, R.; Grueber, C.E.; Fox, S.; Wise, P.; Barrs, V.R.; Hogg, C.J.; Belov, K. 2019: Looking like the locals Gut microbiome changes post-release in an endangered species. *Animal Microbiome 1*, 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42523-019-0012-4
- Cisternas, J.; Wehi, P.; Haupokia, N.; Hughes, F.; Hughes, M.; Germano, J.; Longnecker, N.; Bishop, P. 2019: 'Get together, work together, write together': a novel framework for conservation of New Zealand frogs. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology* 43(3): 3392. <u>https://doi.org/10.20417/nzjecol.43.32</u>
- Clare, E.L.; Economou, C.K.; Bennett, F.J.; Dyer, C.E.; Adams, K.; McRobie, B.; Drinkwater, R.; Littlefair, J.E. 2022: Measuring biodiversity from DNA in the air. *Current Biology 32(3)*: 693–700.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.11.064
- Clare, E.L.; Economou, C.K.; Faulkes, C.G.; Gilbert, J.D.; Bennett, F.; Drinkwater, R.; Littlefair, J.E. 2021: eDNAir: proof of concept that animal DNA can be collected from air sampling. *PeerJ 9*: e11030. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.11030
- Claw, K.G.; Anderson, M.Z.; Begay, R.L.; Tsosie, K.S.; Fox, K.; Garrison, N.A. 2018: A framework for enhancing ethical genomic research with Indigenous communities. *Nature Communications 9*, 2957. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05188-3
- Collier-Robinson, L.; Rayne, A.; Rupene, M.; Thoms, C.; Steeves, T. 2019: Embedding indigenous principles in genomic research of culturally significant species: a conservation genomics case study. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology* 43(3): 3389 https://doi.org/10.20417/nzjecol.43.36
- Colston-Nepali, L.; Tigano, A.; Boyle, B.; Friesen, V. 2019: Hybridization does not currently pose conservation concerns to murres in the Atlantic. *Conservation Genetics* 20(6): 1465–1470. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-019-01223-y
- Connon, R.E.; Jeffries, K.M.; Komoroske, L.M.; Todgham, A.E.; Fangue, N.A. 2018: The utility of transcriptomics in fish conservation. *Journal of Experimental Biology 221(2)*: jeb148833. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.148833
- Corfe-Tan, W.; Ganley, A.; Lear, G.; Dickie, I. 2019 (May 15): *Biological Heritage eDNA Virtual Hub* [Presentation]. eResearch NZ. <u>https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.8066810.v1</u>
- Costa-Silva, J.; Domingues, D.; Lopes, F.M. 2017: RNA-Seq differential expression analysis: an extended review and a software tool. *PLoS ONE 12(12)*: e0190152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190152</u>
- Cubrinovska, I.; Massaro, M.; Hale, M.L. 2016: Assessment of hybridisation between the endangered Chatham Island black robin (*Petroica traversi*) and the Chatham Island tomtit (*Petroica macrocephala chathamensis*). *Conservation Genetics* 17(2): 259–265. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-015-0778-1
- Cunning, R.; Baker, A.C. 2020: Thermotolerant coral symbionts modulate heat stress-responsive genes in their hosts. Molecular Ecology 29(15): 2940–2950. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15526</u>

- Davidson, G.L.; Raulo, A.; Knowles, S.C.L. 2020: Identifying microbiome-mediated behaviour in wild vertebrates. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution 35(11)*: 972–980. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2020.06.014</u>
- de Villemereuil, P.; Rutschmann, A.; Lee, K.D.; Ewen, J.G.; Brekke, P.; Santure, A.W. 2019: Little adaptive potential in a threatened passerine bird. *Current Biology 29*(5): 889–894. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.01.072</u>
- Deakin, J.E.; Potter, S.; O'Neill, R.; Ruiz-Herrera, A.; Cioffi, M.B.; Eldridge, M.D.B.; Fukui, K.; Marshall Graves, J.A.; Griffin, D.; Grutzner, F.; ... Ezaz, T. 2019: Chromosomics: bridging the gap between genomes and chromosomes. *Genes 10(8)*, 627 <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10080627</u>
- Dearden, P.K.; Gemmell, N.J.; Mercier, O.R.; Lester, P.J.; Scott, M.J.; Newcomb, R.D.; Buckley, T.R.; Jacobs, J.M.E.; Goldson, S.G.; Penman, D.R. 2018: The potential for the use of gene drives for pest control in New Zealand: a perspective. *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand 48(4)*: 225–244. https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758.2017.1385030
- DeBiasse, M.B.; Kelly, M.W. 2016: Plastic and evolved responses to global change: what can we learn from comparative transcriptomics? *Journal of Heredity* 107(1): 71–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esv073</u>
- Deiner, K.; Altermatt, F. 2014: Transport distance of invertebrate environmental DNA in a natural river. *PLoS ONE 9(2)*: e88786. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088786</u>
- Derežanin, L.; Blažytė, A.; Dobrynin, P.; Duchêne, D.A.; Grau, J.H.; Jeon, S.; Kliver, S.; Koepfli, K.-P.; Meneghini, D.; Preick, M.; ... Förster, D.W. 2022: Multiple types of genomic variation contribute to adaptive traits in the mustelid subfamily Guloninae. *Molecular Ecology* 31(10): 2898–2919. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.16443</u>
- DOC (Department of Conservation) 2020: Te Mana o Te Taiao: Aotearoa New Zealand Biodiversity Strategy 2020.
- Dickie, I.A.; Boyer, S.; Buckley, H.L.; Duncan, R.P.; Gardner, P.P.; Hogg, I.D.; Holdaway, R.J.; Lear, G.; Makiola, A.; Morales, S.E.; ... Weaver, L. 2018: Towards robust and repeatable sampling methods in eDNA-based studies. *Molecular Ecology Resources 18(5)*: 940–952. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12907</u>
- Dierickx, E.G.; Shultz, A.J.; Sato, F.; Hiraoka, T.; Edwards, S.V. 2015: Morphological and genomic comparisons of Hawaiian and Japanese Black-footed Albatrosses (*Phoebastria nigripes*) using double digest RADseq: implications for conservation. *Evolutionary Applications 8(7)*: 662–678. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12274</u>
- Dincă, V.; Lee, K.M.; Vila, R.; Mutanen, M. 2019: The conundrum of species delimitation: a genomic perspective on a mitogenetically super-variable butterfly. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 286*: 20191311. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.1311
- Doi, H.; Uchii, K.; Takahara, T.; Matsuhashi, S.; Yamanaka, H.; Minamoto, T. 2015: Use of droplet digital PCR for estimation of fish abundance and biomass in environmental DNA surveys. *PLoS ONE 10*(3): e0122763. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0122763
- Dominguez Del Angel, V.; Hjerde, E.; Sterck, L.; Capella-Gutierrez, S.; Notredame, C.; Vinnere Pettersson, O.; Amselem, J.; Bouri, L.; Bocs, S.; Klopp, C.; ... Lantz, H. 2018: Ten steps to get started in genome assembly and annotation. *F1000Research 7*: 148 https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.13598.1
- Dorant, Y.; Cayuela, H.; Wellband, K.; Laporte, M.; Rougemont, Q.; Mérot, C.; Normandeau, E.; Rochette, R.; Bernatchez, L. 2020: Copy number variants outperform SNPs to reveal genotype-temperature association in a marine species. *Molecular Ecology 29(24)*: 4765–4782. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15565</u>
- Doudna, J.A.; Charpentier, E. 2014: The new frontier of genome engineering with CRISPR-Cas9. *Science* 346(6213). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1258096
- Duntsch, L.; Brekke, P.; Ewen, J.G.; Santure, A.W. 2021: Who are you? A framework to identify and report genetic sample mix-ups. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 00: 1– 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13575</u>
- Duntsch, L.; Tomotani, B.M.; de Villemereuil, P.; Brekke, P.; Lee, K.D.; Ewen, J.G.; Santure, A.W. 2020: Polygenic basis for adaptive morphological variation in a threatened Aotearoa | New Zealand bird, the hihi (*Notiomystis cincta*). *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 287(1933)*: 20200948. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2020.0948</u>
- Dussex, N.; Rawlence, N.J.; Robertson, B.C. 2015: Ancient and contemporary DNA reveal a pre-human decline but no population bottleneck associated with recent human persecution in the kea (*Nestor notabilis*). *PLoS ONE 10(2*): e0118522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118522</u>
- Dussex, N.; van der Valk, T.; Morales, H.E.; Wheat, C.W.; Díez-del-Molino, D.; von Seth, J.; Foster, Y.; Kutschera, V.E.; Guschanski, K.; Rhie, A.; ... Dalén, L. 2021: Population genomics of the critically endangered kākāpō. *Cell Genomics 1(1)*: 100002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xgen.2021.100002</u>

- Dussex, N.; Von Seth, J.; Robertson, B.C.; Dalén, L. 2018: Full mitogenomes in the critically endangered kākāpō reveal major post-glacial and anthropogenic effects on neutral genetic diversity. *Genes* 9(4): 220. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/genes9040220</u>
- Eichmiller, J.J.; Bajer, P.G.; Sorensen, P.W. 2014: The relationship between the distribution of common carp and their environmental DNA in a small lake. *PLoS ONE 9(11)*: e112611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0112611</u>
- Ekblom, R.; Wolf, J.B.W. 2014: A field guide to whole-genome sequencing, assembly and annotation. *Evolutionary Applications* 7(9): 1026–1042. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12178</u>
- Ellenberg, U.; Mattern, T.; Seddon, P.J. 2013: Heart rate responses provide an objective evaluation of human disturbance stimuli in breeding birds. *Conservation Physiology 1*, cot013. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/cot013</u>
- Ellenberg, U.; Setiawan, A.N.; Cree, A.; Houston, D.M.; Seddon, P.J. 2007: Elevated hormonal stress response and reduced reproductive output in yellow-eyed penguins exposed to unregulated tourism. *General and Comparative Endocrinology 152(1)*: 54–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2007.02.022
- Emami-Khoyi, A.; Hartley, D.A.; Paterson, A.M.; Boren, L.J.; Cruickshank, R.H.; Ross, J.G.; Murphy, E.C.; Else, T.-A. 2016: Identifying prey items from New Zealand fur seal (*Arctocephalus forsteri*) faeces using massive parallel sequencing. *Conservation Genetics Resources* 8(3): 343–352. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12686-016-0560-9
- Epstein, B.; Jones, M.; Hamede, R.; Hendricks, S.; McCallum, H.; Murchison, E.P.; Schönfeld, B.; Wiench, C.; Hohenlohe, P.; Storfer, A. 2016: Rapid evolutionary response to a transmissible cancer in Tasmanian devils. *Nature Communications* 7, 12684. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12684</u>
- Esvelt, K.M.; Smidler, A.L.; Catteruccia, F.; Church, G.M. 2014: Concerning RNA-guided gene drives for the alteration of wild populations. *ELife* 3, e03401. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.03401</u>
- Evans, N.T.; Shirey, P.D.; Wieringa, J.G.; Mahon, A.R.; Lamberti, G.A. 2017: Comparative cost and effort of fish distribution detection via environmental DNA analysis and electrofishing. *Fisheries 42(2)*: 90–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/03632415.2017.1276329
- Ewen, J.G.; Armstrong, D.P.; Lambert, D.M. 1999: Floater males gain reproductive success through extrapair fertilizations in the stitchbird. *Animal Behaviour* 58(2): 321–328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/anbe.1999.1150</u>
- Farrell, L.E.; Roman, J.; Sunquist, M.E. 2000: Dietary separation of sympatric carnivores identified by molecular analysis of scats. *Molecular Ecology 9(10)*: 1583–1590. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-294x.2000.01037.x
- Faust, L.J.; Bergstrom, Y.; Thompson, S.; Bier, L. 2019: PopLink (2.5) [Computer software]. Lincoln Park Zoo.
- Feng, S.; Stiller, J.; Deng, Y.; Armstrong, J.; Fang, Q.; Reeve, A.H.; Xie, D.; Chen, G.; Guo, C.; Faircloth, B.C.; ... Zhang, G. 2020: Dense sampling of bird diversity increases power of comparative genomics. *Nature* 587(7833): 252–257. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2873-9
- Ferreira, J.M.: Burnham-Curtis, M.: Schunck, F.: Rocha, M.: Miyaki, C.Y.; Silveira, L.F.; Melo, M.; Morgante, J.S. 2015: Development of novel polymorphic microsatellite markers for four bird species exploited by the illegal wildlife trade in Brazil. Conservation Genetics Resources 7(2): 435-436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12686-014-0389-z</u>
- Field, K.A.; Johnson, J.S.; Lilley, T.M.; Reeder, S.M.; Rogers, E.J.; Behr, M.J.; Reeder, D.M. 2015: The white-nose syndrome transcriptome: activation of anti-fungal host responses in wing tissue of hibernating Little Brown Myotis. *PLoS Pathogens* 11(10): e1005168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1005168</u>
- Flanagan, S.P.; Jones, A.G. 2019: The future of parentage analysis: from microsatellites to SNPs and beyond. Molecular Ecology 28(3): 544-567. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.14988</u>
- Forsdick, N.J.; Cubrinovska, I.; Massaro, M.; Hale, M.L. 2017: Genetic diversity and population differentiation within and between island populations of two sympatric *Petroica* robins, the Chatham Island black robin and tomtit. *Conservation Genetics* 18(2): 275–285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-016-0899-1</u>
- Forsdick, N.J.; Cubrinovska, I.; Massaro, M.; Hale, M.L. 2021: Microsatellite genotyping detects extra-pair paternity in the Chatham Island Black Robin, a highly inbred, socially monogamous passerine. *Emu - Austral Ornithology 121(1-2)*: 68–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01584197.2020.1812406</u>
- Forsdick, N.J.; Martini, D.; Brown, L.; Cross, H.B.; Maloney, R.F.; Steeves, T.E.; Knapp, M. 2021: Genomic sequencing confirms absence of introgression despite past hybridisation between a critically endangered bird and its common congener. *Global Ecology and Conservation 28*: e01681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2021.e01681
- Frankham, R. 2008: Genetic adaptation to captivity in species conservation programs. *Molecular Ecology 17(1)*: 325–333. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2007.03399.x

- Frasier, T.R.; Hamilton, P.K.; Brown, M.W.; Kraus, S.D.; White, B.N. 2009: Sources and rates of errors in methods of individual identification for North Atlantic right whales. *Journal of Mammalogy* 90(5): 1246–1255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1644/08-MAMM-A-328.1</u>
- Furlan, E.M.; Davis, J.; Duncan, R.P. 2020: Identifying error and accurately interpreting environmental DNA metabarcoding results: a case study to detect vertebrates at arid zone waterholes. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 20(5): 1259–1276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13170</u>
- Galla, S.J.; Brown, L.; Couch-Lewis, Y.; Cubrinovska, I.; Eason, D.; Gooley, R.M.; Hamilton, J.A.; Heath, J.A.; Hauser, S.S.; Latch, E.K.; ... Steeves, T.E. 2022: The relevance of pedigrees in the conservation genomics era. *Molecular Ecology* 31: 41–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.16192</u>
- Galla, S.J.; Buckley, T.R.; Elshire, R.; Hale, M.L.; Knapp, M.; Mccallum, J.; Moraga, R.; Santure, A.W.; Wilcox, P.; Steeves, T.E. 2016: Building strong relationships between conservation genetics and primary industry leads to mutually beneficial genomic advances. *Molecular Ecology 25(21)*: 5267–5281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13837</u>
- Galla, S.J.; Forsdick, N.J.; Brown, L.; Hoeppner, M.; Knapp, M.; Maloney, R.F.; Moraga, R.; Santure, A.W.; Steeves, T.E. 2019: Reference genomes from distantly related species can be used for discovery of single nucleotide polymorphisms to inform conservation management. *Genes* 10(1): 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10010009
- Galla, S.J.; Moraga, R.; Brown, L.; Cleland, S.; Hoeppner, M.P.; Maloney, R.F.; Richardson, A.; Slater, L.; Santure, A.W.; Steeves, T.E. 2020: A comparison of pedigree, genetic and genomic estimates of relatedness for informing pairing decisions in two critically endangered birds: implications for conservation breeding programmes worldwide. *Evolutionary Applications* 13(5): 991–1008. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12916
- Gao, L.; Gonda, I.; Sun, H.; Ma, Q.; Bao, K.; Tieman, D.M.; Burzynski-Chang, E.A.; Fish, T.L.; Stromberg, K.A.; Sacks, G.L.; ... Fei, Z. 2019: The tomato pan-genome uncovers new genes and a rare allele regulating fruit flavor. *Nature Genetics* 51(6): 1044–1051. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-019-0410-2</u>
- Garrigue, C.; Dodemont, R.; Steel, D.; Baker, C.S. 2004: Organismal and 'gametic' capture-recapture using microsatellite genotyping confirm low abundance and reproductive autonomy of humpback whales on the wintering grounds of New Caledonia. *Marine Ecology Progress Series 274*: 251–262. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps274251
- Gemmell, N.J.; Rutherford, K.; Prost, S.; Tollis, M.; Winter, D.; Macey, J.R.; Adelson, D.L.; Suh, A.; Bertozzi, T.; Grau, J.H.; ... Stone, C. 2020: The tuatara genome reveals ancient features of amniote evolution. *Nature* 584(7821): 403-409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2561-9</u>
- Genome 10K Community of Scientists 2009: Genome 10K: a proposal to obtain whole-genome sequence for 10,000 vertebrate species. *The Journal of Heredity* 100(6): 659–674. https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esp086
- Genovesi, P.; Simberloff, D. 2020: 'De-extinction' in conservation: assessing risks of releasing resurrected species. Journal for Nature Conservation 56: 125838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnc.2020.125838</u>
- Gentile, G.; Ciambotta, M.; Tapia, W. 2013: Illegal wildlife trade in Galápagos: molecular tools help the taxonomic identification of confiscated iguanas and guide their rapid repatriation. *Conservation Genetics Resources* 5(3): 867–872. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12686-013-9915-7
- Ghurye, J.; Rhie, A.; Walenz, B. P.; Schmitt, A.; Selvaraj, S.; Pop, M.; Phillippy, A.M.; Koren, S. 2019: Integrating Hi-C links with assembly graphs for chromosome-scale assembly. *PLoS Computational Biology* 15(8): e1007273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007273</u>
- Gilbert, J.A.; Blaser, M.J.; Caporaso, J.G.; Jansson, J.K.; Lynch, S.V.; Knight, R. 2018: Current understanding of the human microbiome. *Nature Medicine 24(4)*: 392–400. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4517
- Goldberg, C.S.; Turner, C.R.; Deiner, K.; Klymus, K.E.; Thomsen, P.F.; Murphy, M.A.; Spear, S.F.; McKee, A.; Oyler-McCance, S.J.; Cornman, R.S.; ... Taberlet, P. 2016: Critical considerations for the application of environmental DNA methods to detect aquatic species. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 7(11): 1299–1307. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12595
- Golicz, A.A.; Bayer, P.E.; Bhalla, P.L.; Batley, J.; Edwards, D. 2020: Pangenomics comes of age: from bacteria to plant and animal applications. *Trends in Genetics* 36(2): 132–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2019.11.006
- Goodrich, J.K.; Di Rienzi, S.C.; Poole, A.C.; Koren, O.; Walters, W A.; Caporaso, J.G.; Knight, R.; Ley, R.E. 2014: Conducting a microbiome study. *Cell 158(2)*: 250–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.06.037</u>
- Goutte, A.; Molbert, N.; Guérin, S.; Richoux, R.; Rocher, V. 2020: Monitoring freshwater fish communities in large rivers using environmental DNA metabarcoding and a long-term electrofishing survey. *Journal of Fish Biology* 97(2): 444-452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.14383</u>

- Grealy, A.; Phillips, M.; Miller, G.; Gilbert, M.T.P.; Rouillard, J.-M.; Lambert, D.; Bunce, M.; Haile, J. 2017: Eggshell palaeogenomics: palaeognath evolutionary history revealed through ancient nuclear and mitochondrial DNA from Madagascan elephant bird (*Aepyornis* sp.) eggshell. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 109*: 151-163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2017.01.005
- Gregorič, M.; Kutnjak, D.; Bačnik, K.; Gostinčar, C.; Pecman, A.; Ravnikar, M.; Kuntner, M. 2022: Spider webs as eDNA samplers: biodiversity assessment across the tree of life. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 00: 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13629
- Gros-Balthazard, M.; Battesti, V.; Ivorra, S.; Paradis, L.; Aberlenc, F.; Zango, O.; Zehdi-Azouzi, S.; Moussouni, S.; Naqvi, S. A.; Newton, C.; Terral, J.-F. 2020: On the necessity of combining ethnobotany and genetics to assess agrobiodiversity and its evolution in crops: a case study on date palms (*Phoenix dactylifera* L.) in Siwa Oasis, Egypt. *Evolutionary Applications 13(8)*: 1818–1840. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12930
- Grueber, C.E.; Jamieson, I.G. 2008: Quantifying and managing the loss of genetic variation in a free-ranging population of takahe through the use of pedigrees. *Conservation Genetics* 9(3): 645–651. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-007-9390-3
- Grueber, C.E.; Knafler, G.J.; King, T.M.; Senior, A.M.; Grosser, S.; Robertson, B.; Weston, K.A.; Brekke, P.; Harris, C.L.W.; Jamieson, I.G. 2015: Toll-like receptor diversity in 10 threatened bird species: relationship with microsatellite heterozygosity. *Conservation Genetics 16(3)*: 595–611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-014-0685-x</u>
- Grueber, C.E.; Reid-Wainscoat, E.E.; Fox, S.; Belov, K.; Shier, D.M.; Hogg, C.J.; Pemberton, D. 2017: Increasing generations in captivity is associated with increased vulnerability of Tasmanian devils to vehicle strike following release to the wild. *Scientific Reports* 7(1): 2161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-02273-3</u>
- Hall, E.M.; Crespi, E.J.; Goldberg, C.S.; Brunner, J.L. 2016: Evaluating environmental DNA-based quantification of ranavirus infection in wood frog populations. *Molecular Ecology Resources 16(2)*: 423–433. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12461</u>
- Hammond, A.M.; Galizi, R. 2017: Gene drives to fight malaria: current state and future directions. *Pathogens and Global Health 111(8)*: 412–423. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20477724.2018.1438880</u>
- Hammond, A.; Galizi, R.; Kyrou, K.; Simoni, A.; Siniscalchi, C.; Katsanos, D.; Gribble, M.; Baker, D.; Marois, E.; Russell, S.; ... Nolan, T. 2016: A CRISPR-Cas9 gene drive system targeting female reproduction in the malaria mosquito vector Anopheles gambiae. Nature Biotechnology 34(1): 78–83. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3439
- Hamner, R.M.; Constantine, R.; Mattlin, R.; Waples, R.; Baker, C.S. 2017: Genotype-based estimates of local abundance and effective population size for Hector's dolphins. *Biological Conservation 211*: 150–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.02.044
- Hamner, R.M.; Constantine, R.; Oremus, M.; Stanley, M.; Brown, P.; Baker, C.S. 2014a: Long-range movement by Hector's dolphins provides potential genetic enhancement for critically endangered Maui's dolphin. *Marine Mammal Science* 30(1): 139–153. https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12026
- Hamner, R.M.; Wade, P.; Oremus, M.; Stanley, M.; Brown, P.; Constantine, R.; Baker, C.S. (2014b). Critically low abundance and limits to human-related mortality for the Maui's dolphin. *Endangered Species Research 26(1)*: 87–92. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00621
- Hance, T.; van Baaren, J.; Vernon, P.; Boivin, G. 2007: Impact of extreme temperatures on parasitoids in a climate change perspective. *Annual Review of Entomology 52(1)*: 107–126. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ento.52.110405.091333
- Handsley-Davis, M.; Kowal, E.; Russell, L.; Weyrich, L.S. 2021: Researchers using environmental DNA must engage ethically with Indigenous communities. *Nature Ecology & Evolution 5*: 146–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-01351-6</u>
- Harmsworth, G.R.; Awatere, S. 2013: Indigenous Māori knowledge and perspectives of ecosystems. Pp. 274–286 in *Ecosystem services in New Zealand conditions and trends*. Manaaki Whenua Press.
- Harris, B.L.; Johnson, D.L. 2010: Genomic predictions for New Zealand dairy bulls and integration with national genetic evaluation. *Journal of Dairy Science* 93(3): 1243–1252. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2009-2619
- Heber, S.; Varsani, A.; Kuhn, S.; Girg, A.; Kempenaers, B.; Briskie, J. 2013: The genetic rescue of two bottlenecked South Island robin populations using translocations of inbred donors. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 280(1752)*. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2012.2228
- Hedrick, P.W. 2001: Conservation genetics: where are we now? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution 16(11)*: 629–636. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(01)02282-0

- Henson, L.; Balkenhol, N.; Gustas, R.; Adams, M.; Walkus, J.; Housty, W.; Stronen, A.; Moody, J.; Service, C.; Reece, D.; ... Darimont, C. 2021: Convergent geographic patterns between grizzly bear population genetic structure and Indigenous language groups in coastal British Columbia, Canada. *Ecology and Society 26(3)*: 7 <u>https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-12443-260307</u>
- Hoelzel, A.R.; Bruford, M.W.; Fleischer, R.C. 2019: Conservation of adaptive potential and functional diversity. *Conservation Genetics*, 20(1): 1-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-019-01151-x</u>
- Hofman, C.A.; Rick, T.C. 2018: Ancient biological invasions and island ecosystems: tracking translocations of wild plants and animals. *Journal of Archaeological Research 26(1)*: 65–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10814-017-9105-3</u>
- Hofreiter, M.; Serre, D.; Poinar, H.N.; Kuch, M.; Pääbo, S. 2001: Ancient DNA. *Nature Reviews Genetics 2(5)*: 353–359. https://doi.org/10.1038/35072071
- Hogg, C.J.; Grueber, C.E.; Pemberton, D.; Fox, S.; Lee, A.V.; Ivy, J.A.; Belov, K. 2017: 'Devil Tools & Tech': a synergy of conservation research and management practice. *Conservation Letters* 10(1): 133–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12221</u>
- Hogg, C.J.; Ottewell, K.; Latch, P.; Rossetto, M.; Biggs, J.; Gilbert, A.; Richmond, S.; Belov, K. 2022: Threatened Species Initiative: empowering conservation action using genomic resources. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences 119(4): e2115643118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2115643118
- Hogg, C.J.; Wright, B.; Morris, K.M.; Lee, A.V.; Ivy, J.A.; Grueber, C.E.; Belov, K. 2019: Founder relationships and conservation management: empirical kinships reveal the effect on breeding programmes when founders are assumed to be unrelated. *Animal Conservation 22(4)*: 348–361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12463</u>
- Huang, K.; Andrew, R.L.; Owens, G.L.; Ostevik, K.L.; Rieseberg, L.H. 2020a: Multiple chromosomal inversions contribute to adaptive divergence of a dune sunflower ecotype. *Molecular Ecology* 9(14): 2535–2549. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15428
- Huang, S.; Haiminen, N.; Carrieri, A.-P.; Hu, R.; Jiang, L.; Parida, L.; Russell, B.; Allaband, C.; Zarrinpar, A.; Vázquez-Baeza, Y.; ... Xu, Z.Z. 2020b: Human skin, oral, and gut microbiomes predict chronological age. MSystems 5(1): e00630-19 <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00630-19</u>
- Hubert, J.N.; Zerjal, T.; Hospital, F. 2018: Cancer- and behavior-related genes are targeted by selection in the Tasmanian devil (*Sarcophilus harrisii*). *PLoS ONE 13(8*): e0201838. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201838
- Hudson, M.; Garrison, N.A.; Sterling, R.; Caron, N.R.; Fox, K.; Yracheta, J.; Anderson, J.; Wilcox, P.; Arbour, L.; Brown, A.; ... Carroll, S.R. 2020. Rights, interests and expectations: indigenous perspectives on unrestricted access to genomic data. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 21: 377–384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-020-0228-x</u>
- Hudson, M.; Mead, A.T.P.; Chagné, D.; Roskruge, N.; Morrison, S.; Wilcox, P.L.; Allan, A.C. 2019: Indigenous perspectives and gene editing in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology* 7: 70. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2019.00070
- Hudson, M.; Thompson, A.; Wilcox, P.; Mika, J.; Battershill, C.; Stott, M.; Brooks, R.T.; Warbrick, L. 2021: Te Nohonga Kaitiaki Guidelines for genomic research on taonga species. Te Kotahi Research Institute, University of Waikato. Retrieved April 13, 2022, from <u>https://www.genomics-aotearoa.org.nz/sites/default/files/2022-02/</u> <u>Te%20Nohonga%20Kaitiaki%20Guidelines%20for%20genomic%20research%20on%20taonga%20species%20</u> <u>%28with%20background%29.pdf</u>
- Hunter, D.C.; Pemberton, J.M.; Pilkington, J.G.; Morrissey, M.B. 2019: Pedigree-based estimation of reproductive value. *Journal of Heredity 110(4)*: 433-444. https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esz033
- Huynh, L.Y.; Maney, D.L.; Thomas, J.W. 2011: Chromosome-wide linkage disequilibrium caused by an inversion polymorphism in the white-throated sparrow (*Zonotrichia albicollis*). *Heredity 106(4)*: 537–546. https://doi.org/10.1038/hdy.2010.85
- Iacona, G.; Maloney, R.F.; Chadès, I.; Bennett, J.R.; Seddon, P.J.; Possingham, H.P. 2017: Prioritizing revived species: what are the conservation management implications of de-extinction? *Functional Ecology* 31(5): 1041–1048. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12720</u>
- Inwood, S.; McLaughlin, G.; Buckley, T.; Cox, M.; Handley, K.; Steeves, T.; Strabala, T.; McDougal, R.; Dearden, P. 2020: Opportunities for modern genetic technologies to maintain and enhance Aotearoa New Zealand's bioheritage. *New Zealand Journal of Ecology* 44(2): 3413. https://doi.org/10.20417/nzjecol.44.22
- Ito, T.; Mizobata, H.; Yoshitake, K.; Kinoshita, S.; Asakawa, S. 2022: MitoSearch: construction of fish species composition database with environmental DNA using public databases. *BioRxiv (p. 2022.03.09.483700)*. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.03.09.483700

- IUCN/SSC 2016: IUCN SSC guiding principles on de-extinction for conservation benefit. Version 1.0. IUCN Species Survival Commission. <u>https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/documents/Rep-2016-009.pdf</u>
- Iversen, L.L.; Kielgast, J.; Sand-Jensen, K. 2015: Monitoring of animal abundance by environmental DNA an increasingly obscure perspective: a reply to Klymus et al. 2015. *Biological Conservation C(192)*: 479–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2015.09.024
- Ivy, J.A.; Lacy, R.C. 2012: A comparison of strategies for selecting breeding pairs to maximize genetic diversity retention in managed populations. *The Journal of Heredity 103(2)*: 186–196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esr129</u>
- Jane, S.F.; Wilcox, T.M.; McKelvey, K.S.; Young, M.K.; Schwartz, M.K.; Lowe, W.H.; Letcher, B.H.; Whiteley, A.R. 2015: Distance, flow and PCR inhibition: eDNA dynamics in two headwater streams. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 15(1): 216–227. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12285
- Jarman, S.N.; Berry, O.; Bunce, M. 2018: The value of environmental DNA biobanking for long-term biomonitoring. Nature Ecology & Evolution 2(8): 1192–1193. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-018-0614-3
- Jarvis, R.M.; Borrelle, S.B.; Forsdick, N.J.; Pérez-Hämmerle, K.-V.; Dubois, N.S.; Griffin, S.R.; Recalde-Salas, A.; Buschke, F.; Rose, D.C.; Archibald, C.L.; ... Prohaska, B.K. 2020: Navigating spaces between conservation research and practice: are we making progress? *Ecological Solutions and Evidence 1(2)*, e12028. https://doi.org/10.1002/2688-8319.12028
- Jeunen, G.-J.; Lamare, M.D.; Knapp, M.; Spencer, H.G.; Taylor, H.R.; Stat, M.; Bunce, M.; Gemmell, N.J. 2020: Water stratification in the marine biome restricts vertical environmental DNA (eDNA) signal dispersal. *Environmental DNA 2(1)*: 99–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.49</u>
- Jinek, M.; Chylinski, K.; Fonfara, I.; Hauer, M.; Doudna, J.A.; Charpentier, E. 2012: A programmable dual RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. *Science 337(6096)*: 816–821. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1225829
- Johnson, J.A.; Altwegg, R.; Evans, D.M.; Ewen, J.G.; Gordon, I.J.; Pettorelli, N.; Young, J. K. 2016: Is there a future for genome-editing technologies in conservation? *Animal Conservation 19(2)*: 97-101. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12273
- Johnson, M.D.; Cox, R.D.; Barnes, M.A. 2019: The detection of a non-anemophilous plant species using airborne eDNA. *PLoS ONE 14(11)*: e0225262. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0225262
- Jones, C. 2012: Ko Aotearoa Tēnei: a report into claims concerning New Zealand law and policy affecting Māori culture and identity. 2012 February Māori LR 1-20, Victoria University of Wellington Legal Research Paper No. 69/2020. <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=2402050</u>
- Kadykalo, A.N.; Buxton, R.T.; Morrison, P.; Anderson, C.M.; Bickerton, H.; Francis, C.M.; Smith, A.C.; Fahrig, L. 2021: Bridging research and practice in conservation. *Conservation Biology* 35(6): 1725–1737. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13732</u>
- Kamiya, T.; O'Dwyer, K.; Westerdahl, H.; Senior, A.; Nakagawa, S. 2014: A quantitative review of MHC-based mating preference: the role of diversity and dissimilarity. *Molecular Ecology* 23(21): 5151–5163. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12934
- Kardos, M.; Shafer, A.B.A. 2018: The peril of gene-targeted conservation. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 33(11): 827–839. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2018.08.011
- Karstens, L.; Asquith, M.; Davin, S.; Fair, D.; Gregory, W.T.; Wolfe, A.J.; Braun, J.; McWeeney, S. 2019: Controlling for contaminants in low-biomass 16S rRNA gene sequencing experiments. *MSystems* 4(4): e00290-19 <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00290-19</u>
- Kelly, M. 2019: Adaptation to climate change through genetic accommodation and assimilation of plastic phenotypes. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 374(1768),* 20180176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2018.0176</u>
- Kijas, J.W.; Porto-Neto, L.; Dominik, S.; Reverter, A.; Bunch, R.; McCulloch, R. Hayes, B.J.; Brauning, R.; McEwan, J. 2014: Linkage disequilibrium over short physical distances measured in sheep using a high-density SNP chip. *Anima Genetics* 45(5): 754–757. https://doi.org/10.1111/age.12197
- Kim, K.-W.; Bennison, C.; Hemmings, N.; Brookes, L.; Hurley, L.L.; Griffith, S.C.; Burke, T.; Birkhead, T.R.; Slate, J. 2017: A sex-linked supergene controls sperm morphology and swimming speed in a songbird. *Nature Ecology* & Evolution 1(8): 1168–1176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0235-2</u>

- Kirk, N.; Kannemeyer, R.; Greenaway, A.; MacDonald, E.; Stronge, D. 2020: Understanding attitudes on new technologies to manage invasive species. *Pacific Conservation Biology 26(1)*: 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1071/PC18080
- Kleinman-Ruiz, D.; Martínez-Cruz, B.; Soriano, L.; Lucena-Perez, M.; Cruz, F.; Villanueva, B.; Fernández, J.; Godoy, J.A. 2017: Novel efficient genome-wide SNP panels for the conservation of the highly endangered Iberian lynx. BMC Genomics 18, 556. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-017-3946-5</u>
- Klymus, K.E.; Richter, C.A.; Chapman, D.C.; Paukert, C. 2015: Quantification of eDNA shedding rates from invasive bighead carp *Hypophthalmichthys nobilis* and silver carp *Hypophthalmichthys molitrix*. *Biological Conservation 183*: 77-84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.11.020
- Knapp, M.; Clarke, A.C.; Horsburgh, K.A.; Matisoo-Smith, E.A. 2012a: Setting the stage building and working in an ancient DNA laboratory. *Annals of Anatomy* 194(1): 3–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aanat.2011.03.008
- Knapp, M.; Horsburgh, K.A.; Prost, S.; Stanton, J.-A.; Buckley, H.R.; Walter, R.K.; Matisoo-Smith, E A. 2012b: Complete mitochondrial DNA genome sequences from the first New Zealanders. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences 109(45): 18350–18354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1209896109</u>
- Knief, U.; Forstmeier, W.; Pei, Y.; Ihle, M.; Wang, D.; Martin, K.; Opatová, P.; Albrechtová, J.; Wittig, M.; Franke, A.; ... Kempenaers, B. 2017: A sex-chromosome inversion causes strong overdominance for sperm traits that affect siring success. *Nature Ecology & Evolution 1(8)*: 1177–1184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0236-1</u>
- Knight, R.; Vrbanac, A.; Taylor, B.C.; Aksenov, A.; Callewaert, C.; Debelius, J.; Gonzalez, A.; Kosciolek, T.; McCall, L.-I.; McDonald, D.; ... Dorrestein, P.C. 2018: Best practices for analysing microbiomes. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 16(7): 410-422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0029-9</u>
- Koepfli, K.-P.; Paten, B.; O'Brien, S.J. 2015: The Genome 10K Project: a way forward. Annual Review of Animal Biosciences 3(1): 57–111. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-animal-090414-014900
- Kohn, M.H.; Murphy, W.J.; Ostrander, E.A.; Wayne, R.K. 2006: Genomics and conservation genetics. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 21(11): 629–637. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.08.001</u>
- Koia, J.H.; Shepherd, P. 2020: The potential of anti-diabetic rākau rongoā (Māori herbal medicine) to treat type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) mate huka: a review. *Frontiers in Pharmacology 11*, 937. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.00935</u>
- Koskella, B.; Bergelson, J. 2020: The study of host-microbiome (co)evolution across levels of selection. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 375(1808),* 20190604. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0604</u>
- Kulkarni, A.; Anderson, A.G.; Merullo, D.P.; Konopka, G. 2019: Beyond bulk: a review of single cell transcriptomics methodologies and applications. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology 58*: 129–136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2019.03.001</u>
- Küpper, C.; Stocks, M.; Risse, J.E.; dos Remedios, N.; Farrell, L.L.; McRae, S.B.; Morgan, T.C.; Karlionova, N.; Pinchuk, P.; Verkuil, Y.I.; ... Burke, T. 2016: A supergene determines highly divergent male reproductive morphs in the ruff. Nature Genetics 48(1): 79–83. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3443
- Lacoursière-Roussel, A.; Côté, G.; Leclerc, V.; Bernatchez, L. 2016: Quantifying relative fish abundance with eDNA: a promising tool for fisheries management. *Journal of Applied Ecology 53(4)*: 1148–1157. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12598
- Lacy, R.C. 2000: Structure of the VORTEX Simulation Model for Population Viability Analysis. *Ecological Bulletins 48*: 191–203.
- Lacy, R.C. 2009: Stopping evolution. Pp. 58-81 in Amato, G.; DeSalle, R.; Ryder, O.A.; Rosenbaum, H.C. (Eds): Conservation genetics in the age of genomics. Columbia University Press. 264 p.
- Lacy, R.C.; Ballou, J.D.; Pollak, J.P. 2012: PMx: software package for demographic and genetic analysis and management of pedigreed populations. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 3(2): 433-437. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2011.00148.x
- Lado, S.; Elbers, J.P.; Doskocil, A.; Scaglione, D.; Trucchi, E.; Banabazi, M.H.; Almathen, F.; Saitou, N.; Ciani, E.; Burger, P.A. 2020: Genome-wide diversity and global migration patterns in dromedaries follow ancient caravan routes. *Communications Biology* 3(1): 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-020-1098-7
- Lam, E.T.; Hastie, A.; Lin, C; Ehrlich, D.; Das, S.K.; Austin, M.D.; Deshpande, P.; Cao, H.; Nagarajan, N.; Xiao, M.; Kwok, P.-Y. 2012: Genome mapping on nanochannel arrays for structural variation analysis and sequence assembly. *Nature Biotechnology* 30(8): 771–776. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2303

- Lamichhaney, S.; Fan, G.; Widemo, F.; Gunnarsson, U.; Thalmann, D.S.; Hoeppner, M.P.; Kerje, S.; Gustafson, U.; Shi, C.; Zhang, H.; ... Andersson, L. 2016: Structural genomic changes underlie alternative reproductive strategies in the ruff (*Philomachus pugnax*). *Nature Genetics* 48(1): 84–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3430</u>
- Laramie, M.B.; Pilliod, D.S.; Goldberg, C.S. 2015: Characterizing the distribution of an endangered salmonid using environmental DNA analysis. *Biological Conservation* 183: 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.11.025
- Laroche, O.; Wood, S.A.; Tremblay, L.A.; Ellis, J.I.; Lear, G.; Pochon, X. 2018: A cross-taxa study using environmental DNA/RNA metabarcoding to measure biological impacts of offshore oil and gas drilling and production operations. *Marine Pollution Bulletin 127*: 97–107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.11.042</u>
- Latch, E.K. 2020: Integrating genomics into conservation management. *Molecular Ecology Resources 20(6)*: 1455–1457. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13188
- Latham, A.D.M.; Latham, M.C.; Cieraad, E.; Tompkins, D.M.; Warburton, B. 2015: Climate change turns up the heat on vertebrate pest control. *Biological Invasions* 17(10): 2821–2829. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-015-0931-2</u>
- Lavretsky, P.; DaCosta, J.M.; Sorenson, M.D.; McCracken, K.G.; Peters, J.L. 2019: DdRAD-seq data reveal significant genome-wide population structure and divergent genomic regions that distinguish the mallard and close relatives in North America. *Molecular Ecology 28(10)*: 2594–2609. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15091
- Le Duc, D.; Renaud, G.; Krishnan, A.; Almén, M.S.; Huynen, L.; Prohaska, S.J.; Ongyerth, M.; Bitarello, B.D.; Schiöth, H.B.; Hofreiter, M.; ... Schöneberg, T. 2015: Kiwi genome provides insights into evolution of a nocturnal lifestyle. *Genome Biology 16(1)*: 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0711-4
- Leigh, D.M.; Lischer, H.E.L.; Grossen, C.; Keller, L.F. 2018: Batch effects in a multiyear sequencing study: false biological trends due to changes in read lengths. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 18(4): 778–788. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12779
- Lemopoulos, A.; Prokkola, J.M.; Uusi-Heikkilä, S.; Vasemägi, A.; Huusko, A.; Hyvärinen, P.; Koljonen, M.-L.; Koskiniemi, J.; Vainikka, A. 2019: Comparing RADseq and microsatellites for estimating genetic diversity and relatedness implications for brown trout conservation. *Ecology and Evolution 9(4)*: 2106–2120. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4905
- Leonard, J.A. 2008: Ancient DNA applications for wildlife conservation. *Molecular Ecology 17(19)*: 4186–4196. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2008.03891.x
- Leon-Quinto, T.; Simon, M.A.; Cadenas, R.; Jones, J.; Martinez-Hernandez, F.J.; Moreno, J. M.; Vargas, A.; Martinez, F.; Soria, B. 2009: Developing biological resource banks as a supporting tool for wildlife reproduction and conservation: the Iberian lynx bank as a model for other endangered species. *Animal Reproduction Science 112(3)*: 347–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anireprosci.2008.05.070
- Leroy, G.; Carroll, E.L.; Bruford, M.W.; DeWoody, J.A.; Strand, A.; Waits, L.; Wang, J. 2018: Next-generation metrics for monitoring genetic erosion within populations of conservation concern. *Evolutionary Applications 11(7)*: 1066–1083. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12564</u>
- Leroy, T.; Louvet, J.-M.; Lalanne, C.; Provost, G.L.; Labadie, K.; Aury, J.-M.; Delzon, S.; Plomion, C.; Kremer, A. 2020: Adaptive introgression as a driver of local adaptation to climate in European white oaks. *New Phytologist* 226(4): 1171–1182. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16095
- Lewin, H.A.; Robinson, G.E., Kress, W.J.; Baker, W.J.; Coddington, J.; Crandall, K. A.; Durbin, R.; Edwards, S.V.; Forest, F.; Gilbert, M.T.P.; ... Zhang, G. 2018: Earth BioGenome Project: sequencing life for the future of life. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 115(17)*: 4325–4333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1720115115</u>
- Lieberman-Aiden, E.; Berkum, N.L. van; Williams, L.; Imakaev, M.; Ragoczy, T.; Telling, A.; Amit, I.; Lajoie, B.R.; Sabo, P.J.; Dorschner, M.O.; ... Dekker, J. 2009: Comprehensive mapping of long-range interactions reveals folding principles of the human genome. *Science* 326(5950): 289–293. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1181369
- Liggins, L.; Hudson, M.; Anderson, J. 2021: Creating space for Indigenous perspectives on access and benefit-sharing: encouraging researcher use of the Local Contexts Notices. *Molecular Ecology* 30(11): 2477–2482. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15918</u>
- Lillie, M.; Grueber, C.E.; Sutton, J.T.; Howitt, R.; Bishop, P.J.; Gleeson, D.; Belov, K. 2015: Selection on MHC class II supertypes in the New Zealand endemic Hochstetter's frog. *BMC Evolutionary Biology 15(1)*: 63. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-015-0342-0
- Liu, Y.; Du, H.; Li, P.; Shen, Y.; Peng, H.; Liu, S.; Zhou, G.-A.; Zhang, H.; Liu, Z.; Shi, M.; ... Tian, Z. 2020: Pan-genome of wild and cultivated soybeans. *Cell 182(1)*: 162–176.e13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.05.023</u>

- Lodge, D.M.; Turner, C.R.; Jerde, C.L.; Barnes, M.A.; Chadderton, L.; Egan, S.P.; Feder, J.L.; Mahon, A.R.; Pfrender, M.E. 2012: Conservation in a cup of water: estimating biodiversity and population abundance from environmental DNA. *Molecular Ecology 21(11)*: 2555–2558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05600.x</u>
- Lopez-Maestre, H.; Brinza, L.; Marchet, C.; Kielbassa, J.; Bastien, S.; Boutigny, M.; Monnin, D.; Filali, A.E.; Carareto, C.M.; Vieira, C.; ... Lacroix, V. 2016: SNP calling from RNA-seq data without a reference genome: identification, quantification, differential analysis and impact on the protein sequence. *Nucleic Acids Research 44(19)*: e148-e148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw655</u>
- Lugg, W.H.; Griffiths, J.; Rooyen, A.R. van; Weeks, A.R.; Tingley, R. 2018: Optimal survey designs for environmental DNA sampling. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 9(4): 1049–1059. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12951</u>
- Lynggaard, C.; Bertelsen, M.F.; Jensen, C.V.; Johnson, M.S.; Frøslev, T.G.; Olsen, M.T.; Bohmann, K. 2022: Airborne environmental DNA for terrestrial vertebrate community monitoring. *Current Biology 32(3)*: 701–707.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.12.014
- Mable, B.K. 2019: Conservation of adaptive potential and functional diversity: integrating old and new approaches. *Conservation Genetics 20(1)*: 89-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-018-1129-9</u>
- MacDonald, E.A.; Balanovic, J.; Edwards, E.D.; Abrahamse, W.; Frame, B.; Greenaway, A.; Kannemeyer, R.; Kirk, N.; Medvecky, F.; Milfont, T.L.; ... Tompkins, D.M. 2020: Public opinion towards gene drive as a pest control approach for biodiversity conservation and the association of underlying worldviews. *Environmental Communication* 14(7): 904-918. https://doi.org/10.1080/17524032.2019.1702568
- Macher, J.-N.; Vivancos, A.; Piggott, J.J.; Centeno, F.C.; Matthaei, C.D.; Leese, F. 2018: Comparison of environmental DNA and bulk-sample metabarcoding using highly degenerate cytochrome c oxidase I primers. *Molecular Ecology Resources 18(6)*: 1456–1468. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12940</u>
- Mali, P.; Esvelt, K.M.; Church, G.M. 2013: Cas9 as a versatile tool for engineering biology. *Nature Methods 10(10*): 957–963. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2649
- Marandel, F.; Charrier, G.; Lamy, J.-B.; Cam, S.L.; Lorance, P.; Trenkel, V.M. 2020: Estimating effective population size using RADseq: effects of SNP selection and sample size. *Ecology and Evolution 10(4)*: 1929–1937. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6016
- Marsden, C.D.; Verberkmoes, H.; Thomas, R.; Wayne, R.K.; Mable, B.K. 2013: Pedigrees, MHC and microsatellites: an integrated approach for genetic management of captive African wild dogs (*Lycaon pictus*). *Conservation Genetics* 14(1): 171–183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-012-0440-0
- Martini, D.; Dussex, N.; Robertson, B.C.; Gemmell, N.J.; Knapp, M. 2021: Evolution of the 'world's only alpine parrot': genomic adaptation or phenotypic plasticity, behaviour and ecology? *Molecular Ecology 30(23)*: 6370–6386. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15978
- Mazza, V.; Dammhahn, M.; Lösche, E.; Eccard, J.A. 2020: Small mammals in the big city: behavioural adjustments of non-commensal rodents to urban environments. *Global Change Biology 26(11)*: 6326–6337. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15304
- Mc Cartney, A.M.; Anderson, J.; Liggins, L.; Hudson, M.L.; Anderson, M.Z.; Te Aika, B.; Geary, J.; Cook-Deegan, R.; Patel, H.R.; Phillippy, A.M. 2022: Balancing openness with Indigenous data sovereignty: An opportunity to leave no one behind in the journey to sequence all of life. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 119(4)*: e2115860119. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2115860119
- McClelland, P.J. 2002: Eradication of Pacific rats (*Rattus exulans*) from Whenua Hou Nature Reserve (Codfish Island), Putauhinu and Rarotoka Islands, New Zealand. Pp. 173–181 in Veitch, C.R.; Clout, M.N. (Eds): *Turning the tide: the eradication of invasive species*. IUCN.
- McLaren, M.R.; Callahan, B.J. 2020: Pathogen resistance may be the principal evolutionary advantage provided by the microbiome. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 375(1808)*, 20190592. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0592
- McTavish, E.J.; Hillis, D.M. 2015: How do SNP ascertainment schemes and population demographics affect inferences about population history? *BMC Genomics 16*, 266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-1469-5</u>
- Memmott, J.; Craze, P.G.; Waser, N.M.; Price, M.V. 2007: Global warming and the disruption of plant-pollinator interactions. *Ecology Letters* 10(8): 710-717. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01061.x
- Merkes, C.M.; McCalla, S.G.; Jensen, N.R.; Gaikowski, M.P.; Amberg, J.J. 2014: Persistence of DNA in carcasses, slime and avian feces may affect interpretation of environmental DNA data. *PLoS ONE 9(11)*: e113346. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0113346

- Miller, H.C.; Lambert, D.M. 2004: Genetic drift outweighs balancing selection in shaping post-bottleneck major histocompatibility complex variation in New Zealand robins (Petroicidae). *Molecular Ecology 13(12)*: 3709–3721. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2004.02368.x
- Miller, A.K.; Timoshevskaya, N.; Smith, J.J.; Gillum, J.; Sharif, S.; Clarke, S.; Baker, C.; Kitson, J.; Gemmell, N.J.; Alexander, A. 2022: Population genomics of New Zealand pouched lamprey (kanakana; piharau; *Geotria australis*). *Journal of Heredity*, esac014. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esac014</u>
- Mischler, C.; Veale, A.; Van Stijn, T.; Brauning, R.; McEwan, J.C.; Maloney, R.F.; Robertson, B.C. 2018: Population connectivity and traces of mitochondrial introgression in New Zealand black-billed gulls (*Larus bulleri*). *Genes* 9(11), 544. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/genes9110544</u>
- Morin, P.A.; Alexander, A.; Blaxter, M.; Caballero, S.; Fedrigo, O.; Fontaine, M.C.; Foote, A.D.; Kuraku, S.; Maloney, B.; McCarthy, M.L.; ... Jarvis, E.D. 2020: Building genomic infrastructure: sequencing platinum-standard referencequality genomes of all cetacean species. *Marine Mammal Science 36(4)*: 1356–1366. https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12721
- Moritz, C.; Agudo, R. 2013: The future of species under climate change: resilience or decline? *Science 341(6145)*: 504-508. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1237190</u>
- Morris J.J. 2018: What is the hologenome concept of evolution? *F1000Research* 7(*F1000 Faculty Rev*):1664. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.14385.1
- Mueller, E.A.; Wisnoski, N.I.; Peralta, A.L.; Lennon, J.T. 2020: Microbial rescue effects: how microbiomes can save hosts from extinction. *Functional Ecology 34(10)*: 2055–2064. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13493</u>
- Muha, T.P.; Rodríguez-Rey, M.; Rolla, M.; Tricarico, E. 2017: Using environmental DNA to improve species distribution models for freshwater invaders. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 5*: 158. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2017.00158
- Murray, D.C.; Bunce, M.; Cannell, B.L.; Oliver, R.; Houston, J.; White, N.E.; Barrero, R A.; Bellgard, M.I.; Haile, J. 2011: DNA-based faecal dietary analysis: a comparison of qPCR and high throughput sequencing approaches. PLoS ONE 6(10): e25776. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0025776</u>
- Narum, S.R.; Campbell, N.R. 2015: Transcriptomic response to heat stress among ecologically divergent populations of redband trout. *BMC Genomics 16(1)*, 103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-015-1246-5</u>
- Nelson, N.J.; Briskie, J.V.; Constantine, R.; Monks, J.; Wallis, G.P.; Watts, C.; Wotton, D.M. 2019: The winners: species that have benefited from 30 years of conservation action. *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand 49(3)*: 281-300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758.2018.1518249</u>
- Nichols, R.V.; Cromsigt, J.P.G.M.; Spong, G. 2015: Using eDNA to experimentally test ungulate browsing preferences. SpringerPlus 4, 489. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-015-1285-z
- Nietlisbach, P.; Keller, L.F.; Camenisch, G.; Guillaume, F.; Arcese, P.; Reid, J.M.; Postma, E. 2017: Pedigree-based inbreeding coefficient explains more variation in fitness than heterozygosity at 160 microsatellites in a wild bird population. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 284(1850)*, 20162763. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2016.2763
- O'Donnell, K.; Sharrock, S. 2017: The contribution of botanic gardens to ex situ conservation through seed banking. *Plant Diversity 39(6)*: 373–378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pld.2017.11.005</u>
- O'Hara, R.; Tedone, E.; Ludlow, A.; Huang, E.; Arosio, B.; Mari, D.; Shay, J.W. 2019: Quantitative mitochondrial DNA copy number determination using droplet digital PCR with single-cell resolution. *Genome Research 29(11)*: 1878–1888. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.250480.119
- Olds, B.P.; Jerde, C.L.; Renshaw, M.A.; Li, Y.; Evans, N.T.; Turner, C.R.; Deiner, K.; Mahon, A.R.; Brueseke, M.A.; Shirey, P.D.; ... Lamberti, G.A. 2016: Estimating species richness using environmental DNA. *Ecology and Evolution 6(12)*: 4214–4226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2186</u>
- Oliphant, A.; Hawkes, M.K.N; Cridge, A.G.; Dearden, P.K. 2020: Transcriptomic characterisation of neuropeptides and their putative cognate G protein-coupled receptors during late embryo and stage-1 juvenile development of the Aotearoa-New Zealand crayfish, *Paranephrops zealandicus. General and Comparative Endocrinology 292*, 113443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2020.113443</u>
- Oostra, V.; Saastamoinen, M.; Zwaan, B.J.; Wheat, C.W. 2018: Strong phenotypic plasticity limits potential for evolutionary responses to climate change. *Nature Communications 9*, 1005. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03384-9

- Othman, N.; Haris, H.; Fatin, Z.; Najmuddin, M.F.; Sariyati, N.H.; Md-Zain, B.M.; Abdul-Latiff, M. a. B. 2021: A review on environmental DNA (eDNA) metabarcoding markers for wildlife monitoring research. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science 736(1)*: 012054. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/736/1/012054
- Overbeek, A.L.; Galla, S.J.; Cleland, S.; Thyne, C.; Maloney, R.F.; Steeves, T.E. 2020: Pedigree validation using genetic markers in an intensively-managed taonga species, the critically endangered kakī (*Himantopus novaezelandiae*). Notornis 67(4): 709–716.
- Overbeek, A.L.; Hauber, M.E.; Brown, E.; Cleland, S.; Maloney, R.F.; Steeves, T.E. 2017: Evidence for brood parasitism in a critically endangered Charadriiform with implications for conservation. *Journal of Ornithology 158*(1): 333–337. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-016-1375-x
- Paijmans, J.L.A.; Gilbert, M.T.P.; Hofreiter, M. 2013: Mitogenomic analyses from ancient DNA. *Molecular Phylogenetics* and Evolution 69(2): 404-416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2012.06.002</u>
- Palmer, S.; Dearden, P.K.; Mercier, O.R.; King-Hunt, A.; Lester, P.J. 2021: Gene drive and RNAi technologies: a biocultural review of next-generation tools for pest wasp management in New Zealand. *Journal of the Royal Society* of New Zealand. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758.2021.1985531</u>
- Palmer, S.; Mercier, O.R.; King-Hunt, A.; Palmer, S.; Mercier, O.R.; King-Hunt, A. 2020: Towards rangatiratanga in pest management? Māori perspectives and frameworks on novel biotechnologies in conservation. *Pacific Conservation Biology 27(4)*: 391-401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/PC20014</u>
- Parker, K.A.; Ewen, J.G.; Weiser, E.L.; Rayne, A.; Steeves, T.E.; Seddon, P.J.; Innes, J.; Adams, L.; Forsdick, N.; Maitland, M.; ... Armstrong, D.P. 2020: Conservation translocations of fauna in Aotearoa New Zealand: a review. *EcoEvoRxiv*. <u>https://doi.org/10.32942/osf.io/bdaxh</u>
- Parsons, K.M.; Everett, M.; Dahlheim, M.; Park, L. 2018: Water, water everywhere: environmental DNA can unlock population structure in elusive marine species. *Royal Society Open Science 5(8)*, 180537. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.180537
- Pedraza-Marrón, C.D.R.; Silva, R.; Deeds, J.; Van Belleghem, S.M.; Mastretta-Yanes, A.; Domínguez-Domínguez, O.; Rivero-Vega, R.A.; Lutackas, L.; Murie, D.; Parkyn, D.; ... Betancur-R, R. 2019: Genomics overrules mitochondrial DNA, siding with morphology on a controversial case of species delimitation. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 286(1900)*, 20182924. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.2924
- Pemberton, J.M. 2004: Measuring inbreeding depression in the wild: The old ways are the best. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution 19(12)*: 613–615. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2004.09.010</u>
- Pemberton, J.M. 2008: Wild pedigrees: the way forward. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 275(1635): 613-621. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2007.1531
- Perry, E.K.; Digby, A.; Taylor, M.W. 2017: The low-diversity fecal microbiota of the critically endangered kākāpō is robust to anthropogenic dietary and geographic influences. *Frontiers in Microbiology 8, 2033*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.02033
- Phelps, M.P.; Seeb, L.W.; Seeb, J.E. 2020: Transforming ecology and conservation biology through genome editing. Conservation Biology 34(1): 54–65. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13292
- Pochon, X.; Zaiko, A.; Fletcher, L.M.; Laroche, O.; Wood, S.A. 2017: Wanted dead or alive? Using metabarcoding of environmental DNA and RNA to distinguish living assemblages for biosecurity applications. *PLoS ONE 12(11)*: e0187636. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0187636
- Polfus, J.; Manseau, M.; Simmons, D.; Neyelle, M.; Bayha, W.; Andrew, F.; Andrew, L.; Klütsch, C.; Rice, K.; Wilson, P. 2016: Leghágots'enetę (learning together): the importance of Indigenous perspectives in the identification of biological variation. *Ecology and Society 21(2)*: 18. <u>https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08284-210218</u>
- Porter, T.M.; Hajibabaei, M. 2018: Over 2.5 million COI sequences in GenBank and growing. *PLoS ONE 13(9)*: e0200177. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200177
- Postler, T.S.; Ghosh, S. 2017: Understanding the holobiont: how microbial metabolites affect human health and shape the immune system. *Cell Metabolism 26(1)*: 110–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.05.008
- Potenski, C. 2020: Necessary voices. Nature Genetics 52(2): 135-135. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-020-0585-6
- Potter, S.; Deakin, J.E. 2018: Cytogenetics: an important inclusion in the conservation genetics toolbox. Pacific Conservation Biology 24(3): 280–288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/PC18016</u>
- Prowse, T.A.A.; Cassey, P.; Ross, J.V.; Pfitzner, C.; Wittmann, T.A.; Thomas, P. 2017: Dodging silver bullets: good CRISPR gene-drive design is critical for eradicating exotic vertebrates. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 284(1860),* 20170799. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.0799

- Ragot, R.; Villemur, R. 2022: eDNA profiling of mammals, birds, and fish of surface waters by mitochondrial metagenomics: application for source tracking of fecal contamination in surface waters. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* 194(2): 72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-021-09668-w</u>
- Ramón-Laca, A.; Gleeson, D.; Yockney, I.; Perry, M.; Nugent, G.; Forsyth, D.M. 2014: Reliable discrimination of 10 ungulate species using high resolution melting analysis of faecal DNA. *PLoS ONE 9(3)*: e92043. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0092043
- Randolph, J.; Bush, M.; Abramowitz, M.; Kleiman, D.; Montali, R.J. 1981: Surgical correction of familial diaphragmatic hernia of morgagni in the golden lion tamarin. *Journal of Pediatric Surgery 16(3)*: 396–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3468(81)80702-6
- Rawlence, N.J.; Collins, C.J.; Anderson, C.N.K.; Maxwell, J.J.; Smith, I.W.G.; Robertson, B.C.; Knapp, M.; Horsburgh, K.A.; Stanton, J.-A.L.; Scofield, R.P.; ... Waters, J.M. 2016: Human-mediated extirpation of the unique Chatham Islands sea lion and implications for the conservation management of remaining New Zealand sea lion populations. *Molecular Ecology 25(16)*: 3950–3961. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13726</u>
- Rayne, A.; Blair, S.; Dale, M.; Flack, B.; Hollows, J.; Moraga, R.; Parata, R.N.; Rupene, M.; Tamati-Elliffe, P.; Wehi, P.M.; ... Steeves, T.E. 2022: Weaving place-based knowledge for culturally significant species in the age of genomics: looking to the past to navigate the future. *Evolutionary Applications 15(5): 751–772*. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.13367
- Rayne, A.; Byrnes, G.; Collier-Robinson, L.; Hollows, J.; McIntosh, A.; Ramsden, M.; Rupene, M.; Tamati-Elliffe, P.; Thoms, C.; Steeves, T.E. 2020: Centring Indigenous knowledge systems to re-imagine conservation translocations. *People and Nature 2*(3): 512–526. https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.10126
- Reid, J.M.; Keller, L.F.; Marr, A.B.; Nietlisbach, P.; Sardell, R.J.; Arcese, P. 2014: Pedigree error due to extra-pair reproduction substantially biases estimates of inbreeding depression. *Evolution; International Journal of Organic Evolution 68*(3): 802-815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/evo.12305</u>
- Rexer-Huber, K.; Veale, A.J.; Catry, P.; Cherel, Y.; Dutoit, L.; Foster, Y.; McEwan, J.C.; Parker, G.C.; Phillips, R.A.; Ryan, P.G.; ... Robertson, B.C. 2019: Genomics detects population structure within and between ocean basins in a circumpolar seabird: the white-chinned petrel. *Molecular Ecology 28(20)*: 4552–4572. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15248
- Rick, K.; Ottewell, K.; Lohr, C.; Thavornkanlapachai, R.; Byrne, M.; Kennington, W.J. 2019: Population genomics of *Bettongia lesueur*: admixing increases genetic diversity with no evidence of outbreeding depression. *Genes 10(11)*, 851. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10110851</u>
- Riddell, E.A.; Roback, E.Y.; Wells, C.E.; Zamudio, K.R.; Sears, M.W. 2019: Thermal cues drive plasticity of desiccation resistance in montane salamanders with implications for climate change. *Nature Communications 10*, 4091. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11990-4</u>
- Riginos, C.; Crandall, E.D.; Liggins, L.; Gaither, M.R.; Ewing, R.B.; Meyer, C.; Andrews, K.R.; Euclide, P.T.; Titus, B.M.; Therkildsen, N.O.; ... Deck, J. 2020: Building a global genomics observatory: using GEOME (the Genomic Observatories Metadatabase) to expedite and improve deposition and retrieval of genetic data and metadata for biodiversity research. *Molecular Ecology Resources 20(6)*: 1458-1469. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13269
- Roger, F.; Ghanavi, H.R.; Danielsson, N.; Wahlberg, N.; Löndahl, J.; Pettersson, L.B.; Andersson, G.K.S.; Boke Olén, N.; Clough, Y. 2022: Airborne environmental DNA metabarcoding for the monitoring of terrestrial insects – a proof of concept from the field. *Environmental DNA* 00: 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.290</u>
- Rosenbaum, H.C.; Kershaw, F.; Mendez, M.; Pomilla, C.; Leslie, M.S.; Findlay, K.P.; Best, P.B.; Collins, T.; Vely, M.; Engel, M.H.; ... Baker, C.S. 2017: First circumglobal assessment of Southern Hemisphere humpback whale mitochondrial genetic variation and implications for management. *Endangered Species Research 32*: 551–567. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00822
- Rosenberg, E.; Zilber-Rosenberg, I. 2018: The hologenome concept of evolution after 10 years. *Microbiome* 6, 78. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0457-9
- Rosso, F.; Tagliapietra, V.; Albanese, D.; Pindo, M.; Baldacchino, F.; Arnoldi, D.; Donati, C.; Rizzoli, A. 2018: Reduced diversity of gut microbiota in two *Aedes* mosquitoes species in areas of recent invasion. *Scientific Reports 8*, 16091. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-34640-z
- Royal Society Te Apārangi 2019: Gene editing legal and regulatory implications. Royal Society Te Apārangi. https://www.royalsociety.org.nz/assets/Uploads/Gene-Editing-Legal-and-regulatory-implications-DIGITAL.pdf
- Rubinoff, D.; Holland, B.S. 2005: Between two extremes: Mitochondrial DNA is neither the panacea nor the nemesis of phylogenetic and taxonomic inference. *Systematic Biology* 54(6): 952–961. https://doi.org/10.1080/10635150500234674

- Rudnick, J.A.; Lacy, R.C. 2008: The impact of assumptions about founder relationships on the effectiveness of captive breeding strategies. *Conservation Genetics* 9(6): 1439–1450. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-007-9472-2
- Russell, J.C. 2014: A comparison of attitudes towards introduced wildlife in New Zealand in 1994 and 2012. Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand 44(4): 136–151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758.2014.944192</u>
- Russell, J.C.; Lecomte, V.; Dumont, Y.; Le Corre, M. 2009: Intraguild predation and mesopredator release effect on long-lived prey. *Ecological Modelling* 220(8): 1098–1104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2009.01.017</u>
- Ryder, O.A.; Feistner, A.T.C. 1995: Research in zoos: a growth area in conservation. *Biodiversity & Conservation 4(6)*: 671–677. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00222522
- Sandler, R. 2017: De-extinction: costs, benefits and ethics. *Nature Ecology & Evolution 1(4)*: 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0105
- Sandler, R. L.; Moses, L.; Wisely, S. M. 2021: An ethical analysis of cloning for genetic rescue: Case study of the black-footed ferret. *Biological Conservation 257*: 109118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2021.109118</u>
- Sarker, S.; Ghorashi, S.A.; Forwood, J.K.; Raidal, S.R. 2014: Rapid genotyping of beak and feather disease virus using high-resolution DNA melt curve analysis. *Journal of Virological Methods 208*: 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2014.07.031
- Sato, Y.; Miya, M.; Fukunaga, T.; Sado, T.; Iwasaki, W. 2018: MitoFish and MiFish pipeline: A mitochondrial genome database of fish with an analysis pipeline for environmental DNA metabarcoding. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 35(6): 1553-1555. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msy074
- Scarsbrook, L.; Verry, A.J.F.; Walton, K.; Hitchmough, R.A.; Rawlence, N.J. 2022: Ancient mitochondrial genomes recovered from small vertebrate bones through minimally destructive DNA extraction: phylogeography of the New Zealand gecko genus *Hoplodactylus*. *Molecular Ecology* 00: 1–0. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.16434</u>
- Schadewell, Y.; Adams, C.I.M. 2021: Forensics meets ecology environmental DNA offers new capabilities for marine ecosystem and fisheries research. *Frontiers in Marine Science 8*. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fmars.2021.668822</u>
- Schmidt, D.A.; Campbell, N.R.; Govindarajulu, P.; Larsen, K.W.; Russello, M.A. 2020: Genotyping-in-Thousands by sequencing (GT-seq) panel development and application to minimally invasive DNA samples to support studies in molecular ecology. *Molecular Ecology Resources 20(1)*: 114–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13090</u>
- Scott, A.D.; Zimin, A.V.; Puiu, D.; Workman, R.; Britton, M.; Zaman, S.; Caballero, M.; Read, A.C.; Bogdanove, A.J.; Burns, E.; ... Neale, D.B. 2020: A reference genome sequence for giant sequoia. G3: Genes, Genomes, Genetics 10(11): 3907–3919. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.120.401612
- Seddon, P.J. 2010: From reintroduction to assisted colonization: moving along the conservation translocation spectrum. *Restoration Ecology 18(6)*: 796–802. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2010.00724.x
- Seddon, P.J.; Moehrenschlager, A.; Ewen, J. 2014: Reintroducing resurrected species: selecting DeExtinction candidates. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution 29*(3): 140–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.01.007</u>
- Seebacher, F.; White, C.R.; Franklin, C.E. 2015: Physiological plasticity increases resilience of ectothermic animals to climate change. Nature Climate Change 5(1): 61-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2457</u>
- Shaffer, H.B.; Toffelmier, E.; Corbett-Detig, R.B.; Escalona, M.; Erickson, B.; Fiedler, P.; Gold, M.; Harrigan, R.J.; Hodges, S.; Luckau, T.K.; ... Wang, I.J. 2022: Landscape genomics to enable conservation actions: the California Conservation Genomics Project. *Journal of Heredity*, esac020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esac020</u>
- Shaw, J.L.A.; Clarke, L.J.; Wedderburn, S.D.; Barnes, T.C.; Weyrich, L.S.; Cooper, A. 2016: Comparison of environmental DNA metabarcoding and conventional fish survey methods in a river system. *Biological Conservation 197*: 131-138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.03.010</u>
- Shepherd, L.D.; Lambert, D.M. 2008: Ancient DNA and conservation: lessons from the endangered kiwi of New Zealand. Molecular Ecology 17(9): 2174–2184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2008.03749.x</u>
- Silva-Junior, O.B.; Faria, D.A.; Grattapaglia, D. 2015: A flexible multi-species genome-wide 60K SNP chip developed from pooled resequencing of 240 Eucalyptus tree genomes across 12 species. *New Phytologist 206(4)*: 1527–1540. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13322
- Snijders, A.M.; Langley, S.A.; Kim, Y.-M.; Brislawn, C.J.; Noecker, C.; Zink, E.M.; Fansler, S.J.; Casey, C.P.; Miller, D.R.; Huang, Y.; ... Mao, J.-H. 2017: Influence of early life exposure, host genetics and diet on the mouse gut microbiome and metabolome. *Nature Microbiology 2*, 16221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.221</u>

- Somero, G.N. 2010: The physiology of climate change: how potentials for acclimatization and genetic adaptation will determine 'winners' and 'losers.' *Journal of Experimental Biology 213(6)*: 912–920. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.037473
- Sommer, S. 2005: The importance of immune gene variability (MHC) in evolutionary ecology and conservation. *Frontiers in Zoology 2*, 16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-9994-2-16</u>
- Staley, Z.R.; Chuong, J.D.; Hill, S.J.; Grabuski, J.; Shokralla, S.; Hajibabaei, M.; Edge, T.A. 2018: Fecal source tracking and eDNA profiling in an urban creek following an extreme rain event. *Scientific Reports 8*, 14390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-32680-z</u>
- Stat, M.; John, J.; DiBattista, J.D.; Newman, S.J.; Bunce, M.; Harvey, E.S. 2019: Combined use of eDNA metabarcoding and video surveillance for the assessment of fish biodiversity. *Conservation Biology* 33(1): 196–205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13183</u>
- Steeves, T.E.; Johnson, J.A.; Hale, M.L. 2017: Maximising evolutionary potential in functional proxies for extinct species: a conservation genetic perspective on de-extinction. *Functional Ecology* 31(5): 1032–1040. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12843
- Steeves, T.E.; Maloney, R.F.; Hale, M.L.; Tylianakis, J.M.; Gemmell, N.J. 2010: Genetic analyses reveal hybridization but no hybrid swarm in one of the world's rarest birds. *Molecular Ecology* 19: 5090–5100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04895.x</u>
- Stepien, C.A.; Snyder, M.R.; Elz, A.E. 2019: Invasion genetics of the silver carp *Hypophthalmichthys molitrix* across North America: differentiation of fronts, introgression, and eDNA metabarcode detection. *PLoS ONE 14(3)*: e0203012. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203012
- Strand, D.A.; Johnsen, S.I.; Rusch, J.C.; Agersnap, S.; Larsen, W.B.; Knudsen, S.W.; Møller, P.R.; Vrålstad, T. 2019: Monitoring a Norwegian freshwater crayfish tragedy: eDNA snapshots of invasion, infection and extinction. *Journal of Applied Ecology 56(7)*: 1661–1673. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13404</u>
- Strand, J.; Thomsen, H.; Jensen, J. B.; Marcussen, C.; Nicolajsen, T.B.; Skriver, M.B.; Søgaard, I.M.; Ezaz, T.; Purup, S.; Callesen, H.; Pertoldi, C. 2020: Biobanking in amphibian and reptilian conservation and management: Opportunities and challenges. *Conservation Genetics Resources 12(4)*: 709–725. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12686-020-01142-y</u>
- Supple, M.A.; Shapiro, B. 2018: Conservation of biodiversity in the genomics era. *Genome Biology 19(1)*: 131–131. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-018-1520-3
- Sutton, J.T.; Robertson, B.C.; Jamieson, I.G. 2015: MHC variation reflects the bottleneck histories of New Zealand passerines. *Molecular Ecology* 24(2): 362–373. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13039
- Suzuki, T.A.; Martins, F.M.; Nachman, M.W. 2019: Altitudinal variation of the gut microbiota in wild house mice. *Molecular Ecology 28(9)*: 2378–2390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.14905</u>
- Taberlet, P.; Bonin, A.; Zinger, L.; Coissac, E. 2018: *Environmental DNA for biodiversity research and monitoring*. Oxford University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198767220.001.0001</u>
- Taberlet, P.; Coissac, E.; Hajibabaei, M.; Rieseberg, L.H. 2012: Environmental DNA. *Molecular Ecology 21(8)*: 1789–1793. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05542.x
- Taberlet, P.; Waits, L.P.; Luikart, G. 1999. Noninvasive genetic sampling: look before you leap. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution 14(8)*: 323–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(99)01637-7
- Taiuru, K. 2022: Tikanga Tawhito: Tikanga Hou Kaitiaki Guidelines for DNA Research, Storage and Seed Banks with Taonga Materials.

https://www.taiuru.maori.nz/guidelines-for-dna-research-storage-and-seed-banks-with-taonga-materials/

- Taylor, H.R. 2015: The use and abuse of genetic marker-based estimates of relatedness and inbreeding. *Ecology and Evolution 5(15)*: 3140–3150. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.1541
- Taylor, H.R.; Dussex, N.; van Heezik, Y. 2017a: Bridging the conservation genetics gap by identifying barriers to implementation for conservation practitioners. *Global Ecology and Conservation 10*: 231–242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2017.04.001</u>
- Taylor, H.R.; Dussex, N.; van Heezik, Y. 2017b: De-extinction needs consultation. *Nature Ecology & Evolution 1(1)*: 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0198
- Taylor, S.S.; Boessenkool, S.; Jamieson, I.G. 2008: Genetic monogamy in two long-lived New Zealand passerines. Journal of Avian Biology 39(5): 579–583. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0908-8857.2008.04331.x

- Teeling, E.C.; Vernes, S.C.; Dávalos, L.M.; Ray, D.A.; Gilbert, M.T.P.; Myers, E. and Bat1K Consortium 2018: Bat biology, genomes, and the Bat1K Project: to generate chromosome-level genomes for all living bat species. *Annual Review of Animal Biosciences* 6(1): 23-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-animal-022516-022811</u>
- Teixeira, J.C.; Huber, C.D. 2021: The inflated significance of neutral genetic diversity in conservation genetics. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 118(10)*: e2015096118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2015096118</u>
- Teo, A.S.M.; Verzotto, D.; Yao, F.; Nagarajan, N.; Hillmer, A.M. 2015: Single-molecule optical genome mapping of a human HapMap and a colorectal cancer cell line. *GigaScience* 4(1): 65. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13742-015-0106-1
- Teske, P.R.; Golla, T.R.; Sandoval-Castillo, J.; Emami-Khoyi, A.; van der Lingen, C.D.; von der Heyden, S.; Chiazzari, B.; Jansen van Vuuren, B.; Beheregaray, L.B. 2018: Mitochondrial DNA is unsuitable to test for isolation by distance. *Scientific Reports 8*, 8448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-25138-9</u>
- Tettelin, H.; Masignani, V.; Cieslewicz, M.J.; Donati, C.; Medini, D.; Ward, N.L.; Angiuoli, SV.; Crabtree, J.; Jones, A.L.; Durkin, A.S.; ... Fraser, C.M. 2005: Genome analysis of multiple pathogenic isolates of *Streptococcus agalactiae*: implications for the microbial "pan-genome". *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 102*(39): 13950–13955. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0506758102
- Thalinger, B.; Wolf, E.; Traugott, M.; Wanzenböck, J. 2019: Monitoring spawning migrations of potamodromous fish species via eDNA. *Scientific Reports 9*, 15388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-51398-0</u>
- Thrasher, D.J.; Butcher, B.G.; Campagna, L.; Webster, M.S.; Lovette, I.J. 2018: Double-digest RAD sequencing outperforms microsatellite loci at assigning paternity and estimating relatedness: a proof of concept in a highly promiscuous bird. *Molecular Ecology Resources 18(5)*: 953–965. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12771
- Toczydlowski, R.H.; Liggins, L.; Gaither, M.R.; Anderson, T.J.; Barton, R.L.; Berg, J.T.; Beskid, S.G.; Davis, B.; Delgado, A.; Farrell, E.; ... Crandall, E.D. 2021: Poor data stewardship will hinder global genetic diversity surveillance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 118(34)*: e2107934118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2107934118
- Todd, E.V.; Black, M.A.; Gemmell, N.J. 2016: The power and promise of RNA-seq in ecology and evolution. *Molecular Ecology 25(6)*: 1224-1241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13526</u>
- Tompkins, D.M.; Veltman, C.J. 2006: Unexpected consequences of vertebrate pest control: predictions from a four-species community model. *Ecological Applications 16(3)*: 1050–1061. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2006)016[1050:UCOVPC]2.0.CO;2
- Toro, M.A.; Villanueva, B.; Fernández, J. 2014: Genomics applied to management strategies in conservation programmes. *Livestock Science* 166: 48–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2014.04.020</u>
- Tracy, L.N.; Jamieson, I.G. 2011: Historic DNA reveals contemporary population structure results from anthropogenic effects, not pre-fragmentation patterns. *Conservation Genetics 12(2)*: 517–526. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-010-0158-9
- Trapnell, C.; Williams, B.A.; Pertea, G.; Mortazavi, A.; Kwan, G.; van Baren, M.J.; Salzberg, S.L.; Wold, B.J.; Pachter, L. 2010: Transcript assembly and quantification by RNA-Seq reveals unannotated transcripts and isoform switching during cell differentiation. *Nature Biotechnology* 28(5): 511–515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1621</u>
- Tsuji, S.; Shibata, N.; Sawada, H.; Ushio, M. 2020: Quantitative evaluation of intraspecific genetic diversity in a natural fish population using environmental DNA analysis. *Molecular Ecology Resources 20(5)*: 1323–1332. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.13200
- Ulahannan, N.; Pendleton, M.; Deshpande, A.; Schwenk, S.; Behr, J.M.; Dai, X.; Tyer, C.; Rughani, P.; Kudman, S.; Adney, E.; ... Imielinski, M. 2019: Nanopore sequencing of DNA concatemers reveals higher-order features of chromatin structure. *BioRxiv*, 833590. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/833590</u>
- Valdez, R.X.; Kuzma, J.; Cummings, C.L.; Nils Peterson, M. 2019: Anticipating risks, governance needs, and public perceptions of de-extinction. *Journal of Responsible Innovation* 6(2): 211–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23299460.2019.1591145</u>
- Van Cise, A.M.; Wade, P.R.; Goertz, C.E.C.; Burek-Huntington, K.; Parsons, K.M.; Clauss, T.; Hobbs, R.C.; Apprill, A. 2020: Skin microbiome of beluga whales: spatial, temporal, and health-related dynamics. *Animal Microbiome 2*, 39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s42523-020-00057-1</u>
- Vangay, P.; Johnson, A.J.; Ward, T.L.; Al-Ghalith, G.A.; Shields-Cutler, R.R.; Hillmann, B.M.; Lucas, S.K.; Beura, L.K.; Thompson, E.A.; Till, L.M.; ... Knights, D. 2018: US immigration westernizes the human gut microbiome. *Cell* 175(4): 962–972.e10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.10.029</u>
- Vasselon, V.; Bouchez, A.; Rimet, F.; Jacquet, S.; Trobajo, R.; Corniquel, M.; Tapolczai, K.; Domaizon, I. 2018: Avoiding quantification bias in metabarcoding: application of a cell biovolume correction factor in diatom molecular biomonitoring. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 9(4): 1060–1069. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12960

- Vendl, C.; Slavich, E.; Wemheuer, B.; Nelson, T.; Ferrari, B.; Thomas, T.; Rogers, T. 2020: Respiratory microbiota of humpback whales may be reduced in diversity and richness the longer they fast. *Scientific Reports 10*, 12645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69602-x</u>
- Verry, A.J.F.; Scarsbrook, L.; Scofield, R.P.; Tennyson, A.J.D.; Weston, K.A.; Robertson, B.C.; Rawlence, N.J. 2019: Who, where, what, wren? Using ancient DNA to examine the veracity of museum specimen data: a case study of the New Zealand rock wren (*Xenicus gilviventris*). Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 7, 496. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00496
- Videvall, E.; Cornwallis, C.K.; Palinauskas, V.; Valkiūnas, G.; Hellgren, O. 2015: The avian transcriptome response to malaria infection. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 32(5): 1255–1267. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msv016
- Voolstra, C.R.; Ziegler, M. 2020: Adapting with microbial help: microbiome flexibility facilitates rapid responses to environmental change. *BioEssays 42*, 2000004. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.202000004</u>
- Vorburger, C.; Perlman, S.J. 2018: The role of defensive symbionts in host-parasite coevolution. *Biological Reviews* 93(4): 1747–1764. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12417</u>
- Waite, D.W.; Eason, D.K.; Taylor, M.W. 2014: Influence of hand rearing and bird age on the fecal microbiota of the critically endangered kakapo. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology 80(15)*: 4650–4658. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00975-14</u>
- Walter, M.; Kukutai, T.; Carroll, S.R.; Rodriguez-Lonebear, D.; Kukutai, T.; Carroll, S.R.; Rodriguez-Lonebear, D. 2020: Indigenous Data Sovereignty and Policy. Routledge. 244 p. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429273957</u>
- Walters, C.; Pence, V. C. 2021: The unique role of seed banking and cryobiotechnologies in plant conservation. *Plants, People, Planet 3(1)*: 83–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ppp3.10121</u>
- Wang, Z.; Gerstein, M.; Snyder, M. 2009: RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 10(1): 57–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2484</u>
- Waterhouse, B.R.; Boyer, S.; Wratten, S.D. 2014: Pyrosequencing of prey DNA in faeces of carnivorous land snails to facilitate ecological restoration and relocation programmes. *Oecologia 175(2)*: 737–746. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-014-2933-7
- Wehi, P.; Brownstein, G.; Morgan-Richards, M. 2020a: Indigenous plant naming and experimentation reveal a plant-insect relationship in New Zealand forests. *Conservation Science and Practice 2(10)*, e282. https://doi.org/10.1111/csp2.282
- Wehi, P.M.; Whaanga, H.; Watene, K.; Steeves T.E. 2021: Mātauranga as knowledge, process and practice in Aotearoa New Zealand. Pp. 186–197 in: Thornton, T.F. & Bhagwat, S.A. (Eds): Handbook of indigenous environmental knowledge: global themes and practice. Routledge. 426 p.
- Weissensteiner, M.H.; Bunikis, I.; Catalán, A.; Francoijs, K.-J.; Knief, U.; Heim, W.; Peona, V.; Pophaly, S.D.; Sedlazeck, F.J.; Suh, A.; ... Wolf, J.B.W. 2020: Discovery and population genomics of structural variation in a songbird genus. *Nature Communications 11*, 3403. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17195-4</u>
- West, A.G.; Waite, D.W.; Deines, P.; Bourne, D.G.; Digby, A.; McKenzie, V.J.; Taylor, M.W. 2019: The microbiome in threatened species conservation. *Biological Conservation 229*: 85–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.11.016
- Wheatley, C.J.; Beale, C.M.; Bradbury, R.B.; Pearce-Higgins, J.W.; Critchlow, R.; Thomas, C.D. 2017: Climate change vulnerability for species – assessing the assessments. *Global Change Biology 23(9)*: 3704–3715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13759</u>
- Wilkinson, M. D.; Dumontier, M.; Aalbersberg, Jj. J.; Appleton, G.; Axton, M.; Baak, A.; Blomberg, N.; Boiten, J.-W.; da Silva Santos, L. B.; Bourne, P. E.; ... Mons, B. 2016: The FAIR Guiding Principles for scientific data management and stewardship. *Scientific Data* 3(1): 160018. https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2016.18
- Wilmshurst, J.M.; Moar, N.T.; Wood, J.R.; Bellingham, P.J.; Findlater, A.M.; Robinson, J.J.; Stone, C. 2014: Use of pollen and ancient DNA as conservation baselines for offshore islands in New Zealand. *Conservation Biology 28(1)*: 202–212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12150</u>
- Wirth, T.; Meyer, A.; Achtman, M. 2005: Deciphering host migrations and origins by means of their microbes. *Molecular Ecology* 14(11): 3289–3306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2005.02687.x</u>
- Wold, J.; Koepfli, K.-P.; Galla, S.J.; Eccles, D.; Hogg, C.J.; Le Lec, M.F.; Guhlin, J.; Santure, A.W.; Steeves, T.E. 2021: Expanding the conservation genomics toolbox: Incorporating structural variants to enhance genomic studies for species of conservation concern. *Molecular Ecology* 30(23): 5949–5965. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.16141</u>

- Wright, B.R.; Hogg, C.J.; McLennan, E.A.; Belov, K.; Grueber, C.E. 2021: Assessing evolutionary processes over time in a conservation breeding program: a combined approach using molecular data, simulations and pedigree analysis. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 30: 1011-1029. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-021-02128-4</u>
- Wright, S. 1922: Coefficients of inbreeding and relationship. *The American Naturalist* 56(645): 330–338. https://doi.org/10.1086/279872
- Wyse, S.V.; Dickie, J.B.; Willis, K.J. 2018: Seed banking not an option for many threatened plants. *Nature Plants* 4(11): 848-850. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41477-018-0298-3</u>
- Yandell, M.; Ence, D. 2012: A beginner's guide to eukaryotic genome annotation. *Nature Reviews Genetics 13(5)*: 329–342. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3174
- Yates, M.C.; Fraser, D.J.; Derry, A.M. 2019: Meta-analysis supports further refinement of eDNA for monitoring aquatic species-specific abundance in nature. *Environmental DNA 1(1)*: 5–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/edn3.7</u>
- Young, M.J.; Dutoit, L.; Robertson, F.; Heezik, Y. van; Seddon, P.J.; Robertson, B.C. 2020: Species in the faeces: DNA metabarcoding as a method to determine the diet of the endangered yellow-eyed penguin. *Wildlife Research* 47(6): 509–522. https://doi.org/10.1071/WR19246
- Yuan, Y.; Chung, C.Y.-L.; Chan, T.-F. 2020: Advances in optical mapping for genomic research. Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal 18: 2051–2062. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2020.07.018</u>
- Zhang, G.; Li, C.; Li, Q.; Li, B.; Larkin, D.M.; Lee, C.; Storz, J.F.; Antunes, A.; Greenwold, M.J.; Meredith, R.W.; ... Wang, J. 2014: Comparative genomics reveals insights into avian genome evolution and adaptation. *Science* 346(6215): 1311–1320. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1251385
- Zhang, Y.; Zhong, Y.; Hong, Y.; Xue, Y.; Li, D.; Zhou, C.; Liu, S. 2019: RAD-Seq data advance captive-based conservation of wild bactrian camels (*Camelus ferus*). *Conservation Genetics* 20(4): 817–824. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-019-01173-5